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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

Dear Shareholders, Stakeholders and Employees,

Fiscal year ended 31 March 2011 was the first full year of operations after the
acquisition of our forestry business. It was a year of continued transformation
for our group (“Group”) in a constantly changing environment. Continuing
from the year before, we managed our business with our eyes firmly fixed
on the goal to become a global leader in natural forest resources holding
company and delivering growth and increasing value for our shareholders.

ANOTHER RECORD YEAR DELIVERING 229%
GROWTH

In the fiscal year ended 31 March 2010, we attained very aggressive target of
overall profitability for the entire Group immediately after the acquisition of the
forestry business. Through the hard work and commitment of our people and
our partners, we broke record again delivering 229% growth in revenue and
24% in net profit after tax. However, | am most pleased to see an increase of
485% in operating income before tax and interest to HK$446 million for the
year ended 31 March 2011 from HK$76 million for the year before. Operating
income before tax excludes revaluation gain of our forest assets and other
non-cash items and is more representative of the direct results of the Group’s
operations.

CHINA’S DEMAND INCREASE STEADILY

Macro business environment for natural forestry and timber products was
generally positive especially for China, the largest timber consumption country
in the world and the main market for our products. Despite policies to keep
housing prices and speculations under control, and multiple increases in legal
reserve requirements for banks drying up liquidity, in 2010, China’s import of
sawn timber and logs recorded increases of 65% and 49%, respectively, in
value and in volume from a year before. Urbanization of population in China
will continue to drive demand for timber and other consumer products.
Nonetheless, we will continue to manage our business with great care to
ensure we are ready to respond to and profit from any market changes.
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Chairman’s Statement
EEHE

EXPANSION OF FOREST RESOURCES

In line with our corporate strategy and plan, we focused on expanding our
forest resources and diversifying our product mix in term of species. During
the year, our supply of forestry and timber products expanded beyond
Brazil to include Africa and North America through long-term partnership
and long-term management contracts. Formation of partnerships with forest
land owners, stakeholders or local government helps to decrease capital
investment requirement and increase return on equity. Since the beginning
of 2011, we embarked on an aggressive non-acquisitive expansion program
to increase our total reserve of forest resources and diversify our species
offerings.

In addition, with the diversification of our supply network, our reliance on
supplies from the hydropower project in Brazil significantly decreased.

Our acquisition strategy and methodology remain the same. We look
at potential targets that are operational, and can be income accretive
immediately upon acquisition, thereby minimizing potential dilution to
shareholders.

We will continue to innovate and use a combination of acquisition and long-
term partnerships to become a truly integrated, sustainable, one-stop solution
for our customers in timber resources.

RUSSIA

Russia, the largest exporter of timber to China and the world, remains one of
our key supply bases in our business model. Last year, we announced that
we were in discussion with interested parties to negotiate the disposal of our
Chita operations. The proposed disposal of the Chita operations is part of our
ongoing effort in upgrading our resources and putting our capital to better
yielding assets. We are, in general, evaluating other investment opportunities
in Siberia Russia. We are now nearing conclusion of the negotiation for the
disposal of the Chita operations. Disposal of this operations will free up our
resources to pursue other resources in Siberia.

COMPLETING OUR VALUE CHAIN IN CHINA

On 21 March 2011, we signed an acquisition agreement to purchase 100%
equity interest of Susfor-Oasis Timber (Zhongshan) Co. Ltd* in Zhongshan.
Susfor-Oasis Timber (Zhongshan) Co. Ltd* has three main business
segments, namely franchise network of wood flooring, wholesale timber
exchange market, and direct distribution of flooring and other timber products
to large scale property development projects in southern China. Zhongshan
together with its neighboring area, Shunde, is the largest solid wood furniture
and flooring manufacturing base in China. This acquisition complements our
strategy for China, strengthening and expanding our distribution network in
the biggest timber consuming market in the world.

* For identification purpose only
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

INTERNAL CHANGES

Internally, we saw the departure of our former Chief Executive Officer,
Mr LEUNG Chau Ping, Paul, from the board as executive director due to
personal reasons. However, he has remained as a non-executive director
while | became the Chairman of the board and the managing director of the
Group. Also, a number of advisory members and senior management with
extensive experiences in both timber and non-timber sectors were added to
our family. Going forward, we will continue to recruit and retain the best talent
available.

GROWTH BEYOND 2011

Looking ahead, some of the growth drivers for our Group in the short to
medium term will include:

. Increased supply of timber volume from expansion of forest resources
in Brazil, Africa, Russia, North America and other countries;
o Consolidation of market share and extending our reach in China;

. Expansion into other strategic markets such as India, United States;
. Reconstruction in Japan.

On behalf of our Group and every member of our team, | present the following
detailed operational and financial review for the year ended 31 March 2011,
sharing with you our successes, milestones achieved, and challenges and
setbacks we faced and overcome.

Last but not the least, | extend our thanks to all our employees, without whom
we will not be able to achieve the results today, our stakeholders, partners

and shareholders for all their support.

Yours sincerely,

Loh Jiah Yee, Katherine
Chairman & Managing Director

Hong Kong, 28 June 2011
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Financial Hightlights

MEGIHER

2011 2010 Changes
—E——F —E—TF BIiEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Operating results RE S
Continuing operations BELSEEK
Revenue WA 866,655 263,063 229.4%
Gross profit EF 504,499 118,866 324.4%
Discontinued operations BRIEER
Revenue A - 79,517 (100%)
Gross loss Fi8 - (9,751) (100%)
Profit attributable to the owners RATEE AEN
of the Company s A 341,486 273,303 24.9%
Financial position at year end REL B 2B AR
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB MERE 231,846 201,293 15.2%
Biological assets EMEE 1,173,150 833,323 40.8%
Goodwiill [SES 1,686,883 1,686,883 —
Cash and cash equivalents HERESZEY 23,679 36,820 (35.7%)
Net current assets MBEEFE 726,848 257,101 182.7%
Total assets WEE 4,186,991 3,338,236 25.4%
Total interest-bearing loans Wt e e 18,768 506 3,609.1%
Total liabilities HEE 930,622 831,606 11.9%
Equity attributable to the owners RAREBA
of the Company FE(E 2 3,256,293 2,506,568 29.9%
Per share information FRER
Basic earnings per share FIRERZF
(Hong Kong cents) (L)
Continuing operations FRHBAE TS 10.30 cents fili  21.37 cents 1lli (51.8%)
Continuing and FHEREEB R
discontinued operations B4R FETE 9.86 cents i  19.64 cents 1llI (49.8%)
Net asset value per share SREEFE 72.1 cents fill  107.7 cents 1lli (33.1%)
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEBERwRSH

SHARE PERFORMANCE
R RE

Share Price (as of 27 June 2011) HK$0.460
BRE(RZZE—FA=Z++H) 751 0.4607C
52-Week High HK$0.61
52 E S10.617C
52-Week Low HK$0.32
52 18 &K Br0.327T
Market Capitalization (as of 27 June 2011) HK$2,331,078,000
THSERE(R_E——FXAZ++H) 75 ¥ 2,331,078,000 7T

Share Price Movements And Hang Seng Index

BREEZRELER
2.5000
HS! Closing f& #5143k HSI Closing fE514 %
22,619 22,041
2.0000  # + e —— | P p—— HsI izt

-2.6% WNZTAR

1.5000 | | { -

723HK
1.0000 | | { 723HK
| | +33.3% EF33.3%
|

0.5000 L
1 Closing Price =% tad=}
e = R ey
BT {E 7/ 11
0.0000 4102010 0,345
O Y&x‘% © X/Q” 0 X/j)\ & « a O,\\ &//Q‘ X &///Q X QX@% {\\w@% X Y&/—‘%
P K FKF ESZAE R A %
&/ & & pe &/ &/ &/ '&/ &/
7 & P 2 4 o o 4 4
Average Daily Trading Volume Total Monthly Trading Volume
No. of shares ki BEXE No. of shares BT E
R FHBARRE R SARARE
180,000,000 3,500,000,000
160,000,000 3,000,000,000
140,000,000
2,500,000,000
120,000,000
100,000,000 2,000,000,000
80,000,000 1,500,000,000
60,000,000
1,000,000,000
40,000,000
20.000.000 4 500,000,000 +
O O N AP SIS NP NP UL SR RO ORI S S SN SR SR S
P A AN G S S S S S 4 P A A S A S S B
FF A . 2 B S S S
(Source: Bloomberg) (Source: Bloomberg)
(BB - #18) (BHFR - #1F)

*Trading volume up to 27 June 2011
HE—F——FAA-TLAZARE
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Management Discussion and Analysis

R AL

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

For the year ended 31 March 2011, revenue totaled
HK$866.7 million and net profit after tax was HK$341.5
million, representing increases of 229% and 24%,
respectively.

Total revenue comprised service income from tree felling
services in Rondonia, Brazil, and sales of forestry and
timber products.

BT RIR
Et?t T——F=-A=+—HIF
- BIRARBRBELGEF DR B
229% N 24% Z 75 866,700,000 7T
K258 1 341,500,000 7T ©

B AR e BRI % B MK AR
BZ RIGWA » AR 85 & ARHM KoK
HHEm °

For Year Ended  For Year Ended
31 March 2011 31 March 2010
BE-Z——fF HE-ZTZF
(HK$°000) =A=+-—H =A=+—H
(BT IEFE LEFE
Revenue A 866,655 263,063
Service income HRAUA 343,671 237,073
Sales of timber HEARM 522,984 25,990
Costs of sales SHE R AR (362,156) (144,197)
Gross profit EF 504,499 118,866
Net operating expenses LB FE
(exclusive of net write offand (1~ E FEH #4558
other non-cash items) NMEMIFRSIER) (58,429) (42,629
Operating profit before tax & B¢ Kl BT 2 484
interest Yo ) 446,070 76,237
Net finance costs BEBRFE (10,768) (10,955)
Operating income before tax B %1 A &8 Ut A 435,302 65,282

In the year ended 31 March 2011, the proportion of
income from sales of forestry and timber products
increased more than 20 folds. The Group expects
tree felling service as a percentage of total revenue to
continue to decrease as it expands its forest resources
and supply network in Brazil, United States, Africa,
Russia and other parts of the world.

BEZ——F=-"A=+—BILFE #HEAM LK
FHEE fn 2 WA EE B DB 38 20 fi% o 7N &2 [ TR B AR R
B AZBD L EER LD RRAEKKER -

KB I - HRARET R R AR IBRARME IR KM

Revenue FYE 31 March 2011
E-E——FZA=T—HLUMBEEZRA

T —=

=

Tree
Felling
Service
AR
40%

Sales of
Forestry
and Timber

Products
SHEAMKR
REER
60%

BE-ZT
Sales of
Forestry

and Timber
Products
SHEAMKR
KREER
10%

Volume of Logs and Sawn Timber

RAREHEE
Logs  Sawn Timber
BA &t
FYE 3/2010 - 2,496
HE-Z-ZF 24987 77
ZRIHRER
FYE 3/2011 139,330m 7,679m
HE-2——%  1030UfK  TEI9AK
ZALLEBER

Revenue FYE 31 March 2010
—EF=ZA=+—HLEEBREEZBA

Tree
Felliing
Service

AR

90%
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Management Discussion and Analysis

R Lk

During the year ended 31 March 2011, we expanded
our supply network to include United States and Africa.
The breakdown of the sales of forestry products by their
origin as follows:

Origin of Forestry and Timber Products Sold
By Value
EEHHKMEUK*JEW Z IR
REEME

Brazil
B&
22%

Gross profit margin for the full year ended 31 March
2011 was 58%, improving from 45% the year before.
During the first half of fiscal year ended 31 March 2011,
we reported a gross margin of 70%. This unusually
high gross margin was primarily because majority of
the income during the first half of the current year was
attributable to the tree felling services, and the cutting
costs for such clearing projects are generally lower than
that of sustainably managed forest operations. During
second half of the current year, our tree felling services
operations was completely halted due to industrial
actions in the hydropower plants unrelated to our
operations. As such, for the second half of the financial
year ended 31 March 2011, there was no contribution
from tree felling services and income was derived solely
from sales of forestry and timber products. The overall
blended gross margin for the year was 58%. Going
forward, the Group expects gross margin to be similar
to the level in the previous year as sales of forestry and
timber products segment grows.

Change in fair value of biological assets was HK$250.2
million for the year ended 31 March 2011. The increase
in fair value was primarily due to increase in timber
prices over the period. This is a non-cash item and may
change up or down from period to period. Management
expects price increases to moderate in calendar year
2011 to 2012.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EHEM WS

GENERAL ECONOMIC TRENDS

To understand the environment that the Group operates
in, it is important to put into perspective some macro
economic trends and factors in 2010 and 2011 globally,
as well as in the countries that we operate in.

Story of Unbalanced Growth

Globally, year 2010 was a year of recovery with growth
at 5.0% following a year of negative growth in
2009 at -0.5%. Advanced economies grew
by a mere 3.0% in 2010 while overall
emerging countries grew by 7.4%, with
China and India leading with growth of
10.4% and 10.3% respectively.

k=
75,

Following similar trends in 2010, economic
expansion remained unbalanced in the
first quarter of 2011. Growth in many advanced
economies remains weak while growth in most emerging
and developing economies continues strong. Overall,
the global economy expanded at an annualized rate of
4.3% in the first quarter of 2011.

Economic recovery in Asia as a whole was rapid at
overall 8.3% in 2010, fueled by both exports and
domestic demand. IMF projected growth to continue
at a more moderate but also more sustainable pace in
2011 and 2012, led by China and India. Though at a
slower pace, China and India are projected to grow by
9.6% and 8.2%, respectively, in 2011.

Latin America recovered quickly and strongly from the
global financial crisis rebounding from -1.7% growth
in 2009 to a growth of 6.1% in 2010 with Brazil as the
star growing at 7.5%. IMF cited in a report published in
June 2011 that prudent, countercyclical policies in the
years leading up to the crisis allowed the deployment
of macroeconomic stimulus to counteract its effects on
activity for Latin American countries. High commodity
prices, easy external financing conditions, and
accommodative macroeconomic policies stimulated
domestic demand. Like China and India, IMF projected
Latin America’s growth to moderate to about 4.5%
in 2011 over the next two years. The expansion will
continue to be led by domestic demand.

Sustainable
Growth In £ 153.0% 1% & -
China At 9.6%
In 2011 And
9.5% In 2012
HER=F——4F
_:$
EITR
9.6%%9.5%

YN
ETHRAEEZGERY  HER
RRERGEERR T —TFR
—T-—FRHAR NARE
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h
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P §% 155.0%1E K o
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GDP Growth BREELAEER
Actual Projections
ER R
2009 2010 2011 2012
“BEhE —B-BF —EF--% C-E--f
% % % %
World 2 0.5 5.1 4.3 45
Advanced Economies BERR -3.4 30 2.2 26
United States *8 26 29 25 2.7
Euro Area BTR -4.1 1.8 2.0 1.7
Japan AR 6.3 40 07 2.9
Emerging and Developing Economies 1 E R ZEHEI%x 28 7.4 6.6 6.4
Russia 2 7.8 40 48 45
Developing Asia TNERTER 7.2 9.6 8.4 84
China e 9.2 10.3 9.6 95
India e 6.8 10.4 8.2 78
Latin America and the Cariobean NTEMNEMSHERR 1.7 6.1 4.6 4.1
Brazil Y -0.6 75 4.1 3.6
(Source: International Monetary Fund)
(BRI - Bl B 2 A %)
Despite overall slowdown in the world’s economies &E T ——FF_FTE 2 RLEE
during the second quarter of 2011 as a result of the B N2 A B 58 S BB RO
devastating earthquake and tsunami in Japan, and B 2RME  EHALSHERRER

weaker than expected economy in the United States,
IMF remains positive about overall growth in 2011 and
2012 especially in Asia and Latin America. It stated in
its June 2011 report that Asia’s growth will decelerate
only slightly from the very high levels of the year before.
Disruptions to regional production networks due to
supply constraints from Japan appear contained. Latin
America will be bolstered by commodity exports and
domestic demand, but the pace of growth will

ease in some economies where policies have
been tightening more aggressively to
reduce risks of overheating.

980,000
Millionaires

TERRR S5 - BRI EBE DAY
TR —F R RS
RIDRFLE - BRI R2EMENT
EM o ZHEBHRE—_ZT——F XA
RRERIEL  DNZEEEES
EFBREKFEKEE - HEAE
TRERME TE 2 E £ EREMU
B T BNBEZIEmmE D
RERNFE R ELH L
ERRAZERAEES
Mg - AHER WA
183 U B2 DA SR 4 37
wEZ R o

Added In China

Rising Individual Wealth

According to the Merrill Lynch Global
Wealth Management and Capgemini
Annual World Wealth Report, the
global population of ultra-high net worth
individuals or individuals with investable
assets more than US$30 million grew by 10.2%
in 2010 and its wealth by 11.5%.

014 KRHEZERERAE =TT —F——FFH

Between 2005-2010
—FERE
—E—FEHFEY
BEEFEm
980,000F

BEABE 1
yili|

EMEBHRY
E IR YRR 2K
BEREREH 2
rzBe FEMEA
RHEANHEREEER
30,000,000 7T 2 &l A 7 =
T —ZFIENN10.2% - mHE = A
#h111.5% °
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Asia-Pacific surpasses Europe for the first time in both
high net worth individuals® (“HNWI”) population and
wealth. Asia-Pacific posted the strongest regional rate
of HNWI population growth in 2010. While HNWI wealth
had already overtaken Europe in 2009, Asia-Pacific has
now surpassed Europe in terms of HNWI population,
expanding 9.7% to 3.3 million. Now the second largest
region for both HNWI wealth and population, Asia-Pacific
is second only to North America. Overall, HNWI's wealth
has surpassed levels before the financial crisis.

China ranked 4th while Brazil and India ranked 11th and
14th, respectively, in world in terms of the number of
HNWI. The number of millionaire households grew by
980,000? in China between 2005 and 2010.

! Individuals with investable assets more than US$1 million.
A AT & & E %R 1,000,000 % T2 fAA °

2 Source: Boston Consulting Group, BCG Global Wealth Survey
BEAOR - KL EENEE DA ZHEHE

DREZ®FEBRA(RFEME
AD ANBREE B IR [F B 8 B
MeR—B—2F  TRABEERF
BEAAREESTHEERSTE
k- R FEEAMEER_F
THFBUEMNER  TARRCHE
SREBEAABOEBEBON - H
1 H 1 HN9.7% % 3,300,000 A ° T2
RBRREKF/E - RS FEBEAY
BERAAME IR EN - 8
BL 2FEEAMEKFEER
EREHATZKF o

AEFEEAZEEmMS @ PER
2ERBEREN - MERAROER S
BBEE+—MRE T - RZF
TAFE_T—TFHM hEHZ
BHEE P =1E1980,000F2 ¢
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GLOBAL TIMBER MARKET

Supplies of logs and sawn timber from natural forests
continued to be restrained due to exportation ban
imposed by various African countries and strong local
demand of its own timber production in Brazil. As such,
both logs and sawn timber saw price increases during
2010 and first half of 2011.

Japan’s supply was devastated as severe damages
were suffered by mills along the north-eastern coast due
to the earthquake and tsunami. Remaining mills were
affected by shortage in electricity supply.

Timber markets in the United States and Europe markets
were still soft due to slump in housing market during
2010 and first half of 2011. China remained the largest
consumer and importer for timber and other forestry
products.

During calendar year 2010, China imported
14.7 million m® of sawn timber (valued at US$3.8 billion),
49% and 65% growth in volume and value respectively
when compared with 2009. In addition, in 2010, China
imported 3.43 million m® of logs (valued at US$6.1
billion), 22% and 49% growth in volume and value
respectively over 2009.

9.7 million m® of logs were imported in first three months
in 2011 (valued at US$1.7 billion), with 6.93 million m® in
softwood. China imported some 4.35 million m® of sawn
timber in the first three months of 2011 worth US$1.1
billion. These represented growth of 55% in volume and
37% in value for logs and 27% in volume and 63% in
value for sawn timber when compared with the same
period in 2010.

EIRAM TS

S A NS B

MEBRARS 2 A EETBRE
TR - SRERARM 2 FARE
MR R B HIRY » FLk - 1
T-TER T —F LEFRA
RSEH 2 (e R -

B AR 7RI ?Z?E?kflimié
BRMEEXE  ERERHE V
g;fﬁzﬁﬁ?ﬁ)ﬁiﬁﬁ*‘ﬁjﬂ

B2 AM IS E S R H N =
—FER-T——F EERER
AR - B2 AM R EAA
RES S AOBERREQS -

RAE = TAF R HEHEEH
A 14,700, OOO_L 7‘7‘ KEM(BE
3,800,000,000 % 7T ) - L/{%IE&E
B DR T NFIERA49% &

65% ° W RZZE—FF  FH
;:EﬁASAS0,000_Lﬁ?H?*( 28
6,100,000,000% 7T ) - t@ﬁz%&%‘:
B BB T ENEREE 0% K
49% o

—F——F = E A 29,700,000
3 K R A (48 f81,700,000,000 3
JC ) H #6,930,000 7 F K B BX
RepER_-_ZE—FB=@EAM@
A $B ¥ 494,350,000 15 K - 421E
1,100,000,0003 J© » 8 = & *f
iﬂﬁﬂttf J?ﬂ?&%(;,ziﬁ%ﬁ
55% M 1R BB < 1818 A 37% : M if
MR E 2 IBRA27T% MIREEZ
#8108 5 63% °

China’s Imports of Logs And Sawn Timber
HREIE A Z RARREM
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(Source: China Customs)

(BEHAR - HELEE)
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China’s imports of sawn timber were mainly from North
America, Russia and Southeast Asian countries. During
first quarter of 2011, the top five suppliers of sawn
timber by volume to China were Canada, Russia, United
States, Thailand and Indonesia.

China’s Top 5 Suppliers Of Sawn Timber
By Volume In 2011 Q1
REBE——FE-FERHSHE
FREl A & SR AT SRR i

Indonesia
21)=1

Russia
REH
27%

(Source: China Customs)

(BRI - A EEFE)

% Increase Of Sawn Timber Imports By China
By Volume and Value During 2011 Q1
FER-ZB-—SE-ZERYHEREETEZ
EOSEMEME DL

% Increase % Increase

Philippines

Thailand
10%

PR ZEOSEMEEREILTM -
BENTRREEER - R=F——
FE-FE PEERBEFEZAN
TERBEMRBRERAMEKN - HE
Hy » 2B - REBIREVE -

China’s Top 5 Suppliers of Sawn Timber
By Volume in 2010
REZ-ZERYEFH
FRE AT T R SR AT SRR i

FEE

4%
R{VETF]
HEH

%H 33%

(Source: ITTO Tropical Timber Market Report)
(BHAR - [TTORE A TG #HeE)

% Increase Of Sawn Timber Imports By China
By Volume and Value During 2010
HER-—Z-ZFRYEREETEZ
EOFEMIEME D

% Increase % Increase

Supplier (in m3) (in US$)  Supplier (in m3) (in US$)

EmEstk EhNEsH EmES EMESH
IRt (2 F3K) (2xm) FRit (A2 73K) (27m)
Canada &K 45.5% 116.7%  Russia 778 8t 40.0% 49.8%
Russia  fRZEHT 61.0% 72.0% Canada fIEXK 65.0% 108.2%
USA EH 104.9% 93.5%  USA E=H 54.2% 77.8%
Thailand ~ Z=& -2.5% 12.6%  Thailand 2= 37.6% 71.9%

(Source: China Customs)

(BEHAHIR - FEER)

China’s Top 5 Suppliers of Log
By Volume in 2011 Q1
RIB-——FE-FTERYSHE
FPEIRI R B RARRR U

Russia

T

41%

New
Zealand
gl |
PARZ)

(Source: China Customs)

(EHANR - P EEE)

(Source: ITTO Tropical Timber Market Report)
(BHIAR - ITTORBE AR 5 HeE)

China’s Top 5 Suppliers of Log
By Volume in 2010
R-ZE-ZEFRHYETE

FPEIAT R & R AR SRR it
Solomon
Island
FREEFIEES

5%

Russia
BB
45%

New
Zealand
il )
19%

(Source: ITTO Tropical Timber Market Report)
(BHIFR - [TTORB AR 5 HeE)
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Russian logs exported to China picked up slightly in
the first quarter of 2011 but does not compare to the
increase of imports of Canadian softwood logs.

MARKET OUTLOOK

The Group expects demand for its products in the short
and long term to remain robust especially in China due
to urbanization of the population and rising wealth.
Some four to five million buildings with gross floor area
of 40 billion m? are projected to be constructed from
now to 20258,

Prices are also expected to remain stable to upward
trending as supplies for natural forest products cannot
be expanded easily due to climatic reasons and the
long cycle of growth for natural forests. Furthermore,
natural forest products cannot be replaced by plantation
products entirely. This is evidenced by the fact that
despite China having the largest plantation area in the
world, it still needs to import growing amount of natural
forest products.

3 Source: Mckinsey Consulting (3/2009)
AR FIR : Mckinsey Consulting (3/2009)
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Our Goals

Since the transformation of the Group into a forestry
company in July 2009, management has set out various
short and long-term goals in various areas in its business
plan. Some of those key targets include:

L E
%£EE 2

SCOE

BAEER _ZTENFLAENR
—FEMERARAR  BEREEAER
EBERFET A/ TRAEBEL
ETERSMEREEZE - TEEEE

Areas

EBESE

Goals

B

Statuses

R

Financial °

B 75

Achieve immediate profitability in the first
year of operations as forestry company for
the Group
FRRAAEBUMEATFE R EEGFA
BEER1S R A

Maintain high growth in profitability
BRESERMENEE

Become a dividend paying company within
first 3 years of operations as a forestry
company

REAMERR Z1EE3FARBIRERK
8

TN

The Group reported net profit after tax of
HK$274.3 million for the year ended 31 March
2010, turning around 4 years of net losses
REERBE_Z-ZF=—R=1T—HIF
EERB IR B 458 15 274,300,000 7 - HHEE
BANFEHSFREBZER

Net profit for year ended 31 March 2011 grew
by 24% over the year before
HE-_Z——F=-A=+—BLFEZHLF
B—FAIE R 24%

The Group announced to pay cash dividend of
HKO0.45 cent per ordinary share and HK0.084
cent per convertible preference shares after
the second annual result announcement since
July 2009
REEREZZTZNFLANRAMZEZ
NEFEEREMEERRETRL AR
B 0.45(L R B AR AT AR (B 55 iR 178 %5 0.084
il

Resources o

BIR

Expand our product offerings to cover
different species of soft and hard wood
BEASEMEZERRBEZERETRARE
LR RIEA

Reach 2-3 million hectares equivalent of
natural forest resources in 24-36 months
R24Z3BEARNSRATMERE_Z
—A&RE

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the
Group expanded its supply of forestry and
timber products from Africa and United States
HE-_ZT—F=-A=-+—HIEFER" &
SEAGEARM RARREm 2 BIRERZIEMN
S EJE

Management is in the process of reviewing
various opportunities, on an ongoing basis,
to secure forest resources through long-term
procurement, management contracts and/or
partnership, and for potential acquisitions. It
believes that the target set out is achievable in
the said time frame
ERBRETHMASERE  UHEBER
HEERE BEAOR /LB IEEEEF
MERNERRERELWEERF - HBE7
RIEERRAEXIETE B IR
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Areas

EBAE

Goals
B

Statuses
AR

Market share/Sales
TiShBER HE

e Consolidation of market share in China
o EFEUEFBzMIGEEEX

e Expansion of distribution to markets such
as India and others
o BAMISDMEHE REMTS

Signed agreement to acquire Susfor-
Oasis (see Note 45 to the consolidated
financial statements) through which the
Group will set up the largest wholesale
timber market in Zhongshan, which together
with its neighboring cities are the largest
manufacturing base for solid wood furniture
and flooring in China

FET R B AR AOM (R4 & B R s MY
F45)  AEEBFEBZARET UTRELE
ERRERZ AMBLE TS - FAFRILmERE
BB I T A P B e K 2 BB AR AL S AR A
At

In June 2011, the Group has opened a sales
office in the United States for export of flooring
products to the United States. It is expected
to generate sales in the fiscal year ending 31
March 2012

RZZE——FXA *EEEEBEREZHEE
WERE - BHREMRINEEER - FEHRR
HEZT——HF=ZA=1T—HIEVBFER
1S ERAE
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Brazil

In Brazil, the Group’s forest and field operations are
located in the northern part of the country where the
Amazon forest is situated, namely Acre, Rondonia and
Para states.

New Branches

During the year ended 31 March 2011, we added a
branch office in Manaus state, also in the Amazon, as
the Group’s centralized logistics center responsible for
coordinating transportation and logistical issues for our
Brazilian operations. The Manaus Free Trade Zone is the
production base for many large multi-national companies
and as a result, most international ocean liners and
shippers have representation in Manaus making it ideal
for our logistics center.

In addition, the Group is moving its financial and
administration functions for Brazil to Sao Paulo from
each Amazona location. Sao Paulo is the financial and
banking center for Brazil. The move allows the Group
to better recruit and retain talents in the financial,
accounting and administration areas, as well as to better
access capital. Also, some costs savings are expected
as a result of the centralization.

Acre Operations

Harvesting operations in our 45,000-hectare Acre forest
will begin in July 2011. Longer than expected rainy
season in 2010 caused delays to the commencement
of our harvesting. Approximately 60,000 to 100,000 m?®
of logs are expected from the Acre operations in a
stabilized year subject to amongst other factors the
length of rainy season.

Rondonia Operations

The Group recorded service income of HK$344 million
in connection with our tree felling service contract for
the hydropower plants in Rondonia for the year ended
31 March 2011. The entire amount of income was
attributable to services rendered during the first six
months of the year. When compared with the previous
year, total service income although increased by 45%
in current year, it was still somewhat disappointing. The
Rondonia operations came to a complete halt during
the second half of fiscal year ended 31 March 2011
as a result of large scale industrial actions by various
unions and workers inside the hydropower plants.
These actions were targeting entirely the hydropower

i)

BEfEAE  ANEEZHRERRISE
FARZBIL 2 RIS B ARG -
BEase = ~ BAZE TN KRR o

&5 Al
HEZZ——F=RA=1+—HLF
EA - $Elﬁﬂuﬁﬁﬁﬁmﬁ
[% 2 Manaus /N 8 3% — f& %5 A &)
EREE 2R L - 5 J%EEE
lﬁTEﬁ%%Zﬁ%&%m%ﬁ
EHE ManausEHE SR AEZ R
RAEVEBI N Rz A EEM - FHt
REBD B F M A e RMERFH
A K KK B Manaus + UK & 74N &
AR L 2 BB B o

SN - AREE IE 2 B 0 BLEE I iR
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plants. While our Group did not suffer any major actual
losses or liabilities due to the delays resulted from these
uncontrollable events, nonetheless our operations were
greatly affected. Our workers were not able to enter any
of the sites and the hydropower plants were not able to
provide us with new areas for clearing. Industrial actions
relating to large scale constructions are common in
Brazil.

Planning of resources allocation and operational
forecasts from period to period for such clearing projects
can be challenging. Unlike sustainably managed forests,
the speed of cutting can be greatly affected by external
factors such as industrial actions, changes of plan
by hydropower plants, etc. Management is currently
carrying out detailed evaluation on the operations and
discussions with the hydropower to come up with
mitigating solutions. When the study is completed,
findings and recommendations will be reported.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group had
a net write off of HK$164.2 million of logs inventory
from the tree felling service operations. The Group
had obtained state approval to export logs from the
hydropower projects from the start of the operations.
Unfortunately in May 2011, IBAMA, the federal
environmental agency in Brazil, contradicted the state’s
earlier decision citing forestry laws that, in the Group’s
opinion, are not applicable to clearing projects. As such,
the Group decided to write off from inventory logs under
certain size and of certain species that will incur losses
after considering the costs of processing in Brazil and
the potential selling prices.

Africa

Congo Basin is the second largest tropical rain forest in
the world after the Amazon. In line with its business plan,
the Group expanded its supply network to the Congo
forest. It began procuring logs and sawn timber from
Democratic Republic of Congo, Africa.

A number of investment opportunities located in various
different countries in the continent of Africa were and
are being reviewed by the management. However, due
to geo-political and other risks for Africa, management
adopts a cautious and disciplined approach when
evaluating potential opportunities.
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Acquisition of Susfor-Oasis

In March 2011, the Group signed an agreement to
acquire the entire capital of Susfor-Oasis Timber
(Zhongshan) Company Limited (“Susfor-Oasis”, a wholly-
foreign owned enterprise established in China), for a total
consideration of HK$380,000,000. The entire acquisition
is to be paid for
by issuance of up

W B8 K AR 3 AR M
R-B——F=F ~EEEIH
# LA 78 ¥ 380,000,000 7T 2 A2 K {8
WhE S IR AR MARERR D
A ([RRETARM ] - R B 2
SIEBELER) 22HER - B
W B % A B 9T 1
m— ZRA R BB

to 769,230,769 |
Shares of the . Q
Company. |

- | & %769,230,769
& & - E &
100,000,000 f% #%

Of which, T 2| RT3
s)a8 5

100,000,000 o, menern & OO pan sam 280,000,000

Shares will be EERFERaE, AERE. GEER, EFRY PR A T LA BAT

250000 00 | CREIMIE+ B | 2l

Shares will be
issued at closing ;
but held in o . A -

o e

?%:Eiﬁéﬁ%ﬁ& '
PARECRIE PR AL FIR
_'.-. & o MEERD #

o
escrow until three

years from the
acquisition completion to ensure net profit guarantee
provided is met, and the remaining Shares will be
issued when net profit guarantee is met. As part of
the acquisition, the vendor guaranteed that audited
net profit after tax on IFRS basis will not be less than
HK$300,000,000 for the three years after completion.

Susfor-Oasis will focus on three primary business areas
covering wholesale, commercial and retail markets in
China. The three core areas are:

° Commercial — Distribution and installation of
flooring and other wood products directly to large
scale property developers in Southern China.
Clients include 2ERESHE, EMEHERNE
fRA 7], ete.

o Retail — Selling of flooring products via the
franchise network

o Wholesale — Operation of wholesale timber
exchange in Zhongshan, the only of such timber
market in Zhongshan

Acquisition of Susfor-Oasis will allow the Group to:

. Access new clientele and expand distribution
network in China

. Strengthen presence in China

. Provide better customer service to existing
customers

o Collect better market intelligence from larger base
of market participates through the wholesale
timber market

° Acquire an experienced sales team

° Enjoy Susfor-Oasis’ excellent reputation and
established brand name
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Chita Operations IRBERK

In last year’s annual report, the Group disclosed that it REEFERSD - REF PTG H
was in discussion with interested party to dispose of the — # A g HE /R (F{AFIZD) 2
Chita (Siberia) operations. As of the date of this report, & HEAFEHE » AEEEE
the Group is nearing the conclusion of the negotiation T EKER TIE: AJEREE-Z
and expects to proceed to binding agreement withinthe ——F=A=+—BIIFERZEE
year ending 31 March 2012, FETBORN 2 Wik -
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2011, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents amounted to HK$23.7 million (2010:
HK$36.8 million).

The Group’s gearing ratio expressed as a percentage of
total interest bearing borrowings, excluding the interest
bearing borrowings classified under liabilities held
for sale, over equity attributable to the owners of the
Company, decreased from 1.0% as at 31 March 2010
10 0.8% as at 31 March 2011.

As at 31 March 2011, the Group had HK$25.2 million
(2010: HK$25.1 million) interest bearing borrowings, of
which HK$18.3 million were repayable within one year
and the remaining HK$6.9 million were repayable after
one year. The total interest bearing borrowings consisted
of HK$18.3 million in bank and other borrowings,
HK$6.4 million in promissory notes and HK$0.5 million
in finance leases payable. As at 31 March 2011, the
Group’s working capital was approximately HK$726.8
million (2010: HK$257.1 million).

On 26 May 2010, the Company entered into a
subscription agreement with NWS Financial Management
Services Limited (the “Subscriber”), a subsidiary of NWS
Holdings Limited who is an independent third party to
the Group, pursuant to which the Company has agreed
to allot and issue to the Subscriber, the subscription
shares of 412,000,000 at HK$0.50 per subscription
share. The Company completed the subscription of
412,000,000 Shares on 2 June 2010. The net proceeds
raised from the subscription were approximately
HK$190.6 million.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2011, general banking facilities granted
to the Group were secured by property, plant and
equipment of the Group with a carrying value of HK$1.1
million.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group’s contingent liabilities at 31 March 2011
are disclosed in Note 44 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group’s continuing operation mainly operates in
Brazil, China and Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, revenue from
continuing operations was denominated mainly in
United States dollars and the Euro while its costs and
expenses were primarily in Brazilian Reais where the
Group’s continuing operations are based. The Group is
exposed to potential foreign exchange risk as a result of
fluctuations between those currencies.

In addition, the main operational assets of the Group are
located and denominated in local currencies in Brazil
while the Group’s reporting currency is in Hong Kong
dollars. This also exposes the Group to potential foreign
exchange risk upon translation of those assets on each
reporting date.

The Group did not enter into any arrangements or
financial instruments for the purpose of hedging against
the potential foreign exchange risks during the year
under review. Management believes that the Group’s
exposure to foreign exchange risks can be mitigated
by increasing local sales denominated in Reais to
pay for the operating costs and expenses were those
currencies to rise substantially against US dollars or the
Euro. As for the operational assets of the Group, any
foreign exchange gain or losses due to translation of
the carrying value of the assets to the Group’s reporting
currency on reporting dates are unrealised and non-
cash in nature. As such, active hedging activities are not
considered warranted. Nonetheless, management will
monitor closely its foreign currency exposure to ensure
appropriate measures are taken promptly against any
significant potential adverse impact.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND
REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2011, the Group had approximately 100
employees (2010: 240) mainly in Hong Kong, China,
Brazil and Russia. The total remuneration paid by the
Group to its employees (including directors) for the year
was approximately HK$53.2 million (2010: HK$20.4
million).

The Group rewards its employees according to
prevailing market practices, individual experience,
performance and requirements under applicable labor
laws in the Group’s operational locations. In addition to
the provision of annual bonus, provident fund scheme
and medical insurance coverage, discretionary bonuses
and share options are also available to employees.
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ON SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY HEsE
Our Team & The Community EEE 00N

The Group implemented various programs for involving ~ ANEBEMTZENEE) - HEE TREBLELT & TE - ZBdB - U T
our staff encouraging participation in social work and the A &EE1f§T -

communities by our employees. A general description of

the programs is as follows:

Program: Charitable Contribution Matching Plan
SEE RERURE LTS
Details: The Group will match monetary donations made by the employee concerned to the approved charitable
RE: organizations by donating two times the gross monetary donations made by the employee subject to a cap for
each financial year.
REMNHHGEMBRFEREN LR  AEBBZRBES MR ESHUEBH 2SR EBELESREN -
Program: Paid Days Off For Social Participation
EE B RBRPSHELETES
Details: Employees may take a number of paid days off to participate in approved community or social work or event
RA each year.
BFEELHARIZHESIMHETIENEE - LEEBEHIEREITE -
Program: “HELP THY NEIGHBORS” PROGRAM
SEE [EBNME | 5T8
Details: Each year, employees may apply for funding up to a cap for worthy causes or as financial assistance to anyone
RE: in needs.
BF  EEVRBFRA T LRNESEAREZARIEDEFTENAL -
Earth Hour HER — /N B

In addition, our offices around the world (Brazil, Russia  [thoh » ZREBE Dt R4 (BPE - B HTREE) 2 SR EEH
and Hong Kong) participated in observing the Earth Hour R BAE S & ((WWF) RS 2k —/EEE - EHRSEMF LS
organized by World Wildlife Fund (“WWF”). Dressed in il ffE I BABER - WEMBEEERE NEEBEODEUFRE -
black and white, the “Panda” look, our teams turned off
all lights and power for 60 minutes observing Earth Hour.
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Participation At Sustainable Forum With Members
of Senior Government in Brazil

In May 2011, a delegation from our Hong Kong office and
Brazil office participated in Biosforum, in its inaugural year. At
the conference, our representatives met with governors from
various states, representatives from the congress as well as
the Vice President of Brazil to discuss initiatives relating to
sustainable forestry practices;
governmental policies relevant
to the Group. We also donated
seedlings of Ipe tree (one of the
most valuable hardwood specie
in the Amazon) for planting in the
city of Sao Paulo, Brazil.

Tree Planting

During the year ended 31 March
2011, the Group planted 5,000
trees. Our goal is to double the number of trees planted in the
following year.

No Sharks Fin Soup
Answering to the calling by WWF, the Group has pledged to not
allow any sharks fin soup or dishes at any corporate events.
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| am only one, but | am one. |
cannot do everything, but | can
do something. And | will not let
what | cannot do interfere with
what | can do.

Edward ‘Everett Hale
1822-1909
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Report of Directors
EREHE

The board of directors (“Board”) of Sustainable Forest Holdings Limited
(“Company”) has pleasure in presenting to the shareholders of the Company
(“Shareholders”) its annual report together with the audited financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively “Group”) for the year ended
31 March 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of
the Group as at 31 March 2011 comprised tree felling service and sustainable
forest management. The activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in
Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31 March 2011 by
geographical and business segments is set out in note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2011 are set out in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 67.

The Board recommends a final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2011
of HK$0.45 cent per ordinary share (2010: Nil) payable to holders of ordinary
shares and HK$0.084 cent per convertible preference share payable to
holders of convertible preference shares (2010: Nil), whose names appear
on the Company’s register of members of ordinary shares and register of
members of preference shares on Friday, 2 September 2011, respectively.
The final dividend is subject to approval of the Shareholders in the
forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM”) which is scheduled to be held
on Thursday, 25 August 2011. The final dividend is expected to be paid on
Friday, 16 September 2011. Details of dividend payment are set out in Note
15 to the consolidated financial statements.

As far as the Company is aware, as at the date of this report, there was no
arrangement under which any Shareholder has waived or agreed to waive
any dividend proposed to be distributed for the year ended 31 March 2011.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the results and the financial position of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 192.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS AND PROPERTY, PLANTS
AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the biological assets and property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year are set out in notes 20 and 18 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the bye-laws of the
Company (“Bye-laws”) or laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 March 2011.

RESERVES

Details of movement in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out
in Note 39 to the consolidated financial statement and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

On 31 March 2011, the aggregate amount of reserves available for the
distribution to owner of the Company calculated in accordance with the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (as amended) was HK$2,111,312,000 (2010:
HK$1,873,265,000).

DONATIONS
The Group made charitable donations of HK$26,000 during the year.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors (“Executive Director(s)”)
Ms LOH Jiah Yee, Katherine (Chairman)
(appointed on 17 December 2010)
Ms FLETCHER Yurk Nam, Sandy
(appointed on 17 December 2010)
Mr LEUNG Chau Ping, Paul
(resigned on 6 April 2011)
Mr Leandro Dos Martires GUERRA
(Chief Operating Officer)
(resigned on 24 February 2011)
Mr CHIU Raymond Yim (Chief Information Officer)
(retired on 31 August 2010)

Non-Executive Directors (“Non-Executive Director(s)”)
Mr NG Tik Hong

(appointed on 8 October 2010)
Mr LEUNG Chau Ping, Paul

(re-designated as Non-Executive Director on 6 April 2011)
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Independent Non-Executive Directors
(“Independent Non-Executive Director(s)”)
Mr LEUNG Siu Hung, Joel
Mr John Tewksbury BANIGAN
Mr KEUNG Paul Hinsum

(appointed on 27 July 2010)
Mr CHU Kin Wang, Peleus

(retired on 31 August 2010)

In accordance with the Bye-law 87(2) of the Bye-laws, Mr LEUNG Siu Hung,
Joel shall retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming AGM and, being
eligible, offer himself for re-election.

In accordance with Bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws, Ms LOH Jiah Yee,
Katherine, Ms FLETCHER Yurk Nam, Sandy, Mr NG Tik Hong and Mr LEUNG
Chau Ping, Paul, who have been appointed or re-designated as Directors
after the last AGM, shall hold office until the forthcoming AGM. Save and
except Mr NG Tik Hong who has declined to offer himself for re-election at
the forthcoming AGM, all the above mentioned Directors, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

The Company has received from each Independent Non-Executive Director
an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Listing Rule”) and the Company considered all of them to be
independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Other than statutory compensation, no Directors proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT & ADVISORY TEAM

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management & advisory
team of the Group are set out on pages 47 to 52.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors had engaged in or were interested in any business
which competed or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
business of the Group during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES

AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2011, the interests and short positions of the Directors and
the chief executive in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong, “SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the Company and
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of the SFO; as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:

Name of Directors

EEn

Ms LOH Jiah Yee, Katherine
(“Ms LOH") (Note 2)
GRERRT (L)) (HiE2)

Ms FLETCHER Yurk Nam, Sandy
(“Ms FLETCHER?) (Note 3)
ZEBLLT(EL)I(KH:#3)

Mr LEUNG Chau Ping, Paul
(“Mr Paul LEUNG”) (Note 4)
RIS ([RIF LA D (B aF4)

Mr LEUNG Siu Hung, Joel
(“Mr Joel LEUNG”) (Note 5)
A ([ RABIESE A D (M et s)

Mr John Tewksbury BANIGAN
(“Mr BANIGAN") (Note 6)

John Tewksbury BANIGAN 4t 4=
([BANIGAN 74 |) (FfaF6)

Mr KEUNG Paul Hinsum
(“Mr KEUNG”) (Note 7)
ZEHRTETEEED (MEF7)

Nature of interest

R E

Beneficial owner/
Interest of controlled corporation

EmlEA AN RESEE 2

Interest of controlled corporation

XEHLAE 2 s

Beneficial owner

BEmiEA A

Beneficial owner

BRBEBA

Beneficial owner
EnEAA

Interest of controlled corporation

HYESEE 2w
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and underlying
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4,300,000

3,017,282,031

31,421,710

26,421,710

2,042,171

2,042,171

11,853,361
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percentage of
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

Notes:

1.

The percentage figures were calculated based on 4,519,073,821 ordinary shares
(“Shares”) of the Company having a par value of HK$0.0533 each in issue as of 31
March 2011.

Ms LOH was beneficially interested in 100% of the issued share capital of Assure Gain
International Limited (“Assure Gain”), 43.39% of the issued share capital of Winner
Global Holdings Limited (“Winner Global”) held through Assure Gain and 50% of the
issued share capital of Corp Insights Holdings Inc. (“Corp Insights”). Assure Gain was
the registered holder of 874,780,310 Shares and 3,067,002,951 convertible preference
shares convertible into 575,063,053 Shares; Winner Global was the registered holder
of 320,041,100 Shares and 5,602,000,000 convertible preference shares convertible
into 1,050,375,000 Shares and Corp Insights was the holder of 1,050,787,033
convertible preference shares convertible into 197,022,568 Shares. Under Part XV of
the SFO, Ms LOH was therefore deemed to have interest in 1,194,821,410 Shares
and 1,822,460,621 underlying Shares upon conversion of the convertible preference
shares in which Assure Gain, Winner Global and Corp Insights were interested. Ms
LOH was also entitled to share options to subscribe for a maximum of 4,300,000
Shares upon exercise of the options in full.

Ms FLETCHER was beneficially interested in 100% of the issued share capital of
AMF Vietnam Investments Limited (“AMF”). AMF was entitled to share options to
subscribe for a maximum of 31,421,710 Shares upon exercise of the options in full. Ms
FLETCHER was therefore deemed to have an interest in 31,421,710 underlying Shares
in which AMF was interested under Part XV of the SFO.

Mr Paul LEUNG was entitled to share options to subscribe for a maximum of
26,421,710 Shares upon exercise of the options in full.

Mr Joel LEUNG was entitled to share options to subscribe for a maximum of 2,042,171
Shares upon exercise of the options in full.

Mr. BANIGAN was entitled to share options to subscribe for a maximum of 2,042,171
Shares upon exercise of the options in full.

Mr KEUNG was beneficially interested in 80% of the issued share capital of Million
Great Investment Limited (“Million Great”), Million Great was the holder of 63,217,927
convertible preference shares convertible into 11,853,361 Shares. Mr KEUNG was
therefore deemed to have an interest in 11,853,361 underlying Shares in which Million
Great was interested under Part XV of the SFO.

All interests stated above represented long positions.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2011, none of the Directors and
chief executive had any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of the
SFO or which were required to be entered in the register required to be kept
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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320,041,100 8% % 7 & 7] & ¥ A1,050,375,000
B% A% 1 2 5,602,000,000 A% AT #2 B% 8 S AR 15 ¢
Corp Insights 8| 5 5 8] 3 # 73 197,022,568 % i 17
2.1,050,787,033 % AT #2 IR 18 SE I& 15 - IRIBEFE F R
B 6B EEXVED - 42 2z + A It 3 AR & 7Y Assure
Gain * Winner Global } Corp Insights FT # & 2
1,194,821,410 PR AR 17 2 AT 2 IR A8 5 P 19 18 34 #A 1 22
H2.1,822,460,621 [RARRARR (7 h B s - Et
JNEZ A5 A A BB T 5 SR B8 5 % 4,300,000 AR AR 19 2.
B -

3. % 7 + & = % B AMF Vietnam Investments Limited
(TAMF]) B 81T AR 2 2 5 i % - AMFZ B AT R
HITERRERZ 31,421,710 H 2 AL - 1R
BEHFRPERMEXNVE  ZELTERLER AR
AMF FT#EA 2 31,421,710 IRABRARR (0 h A g o

4. 2REREZTEARETLTER
26,421,710 & i 10 2 BB AR 4 -

RERZ

5. RIBHAEZ AR BBITERFRE RS 2,042,171
A& AR A7 2 B AR -

6. BANGANE A Z B AR BHTERRBERZ
2,042,171 IR 17 2 BB R AE -

7. ZhAEBRBEABRREARAR([EE) BT
MR 2 80% fE o E1EFFA Al H.#2 /511,853,361 K
B&1n 2 63,217,927 IR AT IR AR B 2L Ak 1 » IRIEFEH
HMERFIEXVE  ZXERIBRAENEEMES
211,853,361 I Bt P B i ©

8. LRSS RIFR

BREXEREEN RZT——F=A=+—8"
BEEERERTHASBERAR R S EME[E
BEEE (TR FHFMAEGRMEXVE) ZEM
& - BERNKEST BEREFESNMEE
BOIE7RESHIAMG AR KRBT R
BN AR BB IR R 5 R HA 6 15] 58 352 1§ 4R
EAFEZELM iR EEETAANE AR
A R R AT 2 (RS AR o
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EREEE

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
AND OTHER PERSONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2011, the following persons (other than a Director or chief
executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares or
underlying Shares of the Company which would be required to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

FERREEMATRRADRAEE
B AD 2 B2
R-B——#=A=1—0 UTAL(EFH

ARAEBITERABRIN) RARQ B R HAHR
fetid - EEREESRMEEIEXVEBE2R
FI3NEZMERMARRIKEE - B LHEAR
BIREE S MERIIEBCHREMFEZE
Mz EREIORRIAT

Number and
class of Shares
and underlying

Approximate
percentage of
issued shares

Nature of interest

REENE

Name of Shareholders

BRREE LB

LAU Jack (“Mr LAU”) (Note 2)
BRE(BEE](HF2)

Interest of spouse
BB &

Beneficial owner/
Interest of Controlled Corporation

EnEA A RIEGEE 2

Assure Gain (Note 3)
Assure Gain (K15F3)

Beneficial owner

BEmEA A

Winner Global (Note 4)
Winner Global (#fzt4)

Beneficial owner

BEmEA A

LI Zhixiong (“Mr LI") (Note 5)
EESE (TR E D (HE5)

Beneficial owner
ExEAA

NWS Financial Management Services
Limited (“NWS Financial”) (Note 6)
NWS Financial Management Services

Limited (TNWS Financiall) (#1:%6)

Beneficial owner
EREAA

Integrated Asset Management
(Asia) Limited (“IAM”) (Note 7)

Integrated Asset Management
(Asia) Limited ([1AM ) (A7)

036 KRHEZERERAE =TT —F——FFH

Shares held HERITRM
iRk BHBEDL
MERARG Z (Note 1)
Z2ERER (Kiat 1)

3,021,582,031 66.86%
2,820,259,463 62.41%
1,370,416,100 30.33%

769,230,769 17.02%

412,000,000 9.12%

302,636,405 6.70%
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INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
AND OTHER PERSONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

Notes:

1.

The percentage figures were calculated based on 4,519,073,821 Shares in issue as of
31 March 2011.

Mr LAU, being the spouse of Ms LOH, was therefore deemed to have an interest in
the same parcel of the Shares and underlying Shares in which Ms LOH was interested
under Part XV of the SFO.

Assure Gain owned approximately 43.39% of the issued share capital of Winner
Global. Assure Gain was the registered holder of 874,780,310 Shares and
3,067,002,951 convertible preference shares convertible into 575,063,053 Shares and
Winner Global was the registered holder of 320,041,100 Shares and 5,602,000,000
convertible preference shares convertible into 1,050,375,000 Shares. Assure Gain was
therefore deemed to have an interest in the said 2,820,259,463 Shares and underlying
Shares in which both itself and Winner Global were interested under Part XV of the
SFO.

Winner Global was the registered holder of 320,041,100 Shares and 5,602,000,000
convertible preference shares convertible into 1,050,375,000 Shares.

Mr LI was beneficially interested in 769,230,769 underlying Shares which shall be
allotted and issued pursuant to an acquisition agreement dated 21 March 2011 in
which the Company is one of the parties. Ms Wu Guanwen, spouse of Mr LI was
deemed to be interested in the same parcel of underlying Shares in which Mr LI was
interested under Part XV of the SFO.

NWS Financial was 100%-owned by NWS Service Management Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“NWS Service BVI”), which in turn was
100%-owned by NWS Service Management Limited, a company incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands (“NWS Service Cayman”). NWS Service Cayman was 100%-owned
by NWS Holdings Limited (“NWS Holdings”), which was in turn 58.81%-owned
by New World Development Company Limited (“New World”). New World was
40.03%-owned by Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited (“Chow Tai Fook”), which in
turn was 100%-owned by Centennial Success Limited (“Centennial”). Cheng Yu Tung
Family (Holdings) Limited (“CYT Family”) owned 51% interest in Centennial. Each
of NWS Service BVI, NWS Service Cayman, NWS Holdings, New World, Chow Tai
Fook, Centennial and CYT Family was therefore deemed to be interested in the said
412,000,000 Shares held in the name of NWS Financial under Part XV of the SFO.

Mr Yam Tak Cheung owned 100% of the issued share capital of IAM, and was
therefore deemed to have an interest in the said 302,636,405 Shares in which IAM
was interested under Part XV of the SFO.

All interests stated above as at 31 March 2011 represented long positions.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2011, the Company had not been
notified of any other persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of the
Company) who had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares of the Company which would be required to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO.

f&ki%ﬂﬁﬁ&*ﬁ%ﬁ
&)

1. ZEASHLBFIRER_ZE——F=A=+—H
B3174,519,073,821 IRl {5 5+ &

BRERZELLTZEE BEEFRAEHEIEXV
BB AR AR AL L PR 2 R — i () R AE R
Bt AR -

N

3. Assure Gain ## & Winner Global z & # 17 I& & 4
43.39% #E 25 © Assure Gain & 70 35 5 874,780,310 %
&7 & Al 5 ¥ 5575,063,053 8% A% 15 2 3,067,002,951
% AT 2 A% {8 52 A% 19+ i Winner Global Bl & 21 &
320,041,100 A% i 17 K 7] 5, ¥ /& 1,050,375,000 % 3%
19 2 5,602,000,000 A AT #A A8 5L it » IRIBEH
HAE IS XVER - Assure Gain B 18 AR E AR &
#8 I Winner Global Ffi## & #) Ll 2,820,259,463 i&
A& RAARARR D R B A o

4. Winner Global & 72 £ /& 320,041,100 f% i 15 2 A &,
# /41,050,375,000 % A% 17 7 5,602,000,000 % 7] #2
AR S i n -

5. T B R 769,230,769 AR FEREAL D - %S 4ERE
BOERERPA-T——F=A=-+—B2WE
i (RARBEP—BTHH) FURERET -
Wu Guanwen X+ AF £ 2 BB - BIEFEF L E
EEDIEXVHBREARFLERBEZE 2R I8
BRMD P AR -

6. NWS Financial 2 NWS Service Management Limited
(NWS Service BVI] » B 2 B St ftr) &
BB 2 AR %% BNWS Serice Management
Limited ([NWS Service Cayman ] » 7251 £ & & i it
RAL) 2B BB 2 A7) ° NWS Service Cayman A3
BIREBARAR([FaED2EHEEZAR &
ERTEARERARAR (R ]) HH5881%
BmZ AR FERBEAAEREARAR (AKX
8 1) %5 40.03% # m 2 N A - 1% & /& Centennial
Success Limited ([ Centennial |) 2 & # A 2 2 7
Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings) Limited ([CYT
Family |) % 7 Centennial 51% #£ 25 - 1B 15 & % & 5
B & B EBXVED - NWS Service BVI + NWS Service
Cayman * ¥ &l% - ¥t H - FE K4 - Centennial &
CYT Family & B 7 £t LANWS Financial & £ 5 2
412,000,000 i s FE B 125 ©

7. Yam Tak Cheung %t £ # A IAM B 1T IR 7N 2 2 &0 1
o IRIRE S RS I XV S E A AR AR 1AM
FiEE 2 £ 302,636,405 (%A% (D R A o

8 WIZ-——#ZA=+—B LI2H@REH AT
£
R EXWBEEN RZ2F——F=A=1+— E

ETN Tjiﬂﬁ,_\e’mﬁm/\i(%%ﬂm
%ﬁﬁ?fﬁﬁf‘z;%&ﬁ;ﬁ 1I¢1§|J%XV*B%2&3"*BZ
EXBMARARE - KRR AR E

% 5055 1 ) 25 336 (55 Fr P B 2 B 2 s
QZ/AE"

T1YVAN
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DIRECTORS RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
Interests and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares” above, during
the year ended 31 March 2011, none of the Director nor the chief executive
of the Company had been granted any right to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporation and none of the Directors, their respective spouses nor their
respective children under the age of 18 had any right to subscribe for the
securities of the Company or had exercise any such rights.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the share option scheme adopted by the Shareholders on
27 November 2009 (“Share Option Scheme”), the Company may grant
share options to the directors, employees, executive or officers, managers,
consultants, any customers, suppliers of goods or services to any member of
the Group or any entity in which any member of the Group holds any equity
interests (“Invested Entity”) who, in the sole discretion of the Board have
contributed or will contribute to the growth and development of the Group,
to provide incentives or rewards for their contribution to the success of the
Group’s operation.

During the year, the movements in the share options under the Share Option
Scheme were as follows:

Number of share options

BhREsA
Outstanding Outstanding
at 1 April at 31 March
2010 2011
Nature of R-Z-Z§ KZB--§
Name interest A-H Granted  Exercised Lapsed ZA=1-H
#e R&ME R 254 B S WA
Director
EZ
Ms LOH Jiah Yeg, Katherine Personal - 1,433,333 - - 1,433,333
AFERT A
Personal - 1,433,333 - - 1,433,333
A
Personal - 1,433,334 - - 1,433,334
A
038 KEMREZERERAT -T2 —FT——FFRH

EERERS 2ER
BEXTEFERESTRABRRBRN REBRN
ZEBORR ] —HRAREIN REBEE-F——
FZA=1T—BLEFE EFXEARARHTH
AB YW R T L AHEN A R A A B A
HinEBz ki skErmEs - BEEFREEFS
BZEBIWMESERMISHR TRMEREFE
MREARREZ ZEN - EITEEAZERE
e

B E
BEBREA-TTAF+—A-+LARMZE
R E (B E))  AARATHEFRS

BRSERABEHAREZERRERELE

B AEEEAIKE L AREEMREFEERK

Az ER((REBERDZES  REE  TH
ABRBRBE K2 BR - #OEF - ZH
B s iR IR H B RE - DASER) S O 8

A S R ) B > B -

RER - RIBBIMEST B 2 BEEZFHOT

Exercise
price
Date of grant Exercise period per share
RHBH (g3 ] BRTEE
(HKS)
(B%)
18 February 2011 16 December 2011 to HK$0.420
—£-—%ZA+/\A 17 Feloruary 2021 EE0420T
“E——EtZBtiREE
“E--FA+tA
18 February 2011 16 December 2012 to HK$0.420
“I——5Zf+/\8 17 February 2021 04207
Z5-ZEtZRtEE
“E_-5CATtA
18 February 2011 16 December 2013 o HK$0.420
~F——%ZA+/\A 17 Feoruary 2021 %0407
“E-=%+-f+trAZE
“E-%A+tA
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Name

e

Director (Continued)

EZ(8)

Ms FLETCHER Yurk Nam, Sandy

ES e

Mr LEUNG Chau Ping, Paul
RilFs

Mr LEUNG Siu Hung, Joel
RRMRE

Nature of
interest

EiRME

Personal

fEA

Personal
A

Personal

A

Personal

fEA

Personal
A

Personal
A

Personal
fAA

Personal

fEA

Personal
A

Personal

A

Personal

fBA

Personal

A

Number of share options
BREHA

Outstanding Outstanding
at 1 April at 31 March
2010 2011
R-E-2% RZB--%
A-H Granted  Exercised Lapsed ZA=1-H
WA R [=ix;d BAX WA
5,106,428 - - - 5,106,428
5,105,427 - - - 5,105,427
- 5,106,427 - - 5,106,427
- 5,106,428 - - 5,106,428
- 11,000,000 - — 11,000,000
6,807,236 - - - 6,807,236
6,807,237 - - - 6,807,237
6,807,237 - - - 6,807,237
- 11000000 (5,000,000 - 6,000,000
- 680,723 - - 680,723
- 680,724 - - 680,724
- 680,724 - - 680,724

Sustainable Forest Holdings Limited Annual Report 2010/2011

7 May 2010
“2-TFRIALA

14 September 2010
~F-SFAATRE

13 January 2010
“F-TF-A1IA

13 January 2010
ZE-ZF-f+=A

13 January 2010
“T-B5-A1=H

14 September 2010
“E-BENATEA

7May 2010
“Z-TFRAtA

7May 2010
“Z-TFRAtA

7May 2010
“Z-TFRAtA

BRAETE e
Date of grant Exercise period
RHAH A
13 January 2010 15July 2010 t0
ZE-ZE-A+=H 12 January 2020
_% fﬁtﬂ+ﬁﬁi
13 January 2010 15July 2011 to
~Z-T5-A+=H 12 January 2020
E—EtATRAR
“E-EF-A+CH
7 May 2010 15 July 2010to
—“Z-ZFRA+A 6 May 2020
“E-TELATRAE

“Z-ZFRARA
15.July 2011 to

6 May 2020
“E2—ErfthAZ

ZE2-TFRIARA
14 September 2010 to

13 September 2020
“E-TEARTEAZE

:Z,sﬁnﬂ+ A

18 January 2011 to
12 January 2020
“Z—%-f+zRHZE
—Z-TE-A+CH
13 January 2012 to
12 January 2020
Z5-Z§-A1+=R%
“ECEE-AtoH
13 January 2013 to
12 January 2020
e

14 September 2010 to
13 September 2020

“Z-ZEARtEAZE
ZZZEENATZR

7May 2011 to
6 May 2020
“5——FRAtAZE
ZZZZERARA
7May 201210
6May 2020
Z3-ZFRAtAZE
ZZCZFERARA
7May 2013 to
6May 2020

Exercise
price

per share
BRTEE
(HKS)
(%)

HK$0.940
BH09407T

HK$0.940
0940

HK$0.710
BEOT0T

HK$0.710
LAl

HK$0.375
BR0.375

HK$0.940
A%0.9407

HK$0.940
0940

HK$0.940
BH09407

HK$0.375
AR0.375T

HK$0.710
BE0T0T

HK$0.710
B0

HK$0.710
BE0T0T
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) BRESTE @
Number of share options
BhREsA
Outstanding Outstanding
at 1 April at 31 March
2010 2011 Exercise
Nature of R-Z-%§ R=B--F price
Name interest mA-H Granted Exercised Lapsed =A=T-H  Dateof grant Exercise period per share
#e REME HRTHE 254 B BAM HATE  RAAH i3] ﬁ&ﬁﬁf
(HKS)
(B%)
Director (Continued)
E2(®)
Mr John Tewksbury BANIGAN Personal 680,723 - - - 680,723 13 January 2010 13 January 2011 to HK$0.940
John Tewksbury BANIGAN &4 LA —2-T%-A+=A 12 January 2020 B0
’A*f@ At=RZ
Personal 680,724 - - - 680,724 13 Januery 2010 13 January 2012 to HK$0.940
A —2-T5-A+=A 12 January 2020 EE09407
Z5--§-f1+=R%
ZZ-2E-f+zH
Personal 680,724 - - - 680,724 13 Januery 2010 13 January 2013 o HK$0.940
A —2-T5-A+=A Wwaw%% BE09407
Sub-fotal 674736 38553026 (5,000,000) - 66207762
/J\‘ﬁ
Employees and other 5,760,028 - - (4,024,397) 1,735,631 13 January 2010 13 January 2011 to HK$0.940
participants (Note) —2-T5-A+=H 12 January 2020 09407
EERAMZRE (W) “T—4-f+=8%
ZZ-2E-f+zH
5,760,028 - - (4,024,397) 1,735,631 13 January 2010 18 January 2012 to HK$0.940
ZE-ZE-A+=H 12 January 2020 09407
“F-ZE-fTZRE
“Z-2E-f+zH
5,760,029 - - (4,024,397) 1,735,632 13 January 2010 18 January 2013 to HK$0.940
ZE-ZE-f+=H 12 January 2020 09407
ZF-ZE-ATZRE
ZZ-2E-f+zH
- 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000  7May2010 7 November 2010 to HK$0.710
“T-ZERALA 6 May 2020 AB0.7107T
“T-TE+-frAZ
“Z-TFRARA
- 9,381,644 - (5,700,232) 3681412 7May2010 18 January 2011 to HK$0.710
“T-ZERALA 6 May 2020 AB0.7107T
“F-—E-f1=R%E
ZE2-TFRARA
- 3,481,954 - (1,290,266) 2,191,688 7May2010 7May 2011 10 HK$0.710
“T-ZERALA 6 May 2020 AB0.7107T
“E——%RAtAZE
~“Z-ZERANA
- 9,381,646 - (7,402,042) 1979604  7May2010 18 January 2012 to HK$0.710
“T-ZERALA 6 May 2020 AB0.7107T
ZF-ZE-ATZRE
ZZZTFRARA
- 3,481,954 - (1,290,266 2,191,688 7May2010 7 May 201210 HK$0.710
“T-ZERALA 6Mw2@0 AB0.7107T
“E-CERAtAZ
—E-ZERAAE
- 9,381,654 - (7,402,043) 1979611 7May 2010 18 January 2013 to HK$0.710
“T-ZERALA 6Mw2@0 AB0.7107T

040 KRMEZERERAD A
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
Number of share options
BhREsA
Outstanding Outstanding
at 1 April at 31 March
2010 2011
Nature of RZZ-%E WZB--§
Name interest A-HR Granted  Exercised Lapsed ZA=1-H
#e REME HRITHE 254 =iy BAM HRTHE
Employees and other - 3,481,956 - (1,290,266) 2,191,690
participants (Note) (Continued)
EERAMZEE H)(&)

- 57,350,000  (3,907,500) (600,000) 52,842,500
- 1,701,809 - - 1,701,809
- 273529 - - 213,529
- 333,333 - (333,333 -
- 266,667 - - 266,667
- 333,333 - - 333,333
- 433,333 - - 433,333
- 1,701,809 - - 1,701,809
- 273,529 - - 273,529
- 333,333 - (333,333 -
- 266,667 - - 266,667
- 333,333 - - 333,333

Sustainable Forest Holdings Limited

BRAETE e
Date of grant Exercise period
RHAH A
7 May 2010 7May 2013t0
—“T-ZFRA+A 6 May 2020
14 September 2010 14 September 2010 to
ZE-ZENATEA 13 September 2020
“E-TEAATIAE
“Z2-FFnAT=A
18 February 2011 30 June 2011 to
—E-—EZAT)\AH 17 February 2021
ZE—ERAZTRE
ZZ--EZAttA
18 February 2011 30 July 2011 to
ZE-—EZAT/\AH 17 February 2021
ZE-—EtAZTRE
ZZ--EZATtA
18 February 2011 6 September 2011 to
ZE-—EZAT/\AH 17 February 2021
ZE——FAARAE
ZEZ--E-AttA
18 February 2011 5 December 2011 to
—E-—EZAT/\AH 17 February 2021
Z5——F+ZRRAZE
ZZ--E-AttA
18 February 2011 2 January 2012 to
ZE-—EZAT)\AH 17 February 2021
“5-—§-AZR%E
ZZ--E-AttH
18 February 2011 9 January 2012 to
—ZE-—EZAT/\AH 17 February 2021
“F-Z§-ANRE
ZZ--EZAttH
18 February 2011 30 June 2012 o
“2—%-A+/\R 17 February 2021
52§/ A=1RE
“E--%ZA+tA
18 February 2011 30 July 2012 to
—E-—EZAT)\AH 17 February 2021
ZE-ZELAZTRE
ZZ--EZAttA
18 February 2011 6 September 2012 to
—E-—EZA+)\H 17 February 2021
ZE-ZENARBE
ZZ--EZAttH
18 February 2011 5 December 2012 to
ZE-—EZAT)\AH 17 February 2021
“T-EfCfRAEZ
ZZ--E-AttH
18 February 2011 2 January 2013 to
—E-—EZA+)\H 17 February 2021
“5-=f-ACZR%E
ZZ--E-AttA

Annual Report 2010/2011

Exercise
price

per share
BRITEE
(HKS)
(%)

HK$0.710
B0

HK$0.375
BE0I75T

HK$0.420
04207

HK$0.420
BE04207

HK$0.420
BE04207

HK$0.420
04207

HK$0.420
04207

HK$0.420
BEE04207

HK$0.420
BE04207

HK$0.420
BEE0420T

HK$0.420
04207

HK$0.420
BEE04207

HK$0.420
04207
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) BRESTE @
Number of share options
BhREsA
Outstanding Outstanding
at 1 April at 31 March
2010 2011 Exercise
Nature of R-Z-%§ RZZ--§ price
Name interest A-H Granted Exercised Lapsed =A=T-H  Dateof grant Exercise period per share
#e REME HRTHE 254 B BAM HATE  RAAH i3] ﬁ&ﬁﬁf
(HKS)
(5%)
Employees and other - 433,333 - - 433333 18 February 2011 9 January 2013 to HK$0.420
participants (Note) (Continued) “2—%-A+N\R 17 February 2021 %0420
REREMZEE (i) (B)
- 1,701,810 - - 1,701,810 18 February 2011 30 June 2013 o HK$0.420
Z——5ZAtN\A 17 Feloruary 2021 AE%04207
Z5-=§/ A=1RZE
ZZ--E-f+tH
- 273,530 - - 273530 18 February 2011 30 July 2013 to HK$0.420
ZZ——5ZAt)\A 17 Feloruary 2021 AE%0.4207
Z5-=ftA=1RZE
ZEZ--E-fttH
- 333,334 - (333,334) - 18February 2011 6 September 2013 to HK$0.420
—Z-—FZf+)\H 17 February 2021 BE04207
“E-=FNARHZ
i Sl R
- 266,666 - - 266,666 18 February 2011 5 December 2013 to HK$0.420
ZZ-—FZf+)\H 17 February 2021 BE04207
Z5-=§+-RRAZE
i Sl R
- 333,334 - - 333,334 18 February 2011 2 January 2014 to HK$0.420
ZF-—FZf+)\H 17 February 2021 BE04207
“E2-PmE-AZBZ
i Sl S
- 433,334 - - 433,334 18 February 2011 9 January 2014 to HK$0.420
ZZ-—FZf+)\H 17 February 2021 BE04207
—S-EE-ANAZ
i Sl R
Sub-total 17280085 107,966,824  (3,907,500)  (38,048,306) 83,291,103
it
Total 49954821 146519850  (8907,500)  (38,048,306) 149,518,865
5t
Notes: B -
1. Mr CHIU Raymond Yim (“Mr CHIU”) retired as an Executive Director of the Company 1. MACKRE(BEEDR =S —ZFNA=FT—
on 31 August 2010. The details of the outstanding share options held by Mr CHIU HREARBNITES - R ESZ —E——F=R1

042

during the year ended 31 March 2011 were accounted and described under the

heading “Employees and other participants”.

Such details were accounted and

described under Mr CHIU’s name in the annual report for the year ended 31 March

2010.

Mr Leandro Dos Martires GUERRA (“Mr GUERRA”) resigned as an Executive Director
of the Company on 24 February 2011. The details of the outstanding options held by
Mr GUERRA during the year ended 31 March 2011 were accounted and described
under the heading “Employees and other participants”. Such details were accounted
and described under Mr GUERRA’s name in the annual report for the year ended 31

March 2010.

KRMEZERERAD A

2% /-2 —FFH

*+ RIESE - BAERE 2 MARITEBRRERF

BEER [BRREMSEE | FIREEM - BRFE
RBE—Z-ZTF=_A=+—HLFEZFREH
FEL TR B -

Leandro Dos Martires GUERRA%E 4 ([ GUERRAZEAE |)
AR ——FE - A+ NARIARRRITES -
RBE_ZT——F=A=+—HIFE  GUERRA
EERBZERITEEREFEER EEREM
28E]|JERER - BRAFEREE-_S—ZF=
A=+—BIFE 2 F#R%EGUERRAL LR TR
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EFNEHRE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

3.

Ms FLETCHER were appointed as an Executive Director of the Company on 17
December 2010. The details of the outstanding options held by Ms FLETCHER during
the year ended 31 March 2010 were accounted for and described under the heading
“Employees and other participants” in the annual report for the year ended 31 March
2010.

The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date on which the options were
granted on 13 January 2010 was HK$0.950.

The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date on which the options were
granted on 7 May 2010 was HK$0.700.

The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date on which the options were
granted on 14 September 2010 was HK$0.385.

The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date on which the options were
granted on 18 February 2011 was HK$0.415.

Summary of the terms of the Share Option Scheme is as follows:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Purpose

The principal purposes are to recruit and retain high caliber employees
and attract human resources that are valuable to the Group or
any Invested Entity and to provide incentives or rewards to Eligible
Participants (as defined below) for their contribution to the Group.

Eligible Participants

Any employees (whether full time or part time), directors (including
executive, non-executive and independent non-executive directors)
of any members of the Group or any Invested Entity, any customer,
supplier of goods and services to any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity and such other persons or entities (“Eligible
Participants”) who, in the sole discretion of the Board, have contributed
or will contribute to the growth and development of the Group or any
Invested Entity.

Maximum number of shares available for issue

The total number of shares (i.e. 430,994,088 Shares) which may be
issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme represented 10% of the total number of
issued Shares of the Company as at the date of passing the ordinary
resolution on 31 December 2010 (being the date on which the initial
mandate limit of the Share Option Scheme was refreshed) and
represented approximately 8.5% of the total number of issued Shares
of the Company as at the date of this report.

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Participant

The total number of Shares of the Company issued and to be issued
upon exercise of options (whether exercised or outstanding) granted in
any 12-month period to:

(i) each Eligible Participant must not exceed 1% of the total number
of Shares of the Company in issue; and

(ii) a substantial shareholder or an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company must not exceed 0.1% of the total
number of Shares of the Company in issue and not exceed HK$5
million in aggregate value.

BRESTE e

fiaz - (#)

3.

EZLTR_F-ZEF+ AT+ LBRZEREALA
WITEE - NEE_T-ZF=_A=1+—HILFE "
EXLIHBEZHARTEBREFBORNBE_F—
ZEZA=FT-ALFRz [EEREMS2EE] |

BRONEEBRER 25 -A+=ZHREE
H Al Z W B RE#0.950 T °

BHORBEZBREAR-ZE—ZEFRAALAREER
B2 T (B A4 0.7007T °

BRONEEBRER _Z-ZFALATOARLE
H Al Z T ERE#0.385 7T °

BORBEZBREAR-Z——F A+ \BRLEE
HATZWmEAEE0.4157T ©

BRRE BIETM RN T

(a

()

(d)

B
IZEMNNEEREREBESREE LR
B AREESERIREEBBEROAN
BR WREHOEAERSEE (EXR
TX)BAREEZER

fEKSHEE

EZg2ENBERAELALEHALHE
HEMREBERZEERBERELERZ
REBERKERRNEMNIREER ZE
MEE(THEBIRE) EF(BEH
17 FRITRBIUIFATESR) » ERAE
BEEMRESRREERNETS  RHEM
kRGzHEEREREMALTHER(A
BRR2EE]) -

AHEBTIROEE LR
FERETZETERE B R EER
FEERBITHEMA FEITZRM AR
430,994,088 I (0 ) (h TAZENR =F
—ZE+ - A=+—H(AIERETE 29
SRERBEFTNEH)ERBE BAQT
BTN AE 2 10% M AR AR ARE
AHZ B EB/TRD AE %) 8.5% °

BEERSHEEIERD LR
ER 1218 A AR H 2 BRE (T w
1Tk ARTTER) AT A N oI AL 23
TR FETZARBRMDEBTSHEB
AT RREE -

) BERAERSEERNZBBEET

(i)  ARREEREIBILIENTESH
B2 BRBES T SHBEAARE BT
D EEZ01% @ RENTSHBB
75,000,000 7T ©

Sustainable Forest Holdings Limited Annual Report 2010/2011 043



Report of Directors
EREEE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(e) Period within which the Shares must be taken up under
an option
An option must be exercised within 10 years from the date on which it
is granted or such shorter period as the Board may specify at the time
of grant.

()  Minimum period, if any, for which an option must be
held
No minimum period for which the option has to be held before it can be
exercised is specified in the Share Option Scheme.

(9) Period open for acceptable of an option and amount
payable upon acceptance
An offer of grant of an option may be accepted by an Eligible Participant
within 28 days from the date of the offer of grant of the option. A
consideration of HK$1.00 is payable on acceptable of the offer of grant
of an option.

(h) Basis of determining the subscription price of an option
The exercise price must be at least the highest of (i) the closing price of
the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on
the date of grant; (i) the average closing prices of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (i) the nominal value
of a Share.

(i) Validity of the Share Option Scheme
The Share Option Scheme has a life of 10 years and will expire on 27
November 2019 unless otherwise terminated in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

During the year, no contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted
for approximately 98.8% of the total sales for the year and sales to the
largest customer included therein amounted to 39.7%. Purchases from the
Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 99.5% of the total
purchases for the year and purchases from the largest supplier amounted to
53.4%.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any Shareholders (which
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest
customers and five largest suppliers.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report, there is sufficient
public float of more than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required
under the Listing Rules.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The subsequent events are set out in note 45 to the consolidated financial
statements.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31 March 2011
were audited by Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited (“Crowe Horwath”) who
retire and, being eligible, offer itself for reappointment at the forthcoming AGM
of the Company.

Due to the merger of business between Messrs. CCIF CPA Limited and
PCP CPA Limited, Messrs. CCIF CPA Limited resigned as auditor of the
Company with effect from 25 March 2010. Following the resignation of CCIF
CPA Limited, Crowe Horwath was appointed as the auditor of the Company
to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, there were no change in the Company’s auditors in

the preceding three years.

On Behalf of the Board

LOH JIAH YEE, KATHERINE
Chairman & Managing Director

Hong Kong, 28 June 2011
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Biographical Details of Directors and

Senior Management & Advisory Team
ERUERSEEEARRBNERGE

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Ms LOH Jiah Yee, Katherine (Chairman)

Ms LOH Jiah Yee, Katherine, aged 47, joined the Group in December 2010
as the Chief Investment Officer of the Group and has been appointed as the
Chairman, the Managing Director and an Executive Director of the Company
since 17 December 2010. She is also a member of the executive committee
(“Executive Committee”) and the remuneration committee (“Remuneration
Committee”) of the Board of the Company and a director of some of the
subsidiaries of the Company. Ms LOH has a Master’s degree in Business
Administration from the University of Toronto and a Bachelor’s degree in
Computing Engineering from Imperial College of Science and Technology,
University of London. She has more than 24 years of experience in finance
and investment banking industry. Ms LOH is a director of Winner Global and
the sole director of Assure Gain. She is also the sole shareholder of Assure
Gain and Assure Gain directly holds approximately 43% of the total issued
shares of Winner Global. Winner Global and Assure Gain are the substantial
Shareholders of the Company directly holding approximately 7.08% and
19.36% of the total issued Shares of the Company as at 31 March 2011
respectively. Ms LOH did not hold any other directorships in any other public
listed companies in the last three years and save as disclosed above, does
not have any relationship with any other Directors, senior management or
substantial or controlling Shareholders of the Company.

Ms FLETCHER Yurk Nam, Sandy

Ms FLETCHER Yurk Nam, Sandy, aged 39, joined the Group in August 2009.
She is the Chief Financial Officer of the Group and has been appointed as an
Executive Director of the Company since 17 December 2010. She is also a
member of the Executive Committee and a director of some subsidiaries of
the Company. Ms FLETCHER holds a Bachelor’s degree of Science from St.
Johns University, United States of America. She is a member of the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA). She has over 18 years of
experience in financial and accounting matters including auditing, corporate
finance and asset management. She worked in Ho Chi Minh City in 2006
to focus on real estate investments. Prior to that, Ms FLETCHER was the
managing director of the Asia Pacific office of a private asset management
company with headquarters in New York, specializing in structured equity
investments. She has worked for 10 years in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in
their audit practice in New York and subsequently their corporate finance
practice in Hong Kong. Ms FLETCHER did not hold any other directorships
in any other public listed companies in the last three years and does not have
any relationship with any other Directors, senior management or substantial
or controlling Shareholders of the Company.
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Non-Executive Directors

Mr NG Tik Hong

Mr NG Tik Hong, aged 40, was appointed as a Non-Executive Director
of the Company on 8 October 2010. Mr NG holds a Bachelor’s degree in
accountancy and a Master’s degree of business administration from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is an associate member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr NG is currently the
general manager of the merger & acquisition department of NWS Holdings
Limited (stock code: 659) (“NWS”, a Shareholder of the Company indirectly
holding approximately 9.12% of the total issued Shares of the Company as
at 31 March 2011, whose shares are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange) and also a director of certain subsidiaries of NWS. He has over
16 years’ experience in accounting, financial and project management.
Prior to joining NWS Group, he worked in an international accounting firm.
Save as disclosed above, Mr NG did not hold any other directorships in any
other public listed companies in the last three years and does not have any
relationship with any other Directors, senior management or substantial or
controlling Shareholders of the Company.

Mr LEUNG Chau Ping, Paul

Mr LEUNG Chau Ping, Paul, aged 53, joined the Group in August 2009. He
was appointed as an Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company on 21 August 2009. Mr LEUNG was re-designated as a Non-
Executive Director of the Company on 6 April 2011. Mr LEUNG graduated
from University of Technology, Sydney with a Master’s degree in Business
Administration. Mr LEUNG is a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a member of CPA Australia. Mr LEUNG
has over 29 years of experience in the Australian and Asian internet,
telecommunications, computer, and commercial industries with a board
range of expertise including financial and strategic planning, management,
and business development of new opportunities. Mr LEUNG is also a director
of Winner Global which is a substantial Shareholder of the Company directly
holding approximately 7.08% of the total issued Shares of the Company as
at 31 March 2011. Mr LEUNG did not hold any other directorships in any
other publicly listed companies in the last three years and does not have any
relationship with any other Directors, senior management or substantial or
controlling Shareholders of the Company.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr LEUNG Siu Hung, Joel

Mr LEUNG Siu Hung, Joel, aged 47, has been appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director since 21 August 2009. He is also a member of
the audit committee (“Audit Committee”) of the Board of Company and
Remuneration Committee. Mr LEUNG graduated from the University of
London, University of Hong Kong and Chinese University of Hong Kong
with a Bachelor’s degree in Economics & Accounting, Master’s degree in
Urban Planning and Chinese Business Law respectively. Mr LEUNG is a
Royal Chartered Town Planner, Fellow of American Academy of Financial
Management, Chartered Risk Analyst, Chartered Asset Manager, Chartered
Trust & Estate Planner, Registered Financial Consultant and Certified
Accounting Technician. He is also serving as a senior town planner in China
City Development Institute. Mr LEUNG has over 11 years of professional
experience in law enforcement agencies, such as Hong Kong Police Force,
Correctional Services Department, and Equal Opportunities Commission
where he was mainly responsible for investigation and operational work.
Mr LEUNG is currently the principal financial planner and financial planning
director of Prudential Assurance Co Ltd, a company listed on the Main Board
of the London, New York, Hong Kong and Singapore Stock Exchanges.
Mr LEUNG did not hold any other directorships in any other publicly listed
companies in the last three years and does not have any relationship with any
other Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling Shareholders
of the Company.

Mr KEUNG Paul Hinsum

Mr KEUNG Paul Hinsum, aged 40, has been appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director since 27 July 2010. He is also a member of the
Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Mr KEUNG holds a
Bachelor’s degree of Science from Cornell University and a Master’s degree
of Science from New York University. He is the chief financial officer of
Taomee Holdings Ltd., a listed company on New York Stock Exchange (NYSE:
TAOM). Prior to joining Taomee, Mr. KEUNG was the managing director and
head of Oppenheimer’s Asia Investment Research team, responsible for a
team of analysts focused on various sectors including technology, media
and telecommunications, consumer, industrials, health care and alternative
energy. Prior to that, Mr KEUNG was the chief information officer at Wyndham
Hotels & Resorts, where he facilitated a US$3.5 billion recapitalization and
financial restructuring. His career spans equity research, investment banking
and consulting positions at CIBC World Markets, Deutsche Morgan Grenfell,
Paine Webber, Salomon Brothers and HVS International. Mr KEUNG did not
hold any directorships in any other publicly listed companies in the last three
years and does not have any relationship with any other Directors, senior
management or substantial or controlling Shareholders of the Company.
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Mr John Tewksbury BANIGAN

Mr John Tewksbury BANIGAN, aged 62, has served as an Independent
Non-Executive Director since 23 November 2009. He is also a member
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Mr BANIGAN
graduated from the School of Foreign Service at Georgetown University
with a Bachelor’s degree in International Economics. Mr BANIGAN engages
in international investment banking and corporate advisory services to
private and public operating and fund management companies. He has
had extensive senior management experience related to corporate and
trade finance and investment banking operations in Asia, Latin America and
the United States of America (“U.S.”). Mr BANIGAN has managed mature
financial services operations, formed start-up businesses and consummated
foreign-based joint ventures. He currently serves as a director of the general
partner of a real estate investment vehicle in the People’s Republic of China
(“China”). He is also a director of a China-region oriented hedge fund based
in Hong Kong. Additionally, he is the sole member of two companies which
act as managing members of two affiliated Japanese hedge funds. The latter
companies engage in investment management of long and short positions
and equity derivatives, and securities and other financial instruments,
respectively, in the Japanese market. Mr BANIGAN was a senior vice
president of HSBC, responsible for corporate and trade finance in the eastern
U.S.. He earlier spent 15 years with Chemical Bank where he held diverse
positions. He was the Hong Kong-based Regional Corporate Officer of China,
Hong Kong and Taiwan, Mexico City-based Mexico Country Manager, and
manager of the bank’s U.S. West Coast-based Asian corporate and financial
institution relationships from San Francisco. Earlier assignments included
client management, business development, and risk management positions
in New York. Save as disclosed above, Mr BANIGAN did not hold any other
directorships in any other publicly listed companies in the last three years and
does not have any relationship with any other Directors, senior management
or substantial or controlling Shareholders of the Company.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT & ADVISORY TEAM

Mr SHIH Chiu, David

(President of China Operations)

Mr SHIH Chiu, David, aged 64, is the president of China operations of the
Group. He joined the Group in August 2009. A forest engineer by training,
Mr SHIH has over 27 years of experience in the forestry industry including
harvesting, processing, production and sales and marketing of timber
products in China, Taiwan and Indonesia. He is responsible for the Group’s
overall processing operations and integration in Russia and China. Mr SHIH
worked in the forest products industry in Taiwan and Indonesia before
joining China Chungchun Glory Wood Company in China in 1994. He was a
graduate of National Taiwan Chung-Xin University. Mr SHIH did not hold any
directorships in any other publicly companies in the last three years and does
not have any relationship with any other Directors, senior management or
substantial or controlling Shareholders of the Company.

Mr Jairo Alfonso RAMOS SUAREZ

(Vice President of Field Operations)

Mr Jairo Alfonso RAMOS SUAREZ, aged 40, is the vice president of field
operations of the Group. He joined the Group in November 2009. Mr
RAMOS SUAREZ is a trained mechanical engineer, has more than 15 years
of experience in production, maintenance programming, quality control,
mechanical design, marketing and procurement in tropical timber products
and other materials. Mr RAMOS SUAREZ was in charge of trading of forest
products for a private Columbian company in Shanghai, China from 2006
to 2008. Mr RAMOUS SUAREZ is responsible for the field operations in
Rondonia and Acre. Mr RAMOS SUAREZ did not hold any directorship in
any other publicly listed companies in the last three years and does not have
any relationship with any Directors, senior management or substantial or
controlling Shareholders of the Company.

Mr Telio Vinicius MARASCHIN

(Vice President of Operations and Services)

Mr Telio Vinicius MARASCHIN, aged 31, is the vice president of operations
and services of the Group. He joined the Group in November 2010. Mr
MARASCHIN has 7 years of experience in international and domestic
lumber trade, supplying customers overseas. He has expertise in flooring,
furniture and veneer market, and overall knowledge of the lumber industry
and operations. His industry network covers manufacturers and distributors
of lumber in Argentina, Uruguay, US, Italy, Spain, Belgium, Netherlands,
Portugal, Germany, China, Malaysia, Paraguay, Mexico, Canada, and Brazil.
Mr MARASCHIN did not hold any directorship in any other publicly listed
companies in the last three years and does not have any relationship with any
Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling Shareholders of
the Company.
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Mr Lauro Arthur Guimaraes de Sa RIBEIRO

(Legal Counsel)

Mr. Lauro Arthur Guimaraes de Sa RIBEIRO, aged 39, is the legal counsel of
the Group. He joined the Group in November 2010. Mr RIBEIRO is a member
of the Brazilian Bar Association (OAB/PR) since 1994. Mr RIBEIRO has
over 18 years of experience in legal issues with a broad range of expertise
including tax law, corporate law and M&A activities. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr RIBEIRO worked as in-house legal counsel for GVT, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of French Vivendi Group in Brazil and prior to that, Risa, a large
Brazilian company in food industry. Mr RIBEIRO was also a tax law professor
at UNERJ — Centro de Ensino Superior de Jaragua do Sul and company
law professor at UFPR — Universidade Federal do Parana. Mr RIBEIRO has
a Master’s degree in business administration, with majority in Company and
Economy Law from FGV/RJ — Fundacao Getulio Vargas. Mr RIBEIRO did
not hold any directorship in any other publicly listed companies in the last
three years and does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management or substantial or controlling Shareholders of the Company.

Mr LI Zhixiong

Mr LI Zhixiong, aged 39, joined the Group as an advisor to the Group in
March 2011. Mr LI has over 21 years of manufacturing and sales experience
of wood products in China. He specializes in wood flooring, and has
developed and registered the patent of ‘curve flooring’” in China. Mr LI found
a company specializing manufacturing and sales of wood products and
flooring products in the PRC, namely New Oasis Wood Industry Co., Ltd. in
Zhongshan in China in 2001. He also created the brand name “New Oasis”
which has succeeded to become one of the highest quality flooring products
in China. The brand ranked 3rd in, flooring category, by “Top Ten Brands in
China” in May 2011 and was awarded “China’s 500 Most Valuable Brands”
of the year 2010 by the World Brand Laboratory. Mr LI did not hold any
directorships in any other publicly listed companies in the last three years and
does not have any relationship with any other Directors, senior management
or substantial or controlling Shareholders of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

In order to maintain high standards of corporate governance, the Company
has adopted and complied with the code provisions set out in the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (“Code Provisions”) as set out in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules throughout the financial year ended 31 March 2011
except for certain deviations which are mentioned below.

The Company periodically reviews its corporate governance practices to
ensure that it continues to meet the requirements under the Code Provisions.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

As at 31 March 2011, the Board comprised seven Directors in total, with
three Executive Directors, one Non-Executive Director and three Independent
Non-Executive Directors. Following the re-designation of Mr LEUNG Chau
Ping, Paul from the position as an Executive Director to a Non-Executive
Director on 6 April 2011, as at the date of this report, the Board comprised
seven Directors with two Executive Directors, two Non-Executive Directors
and three Independent Non-Executive Directors. There is no family or other
material relationship (including financial and business) among members of
the Board. Composition of the Board including the names and categories of
Directors, is set out on page 2 of this report. The brief biographical details
of each Director are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management & Advisory Team” on pages 47 to 52 of
this report. Each Director possesses the necessary expertise and experience
and provides checks and balances for safeguarding the interests of the Group
and the Shareholders as a whole. The Company has during the year ended
31 March 2011 maintained a balanced board composition.

During the year, the Independent Non-Executive Directors provided the Group
with a wide range of expertise and experience. Their active participation in
the Board and committee meetings brought independent judgment on issues
relating to the Group’s strategy, performance and management process,
taking into account the interests of all Shareholders.

During the year under review, the Company has three Independent Non-
Executive Directors representing not less than one-third of the Board. More
than one of the Independent Non-Executive Directors, being Mr KEUNG Paul
Hinsum and Mr Leung Siu Hung, Joel, have the appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise as
required under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. The Company has received
from each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors a written confirmation
of his independence and has satisfied itself of such independence up to the
approval date of this report in accordance with the independent guidelines
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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Board Meetings

The Board conducts meetings on a regular basis and on an ad hoc basis
of at least four times a year to discuss the overall strategy as well as the
operation and financial performance of the Group, and to review and approve
the Group’s annual and interim results. Board members are provided with
all agendas and adequate information for their review at least 3 days before
the meetings. After the meeting, draft minutes are circulated to all Directors
for comments before confirmation and sign-off. Minutes of board meetings
and meetings of board committees are kept by the company secretary of
the Company (“Company Secretary”) and are available for inspection by any
Director at any reasonable time on reasonable notice. Each Director is entitled
to seek independent professional advice under appropriate circumstances
at the expense of the Company. During the year, 13 Board meetings were
held and attendance of each Director at the Board meetings is set out in the
paragraph headed “Board Committees” below.

Responsibilities of the Board and Delegation of Work

The Board is accountable to the Shareholders for the development of the
Group with the goal of maximizing Shareholders’ value in the long run. The
Board also takes the responsibility for the overall strategies and policies of the
Group, approves and monitors the strategic plans, investment and funding
decisions, and reviews the Group’s financial and operational performance.
The Group’s day-to-day operations and administration are overseen by the
Executive Directors and the senior management.

The Board is responsible for setting the strategic direction and policies of
the Group and supervisory our management. Some functions including the
monitoring and approval of material transactions, matters involving a conflict
of interest for a substantial Shareholder or Director of the Company, the
approval of the interim and annual results and other disclosures to the public
or regulators are reserved by the Board for consideration and approval.
Matters not specially reserved to the Board and necessary for the daily
management and operation of the Company are delegated to the Executive
Committee and senior management of the Company.

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance

The Directors of the Company are fully insured under the directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance policy for indemnification against costs, charges,
losses, expenses and liabilities that may be incurred by them in the execution
and discharge of their duties.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under the Code Provision A.2.1, the roles of chairman (“Chairman”) and chief
executive officer (“CEQ”) should be separated and performed by different
individuals. The roles of the Chairman and the CEO of the Company are
segregated and are clearly defined to ensure their respective independence,
accountability and responsibilities. The Chairman of the Company is
responsible for the formulation of the Group’s overall business development
policies while the CEO of the Company is responsible for the implementation
of major decisions of the Board and overall management of the Group’s
businesses.
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Since the commencement of the current financial year up to 17 December
2010, the position of the Chairman has not been appointed by the Board. The
functions of the Chairman were, during such period, performed by Mr LEUNG
Chau Ping, Paul, the then CEO of the Company, with support from the other
Executive Directors and senior management of the Company. The Board
considers that this structure has not impaired the balance of power and
authority between the Board and the management of the Company, and has
been effective in discharging its responsibilities satisfactorily and facilitating
the Company’s operation and business development. On 17 December
2010, Ms LOH Jiah Yee, Katherine was appointed as the Chairman of the
Company. Since 17 December 2010 up to the end of this financial year, the
role of Chairman of the Company has been performed by Ms LOH Jiah Yee,
Katherine and the role of the CEO of the Company has been taken by Mr
LEUNG Chau Ping, Paul. Since 6 April 2011, upon which Mr LEUNG Chau
Ping, Paul has resigned as the CEO of the Company, and up to the date of
this report, the position of the CEO has not been appointed. During such
period, the functions of the CEO have been performed by the Executive
Directors with the assistance of the senior management of the Company. The
Board considers that such structure does not impair the balance of power
and authority between the Board and the management of the Company.
The Board will however regularly review the effectiveness of this structure to
ensure that such structure is appropriate in view of the Group’s prevailing
circumstances.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Every newly appointed Director will receive an induction package from the
Company Secretary on the first occasion of his/her appointment, including
materials briefly describing the operations and business of the Company
and the latest published financial reports of the Company. Directors will be
continuously updated on any major developments of the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of
good corporate governance practices.

All Non-Executive Directors of the Company were appointed for a specific
term of 2 years but subject to the relevant provisions of the Bye-laws or any
other applicable laws whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from their
office but eligible for re-election.

According to the Bye-laws, each Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy
shall be subject to re-election at the next following general meeting or until
the next following AGM in case of an addition to the Board and shall then be
eligible for re-election at such meeting. Moreover, one-third of the Directors
for the time being, (or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then
the number nearest to but not greater than one-third), shall retire from office
by rotation, provided that every Director (including those appointed for a
specific term but excluding those holding office as Chairman or Managing
Director) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years. Every Director holding the office of Chairman or Managing Director
shall be subject to re-election once every three years. The rotating Directors
who are subject to retirement and re-election at the forthcoming AGM are set
out on page 33.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has established three board committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Executive Committee,
to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs and to assist in the
execution of the Board'’s responsibilities. All board committees have clear and
specific written terms of reference and they report their work to the Board
after each meeting. Copies of minutes of all meetings and resolutions passed
at the board committees are kept by the Company Secretary.

The Company has not established a nomination committee at present.
According to the Bye-laws, the Board is empowered to appoint any person
as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board.
The full Board is responsible for the selection and approval of candidates for
appointment as Directors to the Board taking into account their qualifications
and professional experiences. The Board will evaluate regularly the need to
appoint additional Directors with appropriate professional knowledge and
experience. During the year under review, Ms LOH Jiah Yee, Katherine and
Ms FLETCHER Yurk Nam, Sandy were appointed as the Executive Directors,
Mr NG Tik Hong was appointed as a Non-Executive Director and Mr KEUNG
Paul Hinsum was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director. The
Board had taken into consideration the qualifications, experiences of each
of the above Directors as well as the requirements of the Group as a whole
before recommending and approving the above candidates to the Board.

Audit Committee

As at 31 March 2011 and the date of this report, the Audit Committee
comprised three members, namely Mr LEUNG Siu Hung, Joel (chairman of
the Audit Committee), Mr John Tewksbury BANIGAN and Mr KEUNG Paul
Hinsum (appointed on 27 July 2010) and all of them are Independent Non-
Executive Directors. Mr CHU Kin Wang, Peleus ceased to be a member of the
Audit Committee on 31 August 2010 upon his retirement as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to review and supervise the Company’s financial reporting and
internal control systems. The Audit Committee also provides an important link
between the Board and the Company’s auditors in matters within the scope
of the financial audit of the Group.

During the year, the Audit Committee held 2 meetings together with senior
management and the external auditor. The attendance details of each
member are set out on page 59. The Audit Committee has reviewed the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, reviewed the
financial statements for the interim and final results for the year ended
31 March 2011 and discussed the internal controls together with the
management.

The Audit Committee and the Board have not taken a different view regarding
the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external auditors of
the Company.
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Remuneration Committee

As at 31 March 2011, the Remuneration Committee comprised Mr LEUNG
Chau Ping, Paul, Mr LEUNG Siu Hung, Joel, Mr John Tewksbury BANIGAN
and Mr KEUNG Paul Hinsum with Mr LEUNG Chau Ping, Paul acted as
its chairman. Following the re-designation of Mr LEUNG Chau Ping, Paul
from the position as an Executive Director to a Non-Executive Director and
his resignation, among other positions, as a member of the Remuneration
Committee on 6 April 2011, Ms LOH Jiah Yee, Katherine was appointed a
member of the Remuneration Committee since the same date. As at the date
of this report, the Remuneration Committee comprised Ms LOH Jiah Yee,
Katherine, Mr LEUNG Siu Hung, Joel, Mr John Tewksbury BANIGAN and Mr
KEUNG Paul Hinsum. Ms LOH Jiah Yee, Katherine has acted as the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee since 6 April 2011. The Remuneration
Committee was established with specific written terms of reference to review
and give recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policy of the
Directors and senior management. The remuneration of all the Directors and
senior management is subject to regular monitoring by the Remuneration
Committee. To determine the emoluments of Directors, the Remuneration
Committee takes into consideration factors such as salaries of directors
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the
Directors. The Remuneration Committee ensures that no Director is involved
in deciding his/her own remuneration. During the year, the Remuneration
Committee held 3 meetings, the attendance records of each member
are set out on page 59. During the year under review, the Remuneration
Committee had recommended to the Board the remuneration policy and
service contracts of newly appointed Directors, and reviewed the existing
remuneration policy and packages of all existing Directors and senior
management. Details of the Directors’ remuneration for the year under review
are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

Executive Committee

As at the date of this report, the Executive Committee comprised Ms LOH
Jiah Yee, Katherine and Ms FLETCHER Yurk Nam, Sandy. The Executive
Committee was established with specific written terms of reference to review
and give recommendations to the Board on the daily operation of the Group
from the time to time. The Executive Committee held 35 meetings during the
year under review, attendance records of each member are set out on page
59.
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The individual attendance records of each Director at the meetings of the
Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Executive Committee
during the year ended 31 March 2011 are set out below:
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Number of meetings attended/held
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Name of Directors

BEpg
Executive Directors: HiTES
MS LOH Jiah Yee, Katherine BRELLT
(Chairman and Managing Director) (FEREFELHE)
(appointed on 17 December 2010) (RZZ-ZEF A+ +REZT)
Ms FLETCHER Yurk Nam, Sandy EEBRL
(appointed on 17 December 2010) (RZZ2-ZE+ A+ +REZT)
Mr LEUNG Chau Ping, Paul RIFEE
(re-designated as a Non-Executive Director (R =Z——F WA HATA
on 6 April 2011) FRITES)
Mr Leandro Dos Martires GUERRA Leandro Dos Martires GUERRA %t 4
(Chief Operating Officer) (BEEERE)

(resigned on 24 February 2011) (RZE——F A Z+TWHET)

Mr CHIU Raymond Yim HACEE

(Chief Information Officer) (BERAEH)

(retired on 31 August 2010) (N—ZE-ZFENA=+—HEM)
Non-Executive Director: FHTES !
Mr NG Tik Hong RIAFRFEAE

(appointed on 8 October 2010) (R=Z-ZTETAN\BEZA)

Independent Non-Executive Directors: B #TEE :

Mr LEUNG Siu Hung, Joel R FE
Mr John Tewksbury BANIGAN John Tewksbury BANIGAN %t £
Mr KEUNG Paul Hinsum ZBREE
(appointed on 27 July 2010) (RZE-ZFLA-TLHEZT)
Mr CHU Kin Wang, Peleus KEREE
(retired on 31 August 2010) (RZZE-ZFENAZ+—HEMD)
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ERELHRSE

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific enquiries of
all Directors, all Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required
standards set out in the Model Code during the year ended 31 March 2011.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation and the
true and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2011, in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and the applicable disclosure
requirements of the Listing Rules. In preparing the financial statements, the
Directors have adopted IFRSs and suitable accounting policies and applied
them consistency, made judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair and
reasonable and prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.
No material uncertainties relating to any events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern
were identified by the Directors during the course of preparing and reviewing
the financial statements for the year under review.

The reporting responsibility of the external auditor of the Company on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group are set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 63 to 64 of this report.

External Auditor’'s Remuneration

For the year ended 31 March 2011, the fees in respect of audit and non-
audit services provided to the Group by the external auditor amounted to
approximately HK$1,518,000 (2010: HK$2,079,000) and HK$485,000 (2010:
HK$653,000), respectively. The non-audit service fee mainly consisted of fees
in relation to reviewing the interim report and results of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2011.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining a sound and effective system
of internal control. The internal control system helps to ensure effective
measures are in place to protect the Group’s assets and maintain the
accounting records and the compliance with relevant legislation and
regulations.

During the financial year under review, the Board has reviewed operational
and financial reports in order to ensure the effectiveness and adequacy of the
internal control system through the Audit Committee.
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Corporate Governance Report

ERELIRS
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS HERRZER

The Company endeavors to provide its Shareholders accurate, clear, AR FFEBTIEEER ~ A MEK - LB BAR
comprehensive and timely information of the Group via the publication A R49uL » B H M EIREIRMEERE - SH - 2/
of annual reports, announcements and circulars as well as through the — EdiER; 7 REBEEH

Company’s website.

The AGM is a useful forum for the Board to communicate directly with the REBAFEASAESTeEENREER BT
Shareholders. The Directors, senior executives and external auditor make & o 8®E % - ZRITHA S RINEZEEIHFER
their best effort to attend the AGM of the Company to answer any questions — f¢HEA A G R EEE A S - I R IE BT [AIR

from the Shareholders. f e

On behalf of the Board REESE

Ms LOH Jiah Yee, Katherine FEREFLEE

Chairman & Managing Director BRELT

Hong Kong, 28 June 2011 BEE ZE——FA=Z+\H
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BB E

A\ Crowe Horwath.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
SUSTAINABLE FOREST HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sustainable Forest
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”)
set out on pages 66 to 190, which comprise the consolidated and company
statements of financial position as at 31 March 2011, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

BEEEE (&) SMEHEMERATE
Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited

Member Crowe Horwath International

&S 7 118335 A E 3412
34/F The Lee Gardens,

33 Hysan Avenue,

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
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Independent Auditor’s Report
% 3 1% BB 3R

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March
2011, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and have been
properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 28 June 2011

Alvin Yeung Sik Hung
Practising Certificate Number P05206
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Consolidated Income Statement

el

For the year ended 31 March 2011 &#{Z T ——

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA/8 4 271))

FZA=+—HILFE

2011 2010
—E2——F —E-%F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Hiax BEET T BT T
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BESEER
REVENUE 7 866,655 263,063
Cost of sales $HE A (362,156) (144,197)
GROSS PROFIT 504,499 118,866
Other income HAa g A 8 501 4,089
Other net (loss)/gain Hih (B518), Wk F58 8 (145,927) 233
Selling and distribution costs HE R Ak AN (3,352) (3,191)
Administrative expenses TTEE (88,003) (42,760)
Other operating expenses HEfhEEmy 9 (179) (6,059)
Change in fair value of biological assets EYEE AT EZER
less costs to sell SHE A 20 250,243 369,980
PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS RERR 517,782 441,158
Finance income AW A 63 957
Finance costs mEEA (10,831) (11,912
Net finance costs mEE R FE 10(a) (10,768) (10,955)
PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION R AT E R 10 507,014 430,203
Income tax S5 13(a) (150,482) (132,833)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM FEREEK
CONTINUING OPERATIONS FERF 356,532 297,370
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS BARIEER
Loss for the year from discontinued operations =42 |F ¥ 7%~ E[E &5 18 14 (15,039) (23,027)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEEF 341,493 274,343
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: :
Owners of the Company RAREAA 341,486 273,303
Non-controlling interests R R R 7 1,040
341,493 274,343
Earnings per share BREF
From continuing and discontinued operations — $3 45 48 & ¥ 7% [z B 4% | |- ¥ 7% 17
— Basic — B 9.86 cents fill 19.64 cents 1l
— Diluted — 5.30cents fill  6.60 cents 1l
From continuing operations gy 17
— Basic — EX 10.30 cents {li 21.37 cents 1l
— Diluted — B 5.53 cents fill  7.18 cents 1l
The notes on pages 75 to 190 form part of these consolidated financial 75 B E$ 190 B 7 Mt Bt Hir A M B HRE
statements. Z—EB5 e
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

FReZEBRR

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ - ——F=A=+—HBItFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA78 4 2751])

2011 2010
—Z——F —ZT-FF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
BiaE BT T BT TT
Profit for the year FEERA 341,493 274,343
Other comprehensive income Httzms=
Exchange differences on translation of HME TGN B R T RS
financial statements of overseas subsidiaries  E4 7 [ 5 =58 39 86,014 792
Reclassification adjustment for exchange EALEEIMB AR ZELZ5E
difference relating to disposal of B EFE
overseas subsidiaries 41 - (3,185)
86,014 (2,393)
Income tax relating to components of BREEMEEmKSAKITD
other comprehensive income 2 FTEH 13(c) - -
Other comprehensive income/(loss) FREMEEEE (EE) - kR
for the year, net of tax g 86,014 (2,393)
Total comprehensive income for the year FRAZHEKIFHETE 427,507 271,950
Total comprehensive income attributable to: LU~ A T EE 2 E RS % :
Owners of the Company VIN/NEIE ZS DN 427,493 270,898
Non-controlling interests eI IR R A 14 1,052
427,507 271,950
The notes on pages 75 to 190 form part of these consolidated financial 5575 B E 5190 B 7 MK I 458 BB R E
statements. 25 e
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

fn e MBI R

At31 March 2011 RA-Z——F=A=+—H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (A& 271])

2011 2010
—E——F T -TF
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
Bt BET T BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BENEKRE 18 231,846 201,293
Intangible assets mZAE 19 - -
Biological assets EYEE 20 1,173,150 833,323
Goodwill ma 21 1,686,883 1,686,883
Deposit for purchase of property, WHE 2 - RS ek A
plant and equipment ZE® 23 30,336 9,541
3,122,215 2,731,040
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 24 241,980 253,050
Trade and other receivables FEUCE 5 7138 N Eoth E U I8 25 519,289 14,290
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRSEEY 26 23,679 36,820
784,948 304,160
Assets classified as held for sale DEARBEFEEE 27 279,828 303,036
1,064,776 607,196
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and other payables FERTE 5 5038 K E Ath FE T kIR 28 199,286 125,059
Loans and borrowings BERLEs 29 18,230 209
Consideration payables FERRE 31 - 93,933
Finance leases payables FERTRE D 30 100 —
Provision for taxation T TE S 33(a) 49,456 7,354
Promissory notes ZCNEEE 36 - 24,617
267,072 251,172
Liabilities associated with assets WO ABIEREEE
classified as held for sale EfzAE 27 70,856 98,923
337,928 350,095
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEZRE 726,848 257,101
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBDER
LIABILITIES 3,849,063 2,988,141
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MBI R

At31 March 2011 R - ZE——F=fA=+—H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA7& % 2751])

2011 2010
—ZE——F —ZT—FF
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
BiaE BT T BT TT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEME
Loans and borrowings BRkEE 29 88 297
Amounts due to shareholders FERIR R IR 34 131,527 117,936
Amounts due to related companies JETREE R A ZIE 35 - 54,001
Finance leases payables ERTBEELY 30 350 —
Promissory notes AT EE 36 6,388 —
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEE & 33(b) 454,341 309,187
592,694 481,511
NET ASSETS BEFE 3,256,369 2,506,630
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EAXR#E
Share capital N 37 359,324 322,855
Reserves & 39(a) 2,896,969 2,183,713
Total equity attributable to the owners KRATEE AEMN
of the Company ARE 3,256,293 2,506,568
Non-controlling interests IEIERR IR R 39(a) 76 62
TOTAL EQUITY HmRER 3,256,369 2,506,630

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 June

2011.

On behalf of the board

LOH Jiah Yee, Katherine
®RHE
Director

EE

The notes on pages 75 to 190 form part of these consolidated financial

statements.

MEFEN T ——FAA T \BHE R
3 -

REXE=E

FLETCHER Yurk Nam, Sandy
S

Director

FETEAEEF10 B ZMEBRIL SRV ERE

\
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Statement of Financial Position

ISR =

At31 March 2011 RA-Z——F=A=+—H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (A& 271])

2011 2010
—E——F —ET-TF
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
Mz BT T BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y BB NGB 18 690 1,011
Interest in subsidiaries B BB A Al = 22 2,504,694 2,201,098
2,505,384 2,202,109
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Trade and other receivables JRUNE 55108 N H b e WA 25 1,435 1,162
Cash and cash equivalents Be MReEEY 26 1,423 21,032
2,858 22,194
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAE
Trade and other payables FEfT B 53R IE R H A T OB 28 1,907 1,561
Promissory notes AT ERE 36 - 24,617
1,907 26,178
NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) REBEE (AR FE 951 (3,984)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBAR
LIABILITIES 2,506,335 2,198,125
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY kREBEE
Promissory notes ZI RS 36 6,388 —
NET ASSETS EEFE 2,499,947 2,198,125
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARHE
Share capital N 37 359,324 322,855
Reserves i 39(b) 2,140,623 1,875,270
TOTAL EQUITY MRS 2,499,947 2,198,125

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 June

2011.

On behalf of the board

LOH Jiah Yee, Katherine
HRE
Director

EF

The notes on pages 75 to 190 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FREREEE

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ - ——F=A=+—HBItFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA78 4 2751])

Attributable to the owners of the Company
KATHENELR
(Acoumu-
lated
Distri- Capital Property Fair  Exchange Share osses)/ Non-
butable  redemption  revaluation valug  fluctuation option Retained controling
Share Share  Contributed Teserve reserve reserve reserve reserve Teserve profits interests Total
captl  premium sups  AEAE RARE  EER AFE  ERED BRE (ZBE)/ St FEERBRE equity
BE RbEE  E8ER 4 1 G G i B R2EH it 5 as
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BETn BETr BETn BETr EETn EETn BT BT BT BETn ¥t BT
At 1 April 2009 21511 213628 85,053 2216 8,000 100 8,783 3,072 - (176,135) 166,228 14114 180,342
Profitfor the year - - - - - - - - - 273303 273,303 1,040 274,343
Disposal of subsidlaries LENBAR 41 - - - - - (100) (8,783) (3,185) - 8,883 (3,185 - (3,185)
Exchange differences on BEBNHBAT
translation of financial BHREL
statements of overseas EXZE
subsidiaries - - - - - - - 780 - - 780 12 79
Total other comprehensive 2B (EE) i
oss)income ok - - - - - (100 B8 40 - 8883 (2.405) 12 239)
Total comprehensive (oss)/ AEERE(BE)/ Wi
income for the year &5 - - - - - (100) 8783 (2.405) - 282,186 270,898 1,092 271,950
Transactions with owners AREAETIRS
Placement of new shares REFRR 37(0) 44,409 223,700 - - - - - - - - 268,109 - 268,109
Shares issue expenses ROBTEL - 8.275) - - - - - - - - 8.275) - (8.279)
Issuance of convertble ETRRERRA
preference shares 370) 249,085 [ | 1,528,989 - - - - - - - — || 1,778,074 — || 1,778,074
Consideration shares issued for — SEREMBARET
aoquisiion of subsidiaries RERD 37(d) 7,850 51810 - - - - - - - - 59,660 - 59,660
Deemed capital distribution BERAAR 36 - - (30,283) - - - - - - - (30,283) - (30,283
Issuance of share options HTRRE - - - - - - - - 2157 - 2,187 - 2157
Forfaiture of share options BhERE - - - - - - - - (152) 152 - - -
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-RHBAT 41 - - - - - - - - - - - (15,131) (15,131)
Acquistion of a subsidiary WE-EHEAR 40 - - - - - - - - - - - 27 27
Tota transactons with owners BB AT R 5128 M3 179624 (30289 - - - - - 2005 152 2069442 (15104 2054338
At 31 March 2010 WZE-2F=f=1-H 322855 2,009,852 54770 2216 8,000 - - 667 2,006 106,203 2,506,568 62 2506630
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

ReERBnR

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #E - T —— &= A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA/8 4 271))

Attributable to the owners of the Company

RAREEAERE
Distri- Capital  Exchange Share Non-
butable redemption fluctuation option controlling
Share Share Contributed reserve reserve reserve reserve  Retained interests Total
capital  premium  suplus  AHEAE  KAER EXK® BhE profits ~ Sub-total  FERRE equity
KE  ROEE EH2% i il & BE  REEN it 3] aEs
Note HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$000  HKS'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
i3 A¥Tn  B¥Tn  EETr  EMTn BETn BMTn BNt BETn BETn  BMTn B¥Tn
At 1 April 2010 R-% 322,855 2,009,852 54,770 2,216 8,000 667 2,005 106,203 2,506,568 62 2,506,630
Proft for the year EERF - - - - - - — 341485 341,486 7 31493
Exchange differences on BEBMNIBLR
tranglation of financial statements  B1EHEL
of overseas subsidiaries EXEE - - - - - 86,007 - - 86,007 7 86,014
Total other comprehensive income Rt 2 EEEE - - - - - 86,007 - - 86,007 7 86,014
Total comprehensive income rEERENEEE
for the year - - - - - 86,007 - 341,486 427,493 14 421,507
Transactions with owners BEEANETIRS
Placement of new shares RENMRH 37Mh) 21,973 || 184,027 - - - - - -] 206,000 -] 206,000
Shares issue expenses DOESGEH - (15,450) - - - - - - (15,450) - (15,450)
Issuance of convertible BITRRELRN
preference shares 31 14,020 127,934 (48,021) - - - - - 93,933 - 93,933
Deemed capital distribution IREMEEELZ
arfsing from settlement of BIEREH R
promissory notes 36 - - (1,746) - - - - - (1,746) - (1,746)
Deemed capital contribution —ZIBRRRGEE
arfsing from waiver of labilties by~ ME4ZEBETE
a substantial shareholder 390l - - 5,000 - - - - - 5,000 - 5,000
Issuance of share options BiTERE - - - - - - 31,154 - 31,154 - 31,154
Forfeiture of share options RIER R - - - - - - (2,311) 2,311 - - -
Shares isse Upon exercise of FRRERETRN
share options 37(k) 476 4,402 - - - - (1,537) - 3,341 - 3,341
Total transactions with owners BREANETIRG0E 36,469 300,913 (44,767) - - - 27,306 2,311 322,232 - 322,232
A3 March 2011 WoE-——%=f=+-A 369324 2310765 10,003 2216 8000 86674 29311 450000 3256293 6 3256369
The notes on pages 75 to 190 form part of these consolidated financial 5575 B E 5190 B 7 M s I £ 454 BB R E
statements. 287 o
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Consolidated Statement of Gash Flows
Mel&RKER

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ - ——F=A=+—HBItFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA78 4 2751])

2011 2010
—=E——F —E-TF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Hfax BET T R IT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES & & %K R & 7 E
Profit before taxation B A A A
— Continuing operations —FHEE R TS 507,014 430,203
— Discontinued operations —BRIFER (15,634) (24,960
Adjustments for: KT -
Amortisation of land lease premium T+ i AH E B 5 - 3
Amortisation of intangible assets A E Y 10(c), 19 - 6,540
Finance costs A A 10(a) 10,831 12,619
Finance income BE WA 10(a) (63) (962)
Loss on disposal of discontinued HEBKRIEERZEIE
operations 41 - 12,468
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE  BENERE
plant and equipment Z &8 9 151 7
Depreciation E 1,450 2,947
Write-down of inventories WREFEE 9, 24 1,000 206
Write-off of inventories MiEESs 24 272,482 -
Waiver of liabilities by creditors BREABRRBE 8 (108,274) —
Write-off of deposit paid to a supplier MeEm—BHER YN 22 10(c) 44 -
Write-off of intangible assets MEHEmE EE 9 9,926 —
Write-off of other receivables il 1 EL b e L FRE 424 137
Exchange difference, net (R pasycpeck ) (5,475) (710)
Share-based payment AR A+ 38 31,154 2,157
Change in fair value of biological assets EMEEANTFEZER
less costs to sell SHERA 20 (250,243) (369,980)
Operating profit before changes in KRETEBESEEA 2 L& HF
working capital 454,787 70,675
Increase in inventories FEEM (239,871) (251,102)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and FEUE 5 7R I8 I E At FE W R IE
other receivables (42 hn),E (500,067) 22,312
Increase in trade and other payables FE(T B 5508 KR H A S 5B
140 167,416 28,427
Cash used in operations REERRHES (117,735) (129,688)
Income tax paid BT
— Hong Kong Profits Tax paid — BERBEBFER - (100)
— Hong Kong Profits Tax refund — HENERIER — 398
— Overseas tax paid — BEfEINRIA - (26)
- 272
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING REXBRETHFE
ACTIVITIES (117,735) (129,416)
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Consolidated Statement of Gash Flows

FalleaiBR

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HE - T——% =
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA/8 4 271))

—t—ALFEE

2011 2010
—E2——F —E—FF
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
Hfax BT T BT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZFERERE
Payment to acquire property, BAME - BE&&FE
plant and equipment pANE-N 18 (1,531) (7,073)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - BEMRE
plant and equipment FRESINE] 20 276
Deposit for acquisition of property, BB - BB MR B
plant and equipment ZE® (19,908) (6,939)
Net cash inflow from disposal of subsidiaries HERBARZIRS
TEACEZA 41 - 26,488
Net cash outflow from acquisition of WM B AR 2 RE R FEE
subsidiaries 40 - (44,033)
Decrease in pledged bank deposits BHEARITIFFOR D — 50,518
Interest received 28 63 962
NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED FROM ®&EZEHE (RE) HTAEE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES (21,286) 20,199
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES B4&E 85 &7
Proceeds from placement and subscription of B2 & KRB (D 2 FT1S 208
shares (net of expenses) (HBRFS) 37(h) 190,550 259,834
Repayment of promissory notes EPENS H;}-Eﬁ)i 36 (20,822) (205,000)
Loans and borrowings raised FTESERNEE 16,359 9,161
Repayment of loans and borrowings 18 @%M}Sﬂﬁ% (15,874) (27,607)
Advance from shareholders N 137,387 57,550
Advance from related companies RN EAE - 3,106
Repayment of amounts due to shareholders {38 fE{~t ISR 3B (130,057) (189)
Repayment of amounts due to EIRFEREATIRIA
related companies (54,809) (10,870)
Interest paid =ENEES (719) (739)
Proceeds from issue of shares upon the 1TE BB AR BT AR (D
exercise of share options TS RIA 3,341 -
Proceeds from finance lease payables FﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁZ%ﬁﬁ 500 -
Interest element of finance lease payments BB RIE 2 FE (6) -
Capital element of finance lease payments @ﬁﬁ%%ﬁZﬁK%% (50) -
NET CASH GENERATED FROM RMETHRESRAER
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 125,800 85,246
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND ReENBESEEY
CASH EQUIVALENTS WA EEE (13,221) (23,971)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FHNRERALSEEY
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 36,822 60,732
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE EREFH o FE
RATE CHANGES 79 61
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ERESRASEEY
AT END OF YEAR 26 23,680 36,822
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH ReRREEEYEFIM
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReEEY 26 23,679 36,820
Cash and bank balances classified as PERFEREZRER
held for sale RITHETT 27 1 2
23,680 36,822
The notes on pages 75 to 190 form part of these consolidated financial 2575 8 £ 5 190 B 2 M sH @K L Si2 A B e
statements. Z—#n e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

i & B 35 8 5 Bl 5

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ - ——F=A=+—HBItFE

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Sustainable Forest Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and its ordinary shares are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the subsidiaries of the Company comprise tree
felling service and sustainable forest management. Details are set out in
Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

These financial statements had been prepared in accordance with all
applicable International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual International Financial
Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and
interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB”). These financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provision of the Rules (the “Listing Rules”) Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) is set out below.

The IASB has issued certain amendments and interpretations which are
or have become effective. It has also issued certain new and revised
IFRSs which are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 4 provides information
on initial application of these developments to the extent that they
are relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these financial statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

(a) Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2011 comprise the Group.

[tems included in the financial statements of each entity in the
Group are measured using the currency that best reflects the
economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances
relevant to the entity. These financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), rounded to the nearest thousand
except for per share data. Hong Kong dollar is the Company’s
functional and presentation currency.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except that the biological
assets and buildings held for own use are stated at their fair value
as explained in the accounting policies set out in Note 3(g) and
3(e), respectively.

DNAEH
KRMEZERBRQA(NARRA ] RIE
—NN—FBERERRVEAEBREZLMAK
UREHRRBERRAR - KRR ZEBBRAE
BEMARZ S AR AR ([HBAH]) TR
£

ARBZEIBEBRREER  ENEAR
Az TR EBBREEARRSE KA 5 &R
BIE o HITEN A M B IREM 22 -

BREH
MBHREIREEREFENZE S ([E
BRERTENZE S ) RMZ A B ER
M mEER([BERAHHEER DER
BIEFTA B A Z 8 5 B R B S 3RS 2RI
HER R (BT £ ) haeg -
HZERBRETETEERERIMAR
REFEF TR ETRE) ZERE
B UAREERRUED ZRERTE -
ARA REKE DR (5 [ AREE )RR
ZEZEHBRMBEN T

BERErEIZ B ERBME TRIEEAX
FREERZ BT REE  RERMET
Ha] RAMERT BRI I i 5 Rl - % F 2%
AR AREE Z Ag st i B R AR
HIRF R - 4B BR AP B REN
ARG HE RAE ST HEVIRERZ
SFHEARAEBZERZER -

TESEBRBSE
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MEERERO T EEREER
Sh o BETDARBZNREEERZT
B -

R RE TR EEERESLK
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBEREME

For the year ended 31 March 2011 B ZE —T——F=A=+—HItFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

076

(@

(b)

KERMEZRERA A

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(Continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRSs
that have significant effect on the financial statements and
estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next
year are discussed in Note 5.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists
when the Group has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from
its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that
presently are exercisable are taken into account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances and transactions and any unrealized profits arising from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence
of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect
of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the
holders of those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each business
combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at their proportionate share of the
subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MEREME

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ - ——F=A=+—HBItFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)
Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from
equity attributable to the owners of the Company. Non-controlling
interests in the results of the Group are presented on the face
of the consolidated income statement and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as an allocation of the total
profit or loss.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from
equity attributable to the owners of the company. Non-controlling
interests in the results of the Group are presented on the face
of the consolidated income statement and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as an allocation of the
total profit or loss. Total comprehensive income is attributed to
the owners of the company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance. Loans from holders of non-controlling interests
and other contractual obligations towards these holders are
presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result
in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions,
whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling
and non-controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect
the change in relative interests, but no adjustments are made to
goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date when control
is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset or, when
appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see
Note 3(i), unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 B ZE —T——F=A=+—HItFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

078

(©)

KERMEZRERA A

Business combinations

Acquisitions of business are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of
the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs
are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed are recognised at their acquisition date fair
values, except that:

° deferred tax asset or liability arising from the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination
and the potential tax effects of temporary differences and
carry forwards of an acquiree that exist at the acquisition
date or arise as a result of acquisition are recognised and
measured in accordance with IAS12 Income Tax;

° liabilities or assets relating to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance
with IAS 19 Employee Benefits;

° liabilities or equity instruments relating to share-based
payment transactions of the acquiree or the replacement
of an acquiree's share-based payment transactions
with share-based payment transactions of the Group
are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based
Payment at the acquisition date; and

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net
of acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed. If, after assessment, the net of the
acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognized
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ - ——F=A=+—HBItFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

()

Business combinations (Continued)

Non-controlling interests may be initially measured either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice
of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction
basis.

Where the consideration the Group transfers in a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value
and considered as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments
being made against goodwill or gain on bargain purchase.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from
additional information obtained during the measurement period
about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition
date. Measurement period does not exceed on year from the
acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration
is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an assets or a liability is
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance
with IAS 39, or IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured
to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the
Group obtains control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is
recognized in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the
acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that
interest were disposed of.

Changes in the value of the previously held equity interest
recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity before the acquisition date are reclassified to profit or loss
when the Group obtains control over the acquiree.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete
by the end of the reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for
which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), or
additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed
as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the
amounts recognised as of that date.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

080

(d)

(e)

KERMEZRERA A

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
less accumulated impairment losses, if any, and is presented
separately in the consolidated statement of financial position.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination. A cash-generating unit
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit and then to other assets of the unit
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly
in profit or loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income/income statement. An impairment loss recognized for
goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit
or loss on disposal.

Property, plant and equipment

The following properties held for own use are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at their revalued
amount, being their fair value at the date of the revaluation less
any subsequent accumulated depreciation:

— buildings held for own use

Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure
that the carrying amount of these assets does not differ materially
from that which would be determined using fair values at the end
of the reporting period.

Freehold land and construction in progress are not depreciated.

The following items of property, plant and equipment are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses

(see Note 3(i)):

- furniture and fixtures, machinery, engineering and other
equipment, and motor vehicles
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Changes arising on the revaluation of properties held for own use
are generally dealt with in reserves. The only exceptions are as
follows:

- when a deficit arises on revaluation, it will be charged to
profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the amount held
in the reserve in respect of that same asset immediately
prior to the revaluation; and

— when a surplus arises on revaluation, it will be credited to
profit or loss to the extent that a deficit on revaluation in
respect of that same asset had previously been charged to
profit or loss.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the
initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and
removing the items and restoring the site on which they are
located, and an appropriate proportion of production overheads
and borrowing costs.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight-line method over their estimate
useful life as follow:

Furniture and fixtures 5-10 years
Machinery, engineering and other equipment 5-10 years
Motor vehicles 10 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost or valuation of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its
residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the items. Cost may also include transfers
from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of
foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to
the income statement during the financial period in which they
are incurred.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

082

(e)

(f)

(9

KERMEZRERA A

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount of the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as the
difference between the net proceeds and the carrying amount
of the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date
of retirement or disposal. Any related revaluation surplus is
transferred from the revaluation reserve to retained profits and is
not reclassified to profit or loss.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Intangible assets, other than goodwill, identified on business
combinations are capitalised based on their fair values.

Intangible assets acquired by the Group are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
accumulated amortisation (where the estimated useful life is finite)
and impairment losses (see Note 3(i)). Expenditure on internally
generated goodwill and brands is recognised as an expense in
the period in which it is incurred.

Amortisation of timber concession rights with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over its estimated
useful lives of 5 to 25 years, which is based on their estimation of
the economic benefits of units of production of timber products
from the harvest of timber during the period of concession rights,
or the expected useful life of the rights if shorter. Both the period
and method of amortisation are reviewed annually.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured at the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are
recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset is
derecognised.

Biological assets

Biological assets are living plants involved in the agricultural
activities of the transformation of biological assets into agricultural
produce for sale or into additional biological assets. Biological
assets and agricultural produce are measured at fair value less
costs to sell at initial recognition and at each reporting date. The
fair value less costs to sell at the time of harvest is deemed as the
cost of agricultural produce for further processing, if applicable.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(h)

Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines that
the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset or assets
for an agreed period of time in return for a payment or a series of
payments. Such a determination is made based on an evaluation
of the substance of the arrangement and is regardless of whether
the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

()

(i)

Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by Group under leases which transfer
to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are classified as being held under finance
leases. Leases which do not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership to the Group are classified
as operating leases, with the following exception:

Land held for own use under an operating lease, the fair
value of which cannot be measured separately from the fair
value of a building situated thereon at the inception of the
lease, is accounted for as being held under a finance lease,
unless the building is also clearly held under an operating
lease. For these purposes, the inception of the lease is
the time that the lease was first entered into by the Group,
or taken over from the previous lessee, or at the date of
construction of those buildings, if later.

Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under finance
leases, the amounts representing the fair value of the
leased asset, or, if lower, the present value of the minimum
lease payments, of such assets are included in property,
plant and equipment and the corresponding liabilities,
net of finance charges, are recorded as obligations under
finance leases. Depreciation is provided at rates which
write off the cost or valuation of the assets over the term
of the relevant lease or, where it is likely the Company
or Group will obtain ownership of the asset, the life of
the asset, as set out in Note 3(e). Impairment losses are
accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy as
set out in Note 3(j). (Finance charges implicit in the lease
payments are charged to profit or loss over the period of
the leases so as to produce an approximately constant
periodic rate of charge on the remaining balance of the
obligations for each accounting period.)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

084

(h) Leased assets (Continued)

(ii)

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases are
charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over the
accounting periods covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis is more representative of the
pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased asset.
Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals are written off as an expense
in the accounting period in which they are incurred. The
cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease is
amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease term except where the property is classified as an
investment property.

() Impairment of assets

()

KERMEZRERA A

Impairment of receivables

Current and non-current receivables that are stated at
cost or amortised cost are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period to determine whether there is objective
evidence of impairment. Objective evidence of impairment
includes observable data that comes to the attention of the
Group about one or more of the following loss events:

— significant financial difficulty of the debtors;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological market,

economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtors; and
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHBEHBEw
POLICIES (Continued)

() Impairment of assets (Continued) () EBEEZREG@®E)
() Impairment of receivables (Continued) ()  FEYFTEZ e (4E)
If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is WEEEFAEE  BEEEB
determined and recognised as follows: BT NEE MER

For trade receivables and other financial assets
carried at amortised cost, the impairment loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition of these
assets), where the effect of discounting is material.
This assessment is made collectively where financial
assets carried at amortised cost share similar risk
characteristics, such as similar past due status, and
have not been individually assessed as impaired.
Future cash flows for financial assets which are
assessed for impairment collectively are based on
historical loss experience for assets with credit risk
characteristics similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an
impairment loss decrease and the decrease can
be linked objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised, the impairment
loss is reversed through profit or loss. A reversal
of an impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s
carrying amount exceeding that which would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

086

POLICIES (Continued)
() Impairment of assets (Continued)
(i Impairment of receivables (Continued)
Impairment losses are written off against the
corresponding assets directly, except for impairment
losses recognised in respect of trade debtors
included within trade and other receivables, whose
recovery is considered doubtful but not remote. In
this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts
are recorded using an allowance account. When
the Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the
amount considered irrecoverable is written off
against trade debtors directly and any amounts
held in the allowance account relating to that debt
are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously charged to the allowance account are
reversed against the allowance account. Other
changes in the allowance account and subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off directly
are recognised in profit or loss.
(i) Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed

at the end of each reporting period to identify indications

that the following assets may be impaired or, except in the

case of goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised

no longer exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment (other than properties
carried at revalued amounts);

— intangible assets;

— investments in subsidiaries; and

—  goodwill

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable

amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, intangible

assets that are not yet available for use and intangible

assets that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable

amount is estimated annually whether or not there is any

indication of impairment.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

() Impairment of assets (Continued)

(i) Impairment of other assets (Continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher
of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does
not generate cash inflows largely independent of
those from other assets, the recoverable amount
is determined for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
whenever the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised
in respect of cash-generating units are allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group of
units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of
the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on
a pro rata basis, except that the carrying amount
of an asset will not be reduced below its individual
fair value less costs to sell, or value in use, if
determinable.

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment
loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the
asset’s carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to profit or loss in the year in which the
reversals are recognised.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

088

0)

)

U]

(m)

KERMEZRERA A

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost, which comprises all costs of purchase and, where
applicable, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition,
is determined on the first-in first-out basis. Net realisable value
is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-
down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of
inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the
reversal occurs.

Construction contracts

The accounting policy for contract revenue is set out in Note
3(t)(iii). When the outcome of a construction contract can be
estimated reliably, contract costs are recognised as an expense
by reference to the stage of completion of the contract at the end
of the reporting period. When it is probable that total contract
costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is
recognised as an expense immediately. When the outcome of
a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract
costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they
are incurred.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value
and thereafter stated at amortised cost less allowance for
impairment of doubtful debts, except where the receivables
are interest-free loans made to related parties without any
fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be
immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less
allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see Note 3(i)).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised
cost with any difference between the amount initially recognised
and redemption value being recognised in profit or loss over the
period of the borrowings, together with any interest and fees
payable, using the effective interest method.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(n)

(0)

(P)

(a)

Preference share capital

Preference share capital is classified as equity if it is non-
redeemable, or redeemable only at the Company’s opinion, and
any dividends are discretionary. Dividends on preference share
capital classified as equity are recognised as distributions within
equity.

Preference share capital is classified as a liability if it is
redeemable on a specific date or at the option of the
shareholders, or if dividend payments are not discretionary. The
liability is recognised in accordance with the Group’s policy for
interest-bearing borrowings set out in Note 3(m) and accordingly
dividends thereon are recognised on an accruals basis in profit or
loss as part of finance costs.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Except for financial guarantee liabilities measured in accordance
with Note 3(s)(i), trade and other payables are subsequently
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, having been within three months of maturity
at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are
also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for
the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows. Cash
equivalents include investments and advances denominated in
foreign currencies provided that they fulfill the above criteria.

Employee benefits

() Short term employee benefits and contributions to

defined contribution plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution plans and the cost of non-monetary
benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect would be material,
these amounts are stated at their present values.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 B ZE —T——F=A=+—HItFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

090

(a)

KERMEZRERA A

Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in mainland China are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute
a percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with rules of the
central pension scheme.

Share-based payments

Share options granted to employees

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in a capital reserve within equity. The fair value is
measured at grant date using the binomial option pricing
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon
which the options were granted. Where the employees
have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the share options, the total
estimated fair value of the share options is spread over the
vesting period, taking into account the probability that the
options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/
credited to profit or loss for the year of the review, unless
the original employee expenses qualify for recognition as
an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to the capital
reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share
options that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the
capital reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to not
achieving vesting conditions that relate to the market price
of the Company’s shares. The equity amount is recognised
in the capital reserve until either the option is exercised
(when it is transferred to the share premium account) or
the option expires (when it is released directly to retained
profits).

Share options granted to consultants

Share options granted to consultants in exchange for
goods or services are measured at the fair values of
goods or services received, unless that fair value cannot
be reliably measured, in which case the goods or services
received are measured by reference to the fair value of the
share options granted. The amounts are recognised as
expenses, with a corresponding increase in equity (share
option reserve), when the Group obtains the goods or
when the counterparties render services, unless the goods
or services qualify for recognition as assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MEREME

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ - ——F=A=+—HBItFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

()

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the years, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and
taxable temporary differences respectively, being the differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also
arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise from
the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, provided
that those differences relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The
same criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition of deferred
tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is,
those differences are taken into account if they relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected
to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit
can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent
that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the
future.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 B ZE —T——F=A=+—HItFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

092

()

KERMEZRERA A

Income tax (Continued)

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on
the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at end
of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is
reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the
Company or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

—  different taxable entities, which, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets and settle
the current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MEREME

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ - ——F=A=+—HBItFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(s) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities

()

(i)

Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments to
reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for
a loss the holder incurs because a specified debtor fails to
make payment when due in accordance with the terms of
a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the fair
value of the guarantee (being the transaction price, unless
the fair value can otherwise be reliably estimated) is initially
recognised as deferred income within trade and other
payables. Where consideration is received or receivable
for the issuance of the guarantee, the consideration
is recognised in accordance with the Group’s policies
applicable to that category of asset, Where no such
consideration is received or receivable, an immediate
expense is recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition
of any deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as
deferred income is amortised in profit or loss over
the term of the guarantee as income from financial
guarantees issued. In addition, provisions are recognised
in accordance with Note 3(s)(ii) if and when (i) it becomes
probable that the holder of the guarantee will call upon
the Group under the guarantee, and (i) the amount of that
claim on the Group is expected to exceed the amount
currently carried in trade and other payables in respect
of that guarantee i.e. the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation.

Contingent liabilities assumed in business combinations

Contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination
which are present obligations at the date of acquisition
are initially recognised at fair value, provided the fair value
can be reliably measured. After their initial recognition at
fair value, such contingent liabilities are recognised at the
higher of the amount initially recognised, less accumulated
amortisation where appropriate, and the amount that would
be determined in accordance with Note 3(s)(iii). Contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination that cannot
be reliably fair valued or were not present obligation at the
date of acquisition are disclosed in accordance with Note

3(s)(iii).
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

094

(s)

Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities (Continued)

(ii)

Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group or the Company has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

(t) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration

received or receivable. Provided that it is probable that the

economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue

and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is

recognised in profit or loss as follows:

(i) Tree felling service income
Revenue from provision of tree felling services is
recognised when services are provided. The amount of
revenue recognised is based on the fair value of logs
harvested during the tree felling process.

(i)  Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the
goods are delivered at the customers’ premises which
is taken to be the point in time when the customer has
accepted the goods and the related risks and rewards of
ownership. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ - ——F=A=+—HBItFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(t) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)

(iv)

v)

(v

(vii)

Contract revenue
When the outcome of a construction contract can be
estimated reliably:

— revenue from a fixed price contract is recognised
using the percentage of completion method,
measured by reference to the percentage of contract
costs incurred to date to estimated total contract
costs for the contract; and

—  revenue from a cost plus contract is recognised by
reference to the recoverable costs incurred during
the period plus an appropriate proportion of the total
fee, measured by reference to the proportion that
costs incurred to date bear to the estimated total
costs of the contract.

When the outcome of a construction contract cannot
be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the
extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be
recoverable.

Sales of properties

Revenue arising from sale of properties held for sale is
recognised when the risks and rewards of ownership of
the properties have passed to the buyer.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

Rental income from operating lease

Rental income receivable under operating lease is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised as income in
which they are earned.

Service fee income

Income from provision of services is recognised at the time
when the services are rendered by reference to the stage
of completion.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

096

(u)

KERMEZRERA A

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
that are stated at fair value are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Items of statement
of financial position, including goodwill arising on consolidation
of foreign operations acquired on or after 1 January 2005, are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the end of the reporting period. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange fluctuation
reserve. Goodwill arising on consolidation of a foreign operation
acquired before 1 January 2005 is translated at the foreign
exchange rate that applied at the date of acquisition of the
foreign operation.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant influence
over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals
of associates that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(v)

(W)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing
costs are expensed in profit or loss in the period in which they
are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset
is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and
activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or
sale are interrupted or complete.

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s
business, the operations and cash flows of which can be clearly
distinguished from the rest of the Group and which represents
a separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations, or is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose
of a separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to
resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal
or when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as
held for sale, if earlier. It also occurs when the operation is
abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single amount
is presented on the face of the profit or loss, which comprises:

—  the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued operation;
and

—  the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement
to fair value less costs to sell, or on the disposal, of the
assets or disposal group(s) constituting the discontinued
operation.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

098

(x)

KERMEZRERA A

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.
This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly
probable and the non-current asset (or disposal group) is
available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management
must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to
qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from
the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss
of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of
that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria
described above are met, regardless of whether the Group will
retain a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the
sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for
sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount
and fair value less costs to sell.

If the Group has classified non-current assets (or disposal group)
as held for sale, but the criteria described above are no longer
met, the Group ceases to classify the asset (or disposal group)
as held for sale.

The Group measures a non-current asset that ceases to be
classified as held for sale (or ceases to be included in a disposal
group classified as held for sale) at the lower of:

(@ its carrying amount before the asset (or disposal
group) was classified as held for sale, adjusted for any
depreciation, amortisation or revaluations that would have
been recognised had the asset (or disposal group) not
been classified as held for sale, and

(b) its recoverable amount at the date of the subsequent
decision not to sell.

The Group includes any required adjustment to the carrying
amount of a non-current asset that ceases to be classified as
held for sale in profit or loss in the period in which the criteria
described in above are no longer met.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(v)

(2)

Related parties
For the purposes of these financial statements, a party is
considered to be related to the Group if:

(i) the party has the ability, directly or indirectly through one
or more intermediaries, to control the Group or exercise
significant influence over the Group in making financial and
operating policy decisions, or has joint control over the
Group;

(i) the Group and the party are subject to common control;

(i) the party is an associate of the Group or a joint venture in
which the Group is a venturer;

(iv)  the party is @ member of key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent, or a close family member
of such an individual, or is an entity under the control, joint
control or significant influence of such individuals;

(v)  the party is a close family member of a party referred to in (i)
or is an entity under the control, joint control or significant
influence of such individuals; or

(vi)  the party is a post-employment benefit plan which is for
the benefit of employees of the Group or of any entity that
is a related party of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that
individual in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority of
these criteria.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Group has adopted the following new and revised Standards,
Amendments and Interpretations (“new and revised IFRSs”) that are
first effective for the current accounting period.

Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment
Transactions

IFRS 2 (Amendments)

IAS 32 (Amendments) Classification of Right Issues

IAS 39 (Amendments) Eligible Hedged Items

IFRIC-Int 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

IFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to IFRSs issued in 2009

IFRSs (Amendments) Amendments to IFRS 5 as part of
Improvements to IFRSs issued in 2008

For the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group has early applied IFRS 3
(revised in 2008) Business Combinations and IAS 27 (revised in 2008)
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements in advance of their
effective dates.

Except as described below, the adoption of new and revised IFRSs had
no material effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the current or prior accounting period.

Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows (as part of
Improvements to IFRSs issued in 2009)

The amendments to IAS 7 specify that only expenditures that result in a
recognised asset in the statement of financial position can be classified
as investing activities in the statement of cash flows.

The application of the amendments to IAS 7 has not resulted in a
change in the presentation of cash outflows.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations (as part of Improvements to IFRSs issued in
2009)

The amendments to IFRS 5 clarify that the disclosure requirements in
IFRSs other than IFRS 5 do not apply to non-current assets (or disposal
groups) classified as held for sale or discontinued operations unless
those IFRSs require (i) specific disclosures in respect of non-current
assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale or discontinued
operations, or (i) disclosures about measurement of assets and
liabilities within a disposal group that are not within the scope of the
measurement requirement of IFRS 5 and the disclosures are not
already provided in the consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 2 (Amendments), Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment
Transactions

IFRS 2 (Amendments) become effective from 1 April 2010. In addition
to incorporating IFRIC 8, “Scope of IFRS 2”, and IFRIC 11, the
amendments expand on the guidance in IFRIC 11 to address the
classification of group arrangements that were not covered by that
interpretation.

Amendments to IAS 39 Eligible Hedged ltems

The amendments provide clarification on two aspects of hedge
accounting: identifying inflation as a hedged risk or portion, and
hedging with options.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is
not yet effective for the current accounting period.
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ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 5,
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies which are
described in Note 3, management has made certain key assumptions
concerning the future, and other key sources of estimated uncertainty

at the end of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, as described below.

(@  Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The Group management determines the estimated useful lives
and related depreciation charges for its property, plant and
equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience of
the actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment of similar
nature and functions. It could change significantly as a result
of technical innovations and competitor actions in response
to severe industry cycles. Management will increase the
depreciation charge where useful lives are less than previously
estimated lives, or it will write-off or write-down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or
sold.

(b)  Impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group estimates impairment losses on trade and other
receivables resulting from inability of the customers or debtors
to make the required payments. The Group bases the estimates
on the ageing of the trade and other receivables, customer or
debtor credit-worthiness, and historical write-off experience.
If the financial condition of the customers or debtors were to
deteriorate, actual write-offs would be higher than estimates.

(c)  Write-down of inventories

Inventories are written down to net realisable value based
on an assessment of the realisability of inventories. Write-
down of inventories are recorded where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not be realised.
The identification of write-downs requires the use of judgements
and estimates. Where the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying amount
of inventories and write-down of inventories in the periods in
which such estimate has been changed.

(d)  Impairment of goodwill

The Group performs annual tests on whether there has been
impairment of goodwill in accordance with the accounting policy
stated in Note 3(j). The recoverable amounts of cash-generating
units are determined based on value in use calculations. These
calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions made
by management on the future operation of the business, pre-tax
discount rates, and other assumptions underlying the value in
use calculations.
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ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 5.
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(Continued)
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (Continued)

(e

®

©

()

Amortisation of intangible assets

Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives. The determination of the useful lives
involves management’s estimation. The Group reassesses the
useful life of the intangible assets and if the expectation differs
from the original estimate, such a difference may impact the
amortisation in the years and the estimate will be changed in the
future period.

Fair value of buildings held for own use

Buildings held for own use are carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at their fair value. The fair
value was based on a valuation on the buildings carried
out by an independent professional valuer using property
valuation techniques which involve certain assumptions of
market conditions. Favourable or unfavourable changes to
those assumptions would result in changes in the fair value
of the Group’s building held for own use and corresponding
adjustments to the amount of gain or loss reported in the
property revaluation reserve.

Income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the worldwide
provision for income taxes. There are transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that are initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination
is made.

Fair values of biological assets

Management estimates at the end of the reporting period the
current market prices less costs to sell of biological assets
with reference to market prices and professional valuations.
Unanticipated volatile changes in market prices of the underlying
agricultural produce could significantly affect the fair values of
these biological assets and result in fair value re-measurement
losses in future accounting periods.

The Group’s forestry business is subject to the usual agricultural
hazards from fire, wind and insects. Forces of nature such
as temperature and rainfall may also affect harvest efficiency.
Management considers adequate preventive measures are in
place and the relevant legislation under forestry laws in Brazil will
assist in minimising exposure. Nevertheless, to the extent that
un-anticipated factors affecting harvestable agricultural produce
may result in re-measurement or losses in future accounting
periods.
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SEGMENT REPORTING

Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal reports
which provides information about components of the Group. These
information are reported to and reviewed by the board of directors of
the Company for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.

The Group manages its business by business lines and has presented
the following reportable segments. These segments are managed
separately.

Continuing operations
Tree felling service: provision of tree felling and clearing.

Sustainable forest management: sustainable management of and
investment in natural forests, timber and wood processing, timber
trading and timber sales and marketing.

Discontinued operations

Chita forests operations: logging, timber and wood processing, timber
trading and timber sales and marketing.

Building materials:  the construction work of building and construction
project of building material.

Real estate: the development and sale of commercial premises
and residential properties.

In accordance with IFRS 8, segment information disclosed in this
consolidated financial statements has been prepared in a manner
consistent with the information used by the board of directors of the
Company for the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources among segments. In this regard, the board of
directors of the Company monitors the results and assets attributable
to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all non-current assets and current assets with
the exception of certain unallocated corporate assets to an individual
reportable segment.

All liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than current,
deferred tax liabilities and unallocated corporate liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments with
reference to sales generated by those segments and the expenses
incurred by those segments or, which otherwise arise from the
depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable to those segments.

Sales between segments are carried out in the ordinary course of
Group’s business on terms determined by the management of the
Group. The revenue from external parties reported to the board of
directors of the Company is measured in a manner consistent with that
in the income statement.
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SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

The reportable segment profit represents the profit from each segment
which excluded those items not specifically attributed to an individual
reportable segment, such as corporate administrative expenses.
To arrive at reportable segment profit, the management additionally
provided the segment information concerning interest income, finance
costs and major non-cash items such as depreciation, amortisation
and impairment losses derived from reportable segments.

(@) Segment results, assets and liabilities
An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment is reported below:

b%ﬁ¢ﬁ

AR D MR AR A S S B2 18
RO LI A S B R
ZEB  MOETHEY o AEHTRSE

DELEA - EEEREIMER AR E TR
EDMZFBWA - BMEEARTEIR

SHEEZHIER - WITE - #HHRRE
518 o

(@ oHMXE BEERER
REBMEWAIBEDEH 2 /W0
™

2011
—E——-F

Discontinued

Continuing operations operations
HESEER BRIEER
Sustainable Chita
Tree forest forests
feling management operation
service T E Sub-total Digy Total
BFN:E S AMER NEF RRER st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
Revenue from external customers REIMREP 2 A 343,671 522,984 866,655 - 866,655
Inter-segment revenue D EPREUR A 52,542 - 52,542 - 52,542
Reportable segment revenue ARE D EBUA 396,213 522,984 919,197 - 919,197
Reportable segment profit/(loss) B T E e
before tax wH,(E18) 32,253 503,896 536,149 (15,634) 520,515
Change in fair value of biological EMEENTES
assets less costs to sell Rk B & kA - 250,243 250,243 - 250,243
Depreciation e (5) (1,119) (1,124) - (1,124)
Write-off of other receivables i 5 EL A FE S R IE - (28) (28) (396) (424)
Write-off of inventories WEHFE (272,482) - (272,482) - (272,482)
Write-down of inventories WoRTFE - - - (1,000) (1,000)
Loss on disposal of property, HENE  BEX
plant and equipment BB EE - (45) (45) - (45)
Write-off of intangible assets WEHER B E - - - (9,926) (9,926)
Waiver of liabilities by creditors EEAREARE 108,274 - 108,274 - 108,274
Interest income F B A 1 62 63 - 63
Interest expense FERX - (9,985) (9,985) - (9,985)
Reportable segment assets AREDIHEE 240,841 3,662,618 3,903,459 279,828 4,183,287
Additions to non-current EREIBEEFE
segment assets 116 21,323 21,439 - 21,439
Reportable segment liabilities AREIHERE 50,546 297,106 347,652 70,856 418,508
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 6. DEHE @
Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued) () oHEE BERAE®H)
An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment is reported below: REBFRERAFED 2D
(Continued) T (88)
2010
ZE-TF
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
RERELH BAILEK
Sustainable Chita
Tree forest forests
feling  management Buiding Real operation
senvice UHEE  Subotal materials estate & Subotal Total
KBS AWER It B BiE  BHEE It &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EETr BBt BETr AT E¥Tr A%t BETr AT
Revenue from exteral customers RENREEZIMA 237,073 25,990 263,063 77,381 123 2,013 79517 342,580
Reportable segment BRAARED
profit/(loss) before tax W/ (E8) 117,842 341,398 459,240 1,076 (442) (13,126) (12,492) 446,748
Change in fair value of biological EMEELATEEY
assets less costs to sell BHERE - 369,980 369,980 - - - - 369,980
Depreciation & - (306) (306) (50) - (2,201) (2,251) (2,657)
Write-off of other receivables YR - (137) (137) _ - _ _ (137)
Write-cown of inventories HAFE - - - - (206) - (206) (206)
Amortisation of land leases payment TiHERESY - - - - 9 - (9) 9
Amortisation of intangible assets BYAERY - - - - - (6,540) (6,540) (6,540)
Interest income FISMA - 94 94 - 5 - 5 929
Interest expense i - (4,489) (4,489) (41) - (666) (707) (6,196)
Reportable segment assets UREIHEE 235441 2,776,116 3,011,557 - - 303,036 303036 3,314,593
Additions to non-current FRBIPEERE
segment assets - 4,951 4,951 15 - 1,881 1,896 6,847
Reportable segment liabilities THRESPEE 90,272 299,692 389,964 - - 98,923 98,923 488,887
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ - ——F=A=+—HBItFE

(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue,

profit or loss, assets and liabilities and other items:

()

(i)

(b) THEEDBEA - BRNRE
B BEERAERAMEEZ

AR -

Revenue @ WA
2011 2010
—B——fF —_E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BB T
Reportable segment revenue A o EURA 919,197 342,580
Elimination of inter-segment revenue ¥ 845 SFfEI UL A (52,542) —
Consolidated revenue SAEPBA 866,655 342,580

Profit (i) @R
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Reportable segment profit before tax — Fr T4 BT A] #f 45 95 50 42 K 536,149 459,240
Unallocated corporate income KomeEWA - 283
Depreciation and amortisation SiIN-0% F (326) (345)
Unallocated corporate expenses ROBBFERZ (27,963) (21,585)
Unallocated interest income Ko B F)BULA - 33
Unallocated interest expense ROBEF B (846) (7,423)
Profit before tax (continuing operations) %t 5iTia # (3548 507,014 430,203
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 B ZE —T——F=A=+—HItFE

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 6. DL )

(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, (b) TERE DK A - & F R E
profit or loss, assets and liabilities and other items: B EEREBERHEMERZ
(Continued) HER (8
(i) Assets (i) BE

2011 2010
—EB——fF —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT
Segment assets for reportable FHE R A s 6
segments from continuing operations 2 7 E & E 3,903,459 3,011,557
Segment assets for reportable ERIEEBIHREDE
segment from discontinued ZDEEE (HiF27)
operations (Note 27) 279,828 303,036
Total segment assets DENE E LR 4,183,287 3,314,593
Unallocated: KRB :
— Unallocated corporate assets — RAOBEEE 3,704 23,643
Total assets per consolidated A ISR RFTES
statement of financial position BEMREE 4,186,991 3,338,236
Liabilities I=F
2011 2010
—=E——F —E-%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT IT
Segment liabilities for reportable SR EEE A RE DI
segments from continuing ZOHEE
operations 347,652 389,964
Segment liabilities for reportable B IE B
segments from discontinued 2B E(Mt27)
operations (Note 27) 70,856 98,923
Total segment liabilities DEPBELRTE 418,508 488,887
Unallocated: V2N v
— Provision for taxation — TIRRHE 49,456 7,354
— Deferred tax liabilities — RERIBAE 454,341 309,187
— Unallocated corporate liabilities — RAOBREEEE 8,317 26,178
Total liabilities per consolidated RETBRRAERMZS
statement of financial position BEERE 930,622 831,606
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ - ——F=A=+—HBItFE

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. ZEHE @

(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, b) THREDHBWA - & F R E
profit or loss, assets and liabilities and other items: B EENEEREMERZ
(Continued) HER (@)

(v)  Other items v) EmER
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
FELEER BREER
Sustainable Chita
Tree forest forests
felling  management Building Real  operation
senvice TEHE  Unallocated  Sub-total  materials estate ##  Unallocated  Sub-total Total
fiREE  ANER AR gt =2 E#E  AWER FAR it &3t
2011
—E--F
HKSODD  HKSODD  HKSODD  HKSOD  HKSO0  HKSO0  HKSO0  HKSOOD  HKSODD  HKSOMD
BBt EBTT ARt ARt EMTRT E¥Tn BNt BT BMTn BETr
Depreciation Vit 5 1,119 32 1,450 - - - - - 1,450
Interest income FEHA 1 62 - 63 - - - - - 63
Interest expense SR - 9,085 846 10,831 - - - - - 10,831
2010
“E-%%
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
ABTr AR%Tr A% A%t A%t AT AT BETr BETr BETx
Depreciation bl - 306 345 651 50 - 2,201 - 2,051 2,902
Interest income FEMA - P4 3 97 - - - 5 962
Interest expense HER% - 4489 7428 11912 4 - 666 - 707 12,619
(c) Revenue from major products and services: (c) REFEERERBRBZWA :
Continuing
operations Discontinued operations Consolidated
BEREXH BALEER e
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
“E-—-f -2 ZB--f _—Z-TF CZB--§ C—ZT-ZF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
BgTT  BETT BT BETT  B%Tr  B%Tx
Tree felling service income ARG A 343,671 237,073 - — 343,671 237,073
Sales of forestry and timber PHEARM R AR
products Em 522,984 25,990 - 1,637 522,984 27,627
Revenue from construction BEAS WA
contracts - - - 77,381 - 77,381
Senvice fee income =T ON - - - 376 - 376
Sales of properties SHEMZE - - - 123 - 123
866,655 263,063 - 79,517 866,655 342,580
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 B ZE —T——F=A=+—HItFE

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. DEHE @

Geographical information & &R

The following is an analysis of geographical location of (i) the Group’s UTANAEBREIINAZTE ZBA Kl
revenue from external customers and (ii) the Group’s non-current REEFELHEEZHEDNT - BEME
assets. The geographical locations of customers refer to the locations ERFPHEZHE - AEBZIERHEE
at which the customers reside. The Group’s non-current assets include BEDE BERERE £MEE - BF
property, plant and equipment, biological assets, intangible assets and BEIEE - WE BEMREBUARED
goodwill. The geographical location of property, plant and equipment BEZWE BHEEEERASNE M -
and biological assets is based on the physical location of the asset B EAENBEEMBSE SO

under consideration. In the case of intangible assets and goodwill, the
allocation is based on the location of operation.

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets
REIREFZBA kRBEE
2011 2010 2011 2010

—®-——F -T-TF —¥-—-F -T TF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
wETR  OBMTT BMTR BT

Continuing operations FEREER
Europe M 1,756 9,743 - -
North America bEM 2,562 3,505 - —
South America mEM 346,314 237,803 3,119,965 2,729,208
Asia Pacific (other than Hong Kong) DRE(TBEEHE) 516,023 10,542 101 110
Hong Kong (place of domicile) BB (EEHEN) - 1,470 2,149 1,722
866,655 263,063 3,122,215 2,731,040
Discontinued operations BRIEET
Asia Pacific (other than Hong Kong) mRE(TEERE) - 57,541 - -
Hong Kong (place of domicile) B (E£EHE) - 21,976 - —
— 79,517 - —
866,655 342,580 3,122,215 2,731,040
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ - ——F=A=+—HBItFE

SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. T EBEE @)
Information about major customers EHFEEFZ2EH
Revenue from customers contributing 10% or more of the total revenue KEMAEEBLWAI0%KAN EZERZ
of the Group are as follows: WAL -
2011 2010
2% —EFF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Continuing operations FELEEK
Customer A — revenue from tree felling EPA— REBRARIEZ
service — Brazil WA — B 343,671 237,073
Customer B — revenue from sales of forestry and &5 B — K 8 4 & AR &
timber products — China ARFE fh 2 WA — AR 174,634 -
Customer C — revenue from sales of forestry and &5 C — K E #E AN &
timber products — China ARHE b 2 WA — AR 170,653 -
Customer D — revenue from sales of forestry and &5 D — K & &AM &
timber products — China AKIE G 2 WA — AR 165,407 —
Discontinued operations ERIEER
Customer E — revenue from building BFE—REBEM WA — B
materials — Macau - 53,162
Customer F — revenue from building BEF—%REa@EMmzA — &S
materials — Hong Kong - 15,010
Customer G — revenue from building EEG— RABEMZWA —BF
materials — Hong Kong - 5,650
REVENUE 7. WA
Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after WAFREBREE REERNERE LS
allowances for returns and trade discounts and revenue from tree felling B2 ERFAURKARE BEED
services, construction contracts and other services. R HAth AR TS 2 WA o
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WA
Continuing
operations Discontinued operations Consolidated
BELCEEY BRILER &e
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
“2-—-f —%-% “2-—-f —Z-% “2--Ff CZIT-I%F
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
BT  A%TT BT B¥Tr  B%Tr A%
Tree feling service income RARBRBEHA 343,671 237,073 - - 343,671 237,073
Sales of forestry and timber products  $5E AR FAKE f 522,984 25,990 - 1,637 522,984 27,627
Revenue from construction contracts E&E4 41U A - - - 77,381 - 77,381
Senvice fee income RBERA - - - 376 - 376
Sales of properties HEME - - - 123 - 123

866,655 263,063 - 79,517 866,655 342,580
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 B ZE —T——F=A=+—HItFE

8.

112

OTHER INCOME AND OTHER NET (LOSS)/ 8. Ht ARHM(EHE) =
GAIN iG]
Continuing
operations Discontinued operations Consolidated
BRECEER BRLEER &a
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
“E--% Z%-TFf ZE--§ —T-%Ff C-B--Ff CZIT-IFf
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BETT  B%Tr  B%ETx
Other income Herg A
Rental income EEALON 23 270 529 171 552 441
Others Hih 478 3,819 783 5,936 1,261 9,755
501 4,089 1,312 6,107 1,813 10,196
Other net (loss)/gain 2t (B8) kG FHE
Net exchange gain eyt 18,281 233 671 2,499 18,952 2,732
Write-off of timber logs WSHBRAARN (H13Ei)
(Note i) (272,482) — - — (272,482) —
Waiver of liabilities by creditors BREARCAE
(Note i (M) 108,274 - - — 108,274 —
(145,927) 233 671 2499 (145,256) 2,732
Notes: btat -

(i

KERMEZRERA A

In December 2009, a decree was issued by the state government of Rondonia,
Brazil, allowing round logs relating to the tree felling services contract for
the construction of hydropower plants in Rondonia to be exported overseas
without any processing. The Group planned to export the round logs overseas.
Contrary to the decree by the Rondonia state government, during the year
ended 31 March 2011, Instituto Brasileiro do Meio Ambiente e dos Recursos
Naturais Renovaveis (“IBAMA”), the Brazilian Ministry of the Environment’s
Enforcement Agency, notified the Group that logs of all sizes obtained from
the abovementioned tree felling services contract must be processed before
export citing forestry laws in connection with restrictions on exportation of logs
from sustainably managed forests. The Group disagreed with IBAMA’s position
and contested. However, after numerous attempts and negotiations, IBAMA
maintained its position. After the assessment of the higher processing costs,
management believes that the estimated net realizable value of certain logs
should be zero and therefore, the Group decided and wrote off those logs with
a total carrying amount of approximately HK$272 million in the year ended 31
March 2011.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, upon notification by IBAMA of the
export restriction described in Note (i) above, the Group negotiated with the
contractor and the subcontractor which carried out tree felling services for the
Group to waive the accrued related fees. The total accrued fees waived were
HK$108 million.

2% /-2 —FFH

(i

RZZEZNF+ZA BAEAZEEMMIEK
R ES - DR EBRRIAZ B HIMNEE
KN BB KRR A LR Z BA
EEABEAMIME AR - REBG
FHPEARER - RBE-T——F=
AZ+—BIEFE BREREHDPHT LS
(Instituto Brasileiro do Meio Ambiente e dos
Recursos Naturais Renovaveis)i# %1 & %
B S|RAARGIFEEERMKZAMEO
ZMREED - & EEARIRF A KIS 2 AT
BRNRAREORGLENT - #HEBEZRE
TMINBR 2 E2 - AEETRABERER
FORATHRR 2 ISR H R E o AT - AR
ZREARER  BEIREDPNTEEED
BFHYES - AR @I MIRAE - &
BEMAGETRAZAFAIERFEER
T Al AEBRAEIREBEE-_T——F
ZAZT—BLEFEMEREELOEE
272,000,000 7T 2 AR H1

BEZ——F=A=+t-BLFER &
ESEEBRFEMATEREBAAE R DM
EOFT 2 HARBIR - AEEESAEE
REKARBZEAEH LS BEENRRA
WMRER - BERRZ R ERERAEE
108,000,000 7T °
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ - ——F=A=+—HBItFE

9. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 9. HMEERX
Continuing
operations Discontinued operations Consolidated
BRESEER BRILER a2e
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
“E--% Z%-TFf ZE--§ —T-TFf C-B--F ZCZT-IFf
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
BETT BT BETT BT BETT BT
Loss on disposal of property, HEWME - WEREE
plant and equipment ZEE 151 - - 7 151 7
Write-off of other receivables T8 E A R U R IE 28 137 396 - 424 137
Write-off of intangible assets MiEEVEE - - 9,926 - 9,926 -
Acquisition of subsidiaries WeERH B A RTARB R A
related costs - 5,922 - - - 5,922
Write-down of inventories HREE - - 1,000 206 1,000 206
179 6,059 11,322 218 11,501 6,272
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #E - T —— &= A=+—HILFE

10. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

The Group’s profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

10.

BR B Al
7K 5 18 4 AT I T4 6
BB

Nk (GEA) T3

Continuing
operations Discontinued operations Consolidated
BRCEER BRIEER Re
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
“E--% - ZB--§ —T-2F -Z--Ff ZT-IFf
Note HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
et BETT A¥TT B¥Tx AB%Tr #B%Tr  A%Tx
(a) Net finance costs () REERFE
Finance income on financial WIERAFERA
assets not at fair value BaEs %
through profit or loss BEZBERA (63) (987) - () (63) (962)
Finance costs BEE
Interest on loans and other BRE E REH
borrowings wholly repayable BEETNL
within five years HifgEZFE 4,338 32 - 707 4,338 739
Interest on promissory notes ENEEZFIS 36 46b) 847 7,423 - - 847 7,423
Interest on amounts due to FEfTRRR
shareholders RIBZHE 46(b) 4,937 2,638 - — 4,937 2,638
Interest on amounts due to [Ef@EAT
related companies FEZHE 46(b) 703 1,819 - - 703 1,819
Finance charges on obligations MEMRLAEZ
under finance leases BERY 6 - - - 6 -
Total interest expenses on IR YN )
financial liabilities not at FABHREL
fair value through profit g 3=4-vd
or loss FER% R 10,831 11,912 - 707 10,831 12,619
10,768 10,955 - 702 10,768 11,657
(b) Staff costs (including (b) EIRA(EHE
directors’ remuneration) EEMS)
Salaries, wages and other e I8k
benefits H iz R 29,570 18,068 - 3,101 29,570 21,169
Pension scheme contributions NEEHEER 360 136 - 23 360 159
Equity-settled share-based PARR R E A
payment expenses Wi M F 2 38 23,319 2,157 - - 23,319 2,157
53,249 20,361 - 3,124 53,249 23,485
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ - ——F=A=+—HBItFE

10. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 10. BRBEADEF (a)
Continuing
operations Discontinued operations Consolidated
BELSEER BRIEER &&
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

=§-—F -2-3F -¥--F “3-TF -¥--fF "F-3F
Note HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
M RETR OBETT RWTR  BMTR  #ETR BMTR

() Other items (c) £fER
Cost of inventories* BERA" 24 521,384 26,835 1,000 6,807 522,384 33,642
Depreciation e 6 1,038 556 - 343 1,038 899
Amortisation of land lease T EREEE
premium 6 - - - 3 - 3
Amortisation of intangible assets & & & 4 6 - - - 6,540 - 6,540
Minimum lease payments TiREF
under operating leases (BHEZES)
for land and buildings fmEg
(including directors’ quarters) REAL T 3,170 1,882 72 647 3,242 2,529
Auditor’s remuneration ZHME &
— audit services A 1,203 1,295 315 784 1,518 2,079
— other services — 2R 485 653 - - 485 653
1,688 1,948 315 784 2,003 2,732
Write-off of deposit paid MiEm— Rt ER
to a supplier P4k 44 - - - 44 —
Equity-settled share-based I A 1 52 5 2A
payment expenses BEEEL
for consultants B RS 38 7,835 - - - 7,835 -
- Cost of inventories includes depreciation of HK$412,000 (2010: - FEMK A CIETEEK412,000T (= F —
HK$2,003,000), and staff costs of HK$4,605,000 (2010: HK$6,436,000), the T4E - EKD,003,000T) K B T /7K E
amount of which is also included in the respective total amounts disclosed 4,605,000 ( = F — F4F : # #6,436,000
separately above. JT) » BRKIEIE B FX 555 EE2

BirgERE T -
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 B ZE —T——F=A=+—HItFE

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to Section 161 of the

1. EEME

RIEB B AN FI2F R ) IEHI 5 161 1845

Companies Ordinance (Chapter 32 of Laws of Hong Kong) is as BIEEMEWT -
follows:
2011
—E-—-F
Salaries Retirement
and other scheme Share-
benefits contributions based
Fees HER Bk payment Total
ne HE# BE 3 BB % £ @zt
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
Executive Directors HITES
Loh Jiah Yee, Katherine #£FHER-Z-F
(Appointed on 17 December 2010) +-AttBEZMT) - 349 2 44 395
Fletcher Yurk Nam, Sandy ZEE(R-ZE-ZF
(Appointed on 17 December 2010) +-At+tHEZT) - 394 4 795 1,193
Leung Chau Ping, Paul BMER=_E—F
(Re-designated as a Non-Executive MAXBHAEE
Director on 6 April 2011) FHTES) - 1,020 12 9,376 10,408
Leandro Dos Martires Guerra Leandro Dos Martires
(Resigned on 24 February 2011) Guerra (R=F——F
ZRZtImEET) - 2,740 - 1,963 4,703
Chiu Raymond Yim BRAC(R=Z-Z
(Retired on 31 August 2010) NAZ+—BEM) - 379 5 51 435
- 4,882 23 12,229 17,134
Non-Executive Director kHTES
Ng Tik Hong RRE(RN=_Z—ZF
(Appointed on 8 October 2010) TANBEZ) - 48 - - 48
Independent Non-Executive BIYFYTES
Directors
Leung Siu Hung, Joel PARTE 100 - - 436 536
John Tewksbury Banigan John Tewksbury Banigan 100 - - 704 804
Keung Paul Hinsum ZRR(M=ZT-24F
(Appointed on 27 July 2010) Tt AZTHREZE) 68 - - - 68
Chu Kin Wang, Peleus KERW-E-%F
(Retired on 31 August 2010) NA=Z+—BEM) 42 - - - 42
310 - - 1,140 1,450
310 4,930 23 13,369 18,632
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11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2011 &

1. EEM€

E-T——

FZRA=+—HILFE

2010
—E-%F
Salaries Retirement
and other scheme Share-
benefits  contributions pbased
Fees Fek Rikg payment Total
itk H A AR DAURGET @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BETT BT BETT BT
Executive Directors HTES
Leung Chau Ping, Paul RMFE(RZTENE
(Appointed on 21 August 2009) NAZ + A ﬁééf ) - 589 7 787 1,383
Chiu Raymond Yim BAC(RZTENE
(Appointed on 23 November 2009) +—A-+=REZT) - 519 7 197 723
Leandro Dos Martires Guerra Leandro Dos Martires
(Appointed on 20 January 2010) Guera (R=Z—ZF
—AZTHEZH) - 1,424 - 197 1,621
Teoh Tean Chai, Anthony RES (RZZTNF
(Resigned on 21 August 2009) NAZ+—BEHE) - 400 5 - 405
Chung Oi Ling, Stella BER(RZTENE
(Resigned on 5 November 2009) +—ARRET) - 280 7 — 287
- 3212 26 1,181 4,419
Independent Non-Executive BYFHTES
Directors
Chu Kin Wang, Peleus NN 100 - - - 100
Leung Siu Hung, Joel R (RZETNF
(Appointed on 21 August 2009) NAZ+—BEZD) 61 - - - 61
John Tewksbury Banigan John Tewksbury Banigan
(Appointed on 23 November 2009) (RZEZNF
+—A= + AEZE) 30 - - 79 109
Lo Chi Ho, William BEERZZTNF
(Resigned on 21 August 2009) NAZ + BEHE) 42 - - - 42
Lau Wa Chun Y (R_ZZNEF
(Resigned on 4 December 2009) TZAMAEHE) 67 - - - 67
300 - - 79 379
300 3,212 26 1,260 4,798

BEEENRAR BRI

There was no arrangement under which a director has waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration.

BE-T——F=A=t—ALFEM.
ARELEAEELHWE - UEBRS
AN SH AN S B 2 SRR B 1

During the year ended 31 March 2011, no emolument was paid by
the Group to the directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 B ZE —T——F=A=+—HItFE

12. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

The five highest paid individuals during the years included four (2010:
three) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in Note 11
above. Details of the emoluments of the remaining one (2010: two)
non-director, highest paid individuals were as follows:

REHAL
FAREERSHFALEBEONR(ZE—F
FZR)EF AERSFIHMEFBEER
EXHET - BT —BR(ZE—FF W
FIRSHFEEALZMEFHEOT

12.

The Group
TEH

2011 2010
—=E——F —E-FF
HK$’°000 HK$’000
BET T BT IT
Salaries and other benefits e REAMET 603 1,157
Retirement scheme contributions RRETEIEE R 12 14
Share-based payment VAR S A+ 833 569
1,448 1,740

The remuneration of the non-director, highest paid individuals fell within
the following bands:

REFIFEEATZMEN FUATEE -

Number of individuals

EEHE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-ZF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 L Z 71,000,000 7T - 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 7515 1,000,001 T & %5 1,500,000 7T 1 1
1 2

During the year ended 31 March 2011, no emolument was paid by the
Group to such individual as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ - ——F=A=+—HBItFE

13. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 13. BREWBRZAEHR
INCOME STATEMENT
(@) Income tax in the consolidated income statement (@ HFEWBERZFEHRAR:
represents:
Continuing
operations Discontinued operations Consolidated
BRELSEEY BRIEER Re
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
“E--f - ZB--§ -T-2F - ZT-IFf
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BT A¥TT B¥Tr  B%Tr B%Tr  A%Tx
Current tax BEBE
— Hong Kong Profits Tax ~ — &EHE
— Provision for the year - REEHE 42,102 7,354 - - 42,102 7,354
Current tax — Overseas BEBE — &5
— Over provision in respect — BEFERBEE
of prior years - - - (742) - (742)
Deferred tax BERE
— Origination and (reversal) of ~— — F&E 4 & (B[m)
temporary differences URES 108,380 125,479 (595) (1,191) 107,785 124,288
150,482 132,833 (595) (1,933) 149,887 130,900

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2010: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong.

Brazil income tax has been provided at the rate of 34% (2010:

34%) of the estimated assessable profits arising in Brazil.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

EENEHBEREBEL ZHT R
IR EA165%(—ZZE—ZF : 16.5%)
SR B -

EAEMEHRRENEAES Z (A ERH
HAIRTRE3A% (—Z T —T4F : 34%) :T1R
B -

REAM DA R E 4 2 TRIBIR AR DA%
B MR ETE -
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e MBS

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #E - T —— &= A=+—HILFE

13. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

INCOME STATEMENT (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense a

nd (b)

accounting profit/(loss) at applicable tax rates:

13. MEWBRZFIBH W

RABRARRIE ZBERX
HETRAN (BB 28k :

2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
HK$’°000 HK$’'000
BET T BT IT
Profit before taxation R A A
— Continuing operations — BEKEER 507,014 430,203
— Discontinued operations (Note 14) — BARIEER (HiE14) (15,634) (24,960
491,380 405,243
Notional tax on profit before taxation, BEEBRAREANGEN 2
calculated at the rates applicable to MEFHE 2 BRB AR F
profits in the countries concerned ZBERIA 139,428 139,588
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERBIRA Z BiEe 2 (826) (1,636)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses PRI A 2 B2 11,795 2,329
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised  JREEZ AR B) A F7 18 518 7 B G oo 42 878 1,310
Over provision in prior year BAFEBERE - (742)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses &) 8 8 1E R R B 518 (1,388) (9,949
Actual tax expense EBRTIERS 149,887 130,900

(c) Tax effect relating to each component of other (c) EttzEKREZAEAXBI 2B
comprehensive income BEe
2011 2010
B —Z-ZF
Tax Tax
Before (expenses)/  Net-of-tax Before  (expenses)/ Net-of-tax
tax benefit amount tax benefit amount
amount BE  NBRBER amount WE  HkREEE
BREAEE Fi%)/ B2 BE REAEE (BX)/#=2 o
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT B¥Tx  B¥Tx BT A%Tr A%t
Exchange differences on BMEBINTBRT
translation of financial BHREmEE
statements of overseas X ERE
subsidiaries 86,014 - 86,014 792 - 792
Reclassification adjustment for 5% & §5h
exchange difference relating MBRRZER
to disposal of overseas ERENDEAR
subsidiaries - - - (3,185) - (3,185)
86,014 - 86,014 (2,393 - (2,393
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e MEREME

For the year ended 31 March 2011 E - —— &= A=+—HItFE

14. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

(@

(b)

For the year ended 31 March 2011

In February 2010, management of the Group have commenced
negotiations to dispose of the Chita forests operation in Russia.
On 1 March 2010, Amplewell Holdings Limited (“Amplewell”), a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a letter
of intent with Source Bright Limited, an independent third party
to dispose of the Group’s entire equity interest in issued share
capital of a subsidiary, namely OOO "Zabaikalskaya Lesnaya
Kompaniya" (“ZLK”) which held 99.95% equity interest in OOO
"Novoles" (“Novoles") (collectively the “ZLK Group”). ZLK Group
was principally engaged in forestry business in Russia.

As at 31 March 2011, the disposal of ZLK Group was yet to
complete due to a delay caused by events beyond the Group’s
control. Since the Group remains committed to its plan to
dispose of ZLK Group, no reclassification has been made.

For the year ended 31 March 2010

(i) On 1 August 2009, Anex Properties Holdings Limited, a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an
agreement with Mr. Tse Chun Fai, an independent third
party, to dispose of its entire equity interest in Joyful Rise
Investments Limited and Beijing Joyful Rise Investment
Consulting Company Limited (collectively the “Joyful Rise
Group”) for a consideration of HK$1. Joyful Rise Group
was principally engaged in the real estate operations. The
disposal was completed on 1 August 2009.

(ii) On 22 September 2009, the Company entered into a
sale and purchase agreement with Mr. Goh Ee Bin, an
independent third party, to dispose of the entire equity
interest in Leadprime Limited and its subsidiaries, Anex
Properties Holdings Limited and Ancen Properties Limited,
(collectively the “Leadprime Group”) for a consideration
of HK$18,182,000. Leadprime Group was principally
engaged in the real estate operations. The disposal was
completed on 30 September 2009.

14. BRIL¥ETK

(@

(b)

BE=
LFEE
R-ZE—ZEF_R AEEEEE
716 7 51 B kAR B 2 TR IB ARAREE
HeoRZE—ZTF=A—H ' ARA
ZEEMBARMRZERERAF
([7)JR 1) B33 37 25 = 75 Source Bright
Limited s] S B [A1E - HE AR B 7
& 2 81000 [ Zabaikalskaya Lesnaya
Kompaniya] ([ZLK]) ( & #% & 000
[Novoles | ([Novoles |)99.95% % &
H o R IZ2KER]) B HITRA
ZEHRAER - AKEB T BEMRK
EHTN EMEET -

E-—%=ZRA=+—H

HREABLASETSISEE 4
MEBPER  MEE-ZT——F=A4
=t+—B  PEZAKEBEHRTK -
REBEFZAEHEZIKER - BT
BEHHHE

S —2F=A=+—H
JJ:f-IEE

) RZZFEZEAFNA—RB AR
AlzzEMBARZELHE
SEBRRARERBLE =T
BEEAERTLHE  HEER
BERREARARRIERESR
ERLEBABRRA(HHE
= e e
RER/EBBIT - EREEE
BREFMBEXRS - HESRN
“EEAFNAA—HTK

iy MHZZTEThAFhRA=+=8"
XX R B3 37 5 = 5 Goh Ee
Binst £l VBB - HER
EERABREMBRRLE
THEEEERATIRELEE
XBRAR(FE[HBEEE]D
2HBRAER REREE
18,182,0007T - IAEE B X &
NEFHMEFES HEERZ
ZZNFNAZFTHTK -
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 B ZE —T——F=A=+—HItFE

14. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

122

(b)

KERMEZRERA A

For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Continued)

(i)

On 15 December 2009, Anex Construction and
Engineering Holdings Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into a sale and purchase agreement
with United Marble Company Limited, a non-controlling
shareholder of two subsidiaries, United Anex Engineering
Limited and United Anex (Macau) Limited, to dispose of
its entire equity interest in Anex Far East Limited and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Anex Far East Group”) for a
consideration of HK$8,280,000. Anex Far East Group was
principally engaged in the building material business. The
disposal was completed on 24 March 2010.

On 31 December 2009, the Company entered into a
sale and purchase agreement with Mr. Chan Tsz Kin, an
independent third party, to dispose of the entire equity
interest in Idealboom Group Limited and its subsidiaries,
Ever Think Holdings Company Limited and Ever Think
Technology Limited, (collectively the “Idealboom Group”)
for a cash consideration of HK$4,000,000. Previously,
ldealboom Group was principally engaged in the building
material business and it was dormant since the financial
year ended 31 March 2009. The disposal was completed
on 28 February 2010.

In February 2010, management of the Group have
commenced negotiations to dispose of the Chita forests
operation in Russia. On 1 March 2010, Amplewell entered
into a letter of intent with Source Bright Limited, an
independent third party to dispose of the Group’s entire
equity interest in ZLK Group.

2% /-2 —FFH

14. DR IEEK @)

BE-_Z-ZHE=A=+—H
IEFEE ()

(b)

(i)

RZZEENF+=—A+HA -
ARElz 2B BARIREL
BETIRESE AR AT HEER
ERERA AR (MHEHER A
EBRTRELTREERAR RE
Bz E+ ORFI) BRAF ZIE
TR LEERHE B
EERLZELTREERDAR
HEMBAR (5l BT ER
@) 2HRARER  RER
75 #8,280,0007T ° 7 L+ iR
REBEFENZEMER - B
EERZE—ZEF=A=1+M@
A7 -

RZEZEANFF+ZA=+—
A+ AR BT =75 Chan
Tsz KinSe £ B E ez - I
EEHEEERA A RENWES
RNEPKBIERBR AR KKE
B ERAE(FHEETEE
B ) 2a Az - BeR(E
/78 14,000,000 7T © 10T &
ERAFENEEMER
BEE2-_ZETNF=ZRA=+—
A BREEREEEE - i
EERZZE—ZTF-_A=+N
A -

R-ZE—ZTF_F AEEE
BERBEAHE®RERZ
TRIERMEE - R —FF
—A—B HREBIE=
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i & B 35 8 5 Bl 5

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ - ——F=A=+—HBItFE

14. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued) 14, EARLEER @
The operations of Joyful Rise Group, Leadprime Group, Anex Far East EREE hEER - TFEtTEEREB -
Group, Idealboom Group and ZLK Group are classified as discontinued EHEBENZAKEE 2 ES D EAEDKIE
operations and the loss arising from discontinued operations is R MERIEERELEZEESWOT :
analysed as follows:
2011 2010
—B——fF —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Loss on discontinued operations BRIEEB 2 FEEIE
for the year (15,039) (10,559)
Loss on disposal of discontinued HEDRIEEB BB (FiT41)
operations (Note 41) - (12,468)
(15,039) (28,027)

The results of the discontinued operations which have been included in
the consolidated income statement up to the dates of disposals are as

BEHERML Bt AGARERZE
RIPEBEENT

follows:
2011 2010
—E-—-F —Z-%F
Chita Chita
forests forests
operation Building Real operation
TERM materials estate  TRIEFRM Total
% fev) FiE £5 @
Note HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
fsF BETT BT BT BT BT
Revenue KA 7 - 77,381 123 2,013 79,517
Cost of sales HERA - (73,771) (10) (15,487) (89,268)
Gross profit/(loss) ESIVAES:)) - 3,610 113 (13,474) (9,751)
Other income HA 8 1,312 1,026 29 5,052 6,107
Other net gain Hiwlha #8 8 671 - - 2,499 2,499
Selling and distribution costs BERDERA - - - (183) (183)
Administration expenses TEE (6,295) (3,519 (389) (6,347) (10,249)
Other operating expenses Hi & g% 9 (11,322) - (206) 7 213)
(17,617) (3,519) (589) (6,537) (10,645)
(Loss)/profit from operations e (B18) /&M (15,634) 1,117 (447) (12,460) (11,790)
Finance income REWA - - 5 - 5
Finance costs MEER - 41) - (666) (707)
Net finance (costs)/income BE(BR)/WNFE 10(a) - 41) 5 (666) (702)
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 &

14. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

124

EZT——F=ZA=+—HILFE

14. CRIEEK @)

2011 2010
“E-—-F —Z-%F
Chita Chita
forests forests
operation Building Real operation
TERM materials estate  FREEFRM Total
ES) S fev) FitE ES) Bt
Note HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
fsF BETT BT BT BT BT
(Loss)/profit before tax BHE (E8) /57 (15,634) 1,076 (442) (13,126) (12,492)
Income tax &M 13(3) 595 742 52 1,139 1,933
(15,039) 1,818 (390) (11,987) (10,559
Loss on disposal of discontinued ~ HEB K IFEH 2 BEAT
operations before tax BB - (3,246) (9,222) - (12,468)
Income tax &R - - - - -
Loss on disposal of discontinued ~ HER K IF¥HK 2
operations, net of tax EE - %RFE 41 - (3,246) (9,222) — (12,468)
Loss from discontinued BRIEERZFE
operations (15,039) (1,428) (9,612) (11,987) (23,027)
Attributable tor e -
Owners of the Company ARAIEAA (15,029) (2,549) (9,500) (11,987) (24,032)
Non-controlling interests AR RS (10) 1,117 (112) - 1,005
(15,039) (1,428) (9,612 (11,987) (23,027)
Cash flow from discontinued ~B&I¥BBHER
operations
Net cash (used in)/generated megEERe (RE),/HA
from operating activities FHE (6,408) 23 (282) 9,104 8,845
Net cash generated from/ BEEBRLTN/(R)
(used in) investing activities pectcl - 4,522 (70) (1,753) 2,699
Net cash generated BEEHHESRA/(RE)
from/(used in) financing FHE
activities 6,407 (12,306) — (7,351) (19,657)
1) (7,761) (352) - (6,113)

The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of the discontinued
operations at the date of disposal are disclosed in Note 41.

KERMEZRERA A

2% /-2 —FFH

ERIEEBAHERB - EERABER
BN 41 3 -
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e MEREME

15.

16.

17.

For the year ended 31 March 2011 E - —— &= A=+—HItFE

DIVIDENDS . RE
Dividends payable to the owners of the Company attributable to the REEHERARQARRANRNZIEE
year:
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-TEF
HK$°000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
Final dividend proposed after the end of the RikE BREE B & ZXHH% g,
reporting period of HK0.45 cent per ordinary FRLBERERO. 451UJ( —ZE
share (2010: Nil cent per ordinary share) ST @R EEZ) 22,804 —
Final dividend proposed after the end of the REHREAERRERZ APRE
reporting period of HK0.084 cent per convertible TR Hﬁ@f‘ﬁ%f %%O 0841l
preference share (2010: Nil cent per convertible (ZZ—ZF : BRAUBKELERD
preference share) BT 7,481 —
30,285 —
The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period has B’éi&%,ﬁ,ﬁﬁa EERBESEIARBAREIN K
not been recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting period. R HAR %% A& n/ui%ﬁ1 o
# The calculation of dividends payable was based on the number of ordinary # FET IR B Tﬁ?;zﬁAZlifﬁiﬁ H H,ﬁzjt 7 AR K2 ] #R
shares and convertible preference shares as at the date of this report. BRELERMERTES

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE OWNERS OF 16. XATEEABEEE
THE COMPANY

The consolidated loss attributable to the owners of the Company ERARNFTMBRERBZARNTIES A
includes a loss of HK$15,410,000 and HK$9,763,000 for the years G AEBEREHEZ T —F K -F
ended 31 March 2011 and 2010 respectively, which has been dealt —EE=A=+—HUIFEZEED %\J,%
with in the financial statements of the Company. # 15,410,000 7T M & # 9,763,000 7T °
EARNINGS PER SHARE 17. BRER
(@) For continuing and discontinued operations () HEKSEEBRRCORILER
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is based gﬂx%$&}§E SR M TR S LA B
on the following data: RTE
2011 2010
—2——F —E=—TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Earnings BF
Earnings for the purpose of basic and R B GRIRER REEET
diluted earnings per share 2 ER
— Profit attributable to the owners — RNARHEE AEE R
of the Company 341,486 273,303
2011 2010
—2——F —E-FF
’000 000
F A F A&
Number of Shares v 4=l
Weighted average number of ordinary shares AT ESREREF
for the purpose of basic earnings per share Lm A nE 3,462,624 1,391,453
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares HIB A NE S B B EEZ
arising from conversion of convertible BrEEEERRE
preference shares 2,977,901 2,749,320
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares EREEE 2 BEHE
arising from share options TRz E 6,499 —
Weighted average number of ordinary shares R EEREERN
for the purpose of diluted earnings per share T m AR INRESE S 8 6,447,024 4,140,773
The share options had no dilutive effect because the average HREE —ZEE=A=+—
market price of ordinary shares did not exceed the exercise price FELR Hx Z FgmE {E 3 K 48 Hj ﬁﬁ
of the share options for the year ended 31 March 2010. Details MR 2 AT M8 - AR AR D A R
of share options have been set out in Note 38. 2 o 75 RARBHRIE SIS BT EES8
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #E - T —— &= A=+—HILFE

17. EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

126

17.

BRERN @

(b) For continuing operations (b) FEREHEK
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share from RAREEAELREFERLSER
continuing operations attributable to the owners of the Company ZEHREREEERET TIREA T
is based on the following data: EEtE
2011 2010
—EB——fF —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT
Earnings BF|
Profit attributable to the owners of the Company KA T A A 15 % A 356,515 297,335
2011 2010
—=E——F —E-%F
’000 000
Fr T
Number of Shares R EE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares AUFTESREREF 2
for the purpose of basic earnings per share ILm A hnE a2 3,462,624 1,391,453
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares FARRIRRRE SR D E A
arising from conversion of convertible ZEBERELBR o TE
preference shares 2,977,901 2,749,320
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares BREEE BTHE
arising from share options Tmk o2 6,499 —
Weighted average number of ordinary shares RAUGTESREERF 2
for the purpose of diluted earnings per share TR N5 8 6,447,024 4,140,773
The share options had no dilutive effect because the average HREE T ZEF=A=1+—HILFE
market price of ordinary shares did not exceed the exercise price il ol 11’7 {8 I AR 68 B R i 2 17 {5
of the share options for the year ended 31 March 2010. B WERRErREsTrE -
(c) For discontinued operations (c) BHALLEK
() Basic loss per share () BREXERE
Basic loss per share for the discontinued operations ERIEEBZBRELREE
is HKO.44 cent per share (2010: HK1.73 cents per BERBBAMN(ZE —
share) which is based on the loss from the discontinued TF G RR B B1.731M )
operations of HK$15,029,000 (2010: HK$24,032,000) DIRBERIEXEBEEEE
and the denominators used are same as those detailed 15,029,00070( =& — T 4F -
above for basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share from 78 #524,032,0007C ) it E -
continuing and discontinued operations. FTR 9 & B2 SR af il 5 48 48
EEBRORIEEBR 2 BRE
AREERF,(BE)FMAE
I
ARHEBRERAT —F-% "F——F5H
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17. EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

(c) For discontinued operations (Continued)

(i) Diluted loss per share
Diluted loss per share is equal to the basic loss per share
for the both years ended 31 March 2010 and 2011
because the outstanding convertible preference shares
and share options had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic

loss per share.

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ - ——F=A=+—HBItFE

17. BRER &)
) BRIEK®

(i)

ZR B EEE

HE-_T——FR_ZT—FTF
A=+t HIFEZzEKE
BEBHESENEREREE
TSR B AR TE AR E %L
A& tn R R F AR E AR E 1R
AREERE -

18. M1% - BERRHE

The Group NE
Buildings
held for own Machinery,
use carried engineering
Freehold  at fair value Furniture and other
Lands BAVE and  equipment Motor Construction
XA BRI fixtures #zE - IREK vehicles  in progress Total
EEti BERgT HGRAREE Hibi e RE ERIR b
(Note a) (Note b)
(Hiia) (Wth)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
Cost or valuation RAMEE
At 1 April 2009 R-TERENA-H - - 2013 - 256 - 2269
Acquisttion of subsidiaries (Note 40) WEEH B ARl (A7 40) 195,307 41,929 1 16,290 6,223 5,484 265,244
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMHBAR - - (264) - - - (264)
Additions RNE - - 214 1,820 3,168 1,881 7,078
Disposals HE - - - - (520) - (520)
Reclassification EHNE - 3,190 - 1,935 - (5,129) -
Exchange movement EXEH - 94 1 1,178 451 397 2,116
Classffied as assets held for sale PERRIEFESE
(Note 27) (Hzter) - (45.219) 12 (19.210) (6,410) R8s (73542)
At 31 March 2010 RZZ-TF=A=1-H 195,307 - 1,963 1,948 3,158 - 202,376
At 1 April 2010 RZE-ZFNA-H 195,307 - 1,963 1,948 3,158 - 202,376
Additions AE - - 589 365 577 - 1,531
Disposals HE - - - (50) (215) - (265)
Exchange movement ERES 30,366 - 16 128 274 - 30,784
At 31 March 2011 RZZE——F=ZfA=1+—H 225,673 - 2,568 2,391 3,794 - 234,426
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 B ZE —T——F=A=+—HItFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

18. W% - MERRE @)

The Group (Continued) AEE(E)
Buildings
held for own Machinery,
use carried engineering
Freehold at fair value Furniture and other
Lands BAVE and  equipment Motor Construction
XA BRI fixtures #3E  IRK vehicles  in progress Total
EEti BERET GRAREE HAthRfE RE EEIR b
(Note a) (Note b, ¢)
(frita) (Wb~ c)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BB BETT BRI BB BETT
Accumulated depreciation ZiE
At 1 April 2009 RZZEENENA—H - - 503 - 30 - 533
Charge for the year TEERE - 68 374 1,573 887 - 2,902
Written back on disposals of subsidiaries & i B2 7] el - - (108) - - - (108)
Written back on disposals HERER - - - - (237) - (237)
Exchange movement EHEE - 1 - 28 8 - 37
Classffied as assets held for sale PEBRBEFELE
(Note 27) (Hzter) - (69) (1) (1,494) (480) - (2,044)
At 31 Merch 2010 W-F-2F=f=1-H - - 768 107 208 - 1,083
At 1 April 2010 R-E-2EMA-H - - 768 107 208 - 1,083
Charge for the year ’EERE - - 387 396 667 - 1,450
Written back on disposals HERZD - - - 4 (20) - (24)
Exchange movement EHE - - 2 21 48 - 71
At 31 March 2011 R-E-—F=fA=1-H - - 1,157 520 908 - 2,580
Carrying amount REE
At 31 March 2011 R-E-——%=f=1-H 225,673 - 1,411 1,871 2,891 — 231,846
At 31 March 2010 RZF-ZF=A=1-1 195,307 - 1,195 1,841 2,950 - 201,293
(@) The freehold lands are held in Amazon Brazil where the @ KAEELHWAUNEADER
44,500-hectare nature forest is located. 44,500 N ERRFFMETIEH o
(b) At 31 March 2011, the motor vehicles with carrying amount of b) RZE——F=A=+—H0 KHE
HK$533,000 (2010: HK$976,000) are pledged for bank loan of B HE533,000L( T —T4F : B
HK$304,000 (2010: HK$506,000) (Note 29). 976,0007T) 2 AEEERERITER
7S 304,000 (=2 — 2 F : B
506,000 7T.) < HAF (51 29) -
(¢) During the year ended 31 March 2011, additions to motor (© (E-T——F=A=+—HL#F

vehicles of the Group financed by new finance leases were
HK$577,000 (2010: Nil). At the end of the reporting period, the
net book value of motor vehicles held under finance leases of the
Group was HK$529,000 (2010: Nil).

128 KRHEZERERAE =TT —F——FFH
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2011 E - —— &= A=+—HItFE

18. W% - MERRE @)

The Company VNN |
Furniture
Leasehold and other Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
HENELE GRAREMRE "E mat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BRI BT
Cost B
At 1 April 2009 RZZZNFMA—H 1,062 701 256 2,019
Additions NE - 12 - 12
Disposals HE - - (256) (256)
At 31 March 2010, RZE-FE=A=+—H
1 April 2010 and “ZT-ZFNMA-AR
31 March 2011 —E——F=ZfA=+—H 1,062 713 - 1,775
Accumulated depreciation ZiHFE
At 1 April 2009 RZZZNFMA—H 212 232 30 474
Charge for the year rEENE 213 107 11 331
Written back on disposals ) E R E - - (41) (41)
At 31 March 2010 and RZZ-ZF=A=+—8ARK
1 April 2010 % $¢E —H 425 339 - 764
Charge for the year AEEHE 212 109 - 321
At 31 March 2011 —E——F=A=1—H 637 448 - 1,085
Carrying amount BREE
At 31 March 2011 RZE——F=A=+—H 425 265 - 690
At 31 March 2010 —ZF=A=+—H 637 374 - 1,011
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #E - T —— &= A=+—HILFE

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 9. BELEE

The Group AEE
Timber
concession
rights
R ETHE
HK$’000
BT
Cost A
At 1 April 2009 RZETNFMA—H
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 40) WM B A7) (M aF40) 168,182
Exchange movement [ 2 5) 312
Classified as assets held for sale (Note 27) DEAFESEEE (Wit27) (168,494)
At 31 March 2010, 1 April 2010 and 31 March 2011 RZZ—TF=A=+—H  ZT—ZTF
Eﬂ E&ff——i_ﬂ_+ =] —
Accumulated amortisation ?ﬁi‘ﬁﬁ‘é’
At 1 April 2009 RZZEZNFMNA—H —
Charge for the year $¢E By 6,540
Exchange movement [ 2 E) 7
Classified as assets held for sale (Note 27) DEABEFREEE (Kat27) (6,547)

At 31 March 2010, 1 April 2010 and 31 March 2011 R-ZE—ZTF=F=+—H "
MA—BR-Z—

—T-TF
—¥=A=1+—H

REE
R—ZE——F=A=+—H —

Carrying amount
At 31 March 2011

At 31 March 2010 N

130

Timber concession rights

The Group acquired seven timber concession licences through
acquisition of Amplewell Holdings Limited (“Amplewell”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Amplewell Group”) on 31 July 2009.
These timber concession rights cover approximately 242,745 hectares
of forests situated within the Chita Region in Russia.

The timber concession licences have finite life which will expire in 2012
to 2032. Under the terms of the timber concession licences, the Group
have the right to carry out harvesting activities. In addition, the Group is
required to pay royalties to the respective forestry services departments
in Russia at a pre-determined fixed sum calculated based on the
volume by species allowed to be harvested each year.

KRHEZERERAE =TT —F——FFH
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RZZZNFEA=1T—8H XEEEB
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o MEAMBHREERENFELE
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19.

20.

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ - ——F=A=+—HBItFE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Timber concession rights (Continued)

The timber concession rights were independently valued by
Greater China Appraisal Limited (“GCA”), an independent qualified
professional valuers not connected with the Group, with a fair value
of HK$168,182,000 at the date of acquisition. GCA has adopted a
direct market data method to value the timber concession rights which
is based on the official price data published by the Federal Forestry
Agency of the Ministry of Agriculture of the Russian Federation.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, two timber concession rights
covering approximately 23,893 hectares of forest were expropriated
by respective forestry services departments in Russia due to defaults
of payments of royalties during the year. As a result, these two timber
concession rights were written off by the Group with the carrying
amount of approximately HK$9,926,000 recognised as other operating
expenses of discontinued operations.

19.

BEEE®

RIS (8)

AN RE R HE T R B R 52 B0 M R A3 2 B T
BEARBEMEMZETEARAR(NE
EFEDBLGEE RREBHZATE
775 168,182,000 7T © i E T E B & &
78 H B 38 & % %8 (Ministry of Agriculture of
the Russian Federation) Federal Forestry
Agency T3 2 B A BB ERNRMNEZE TS
BB AR AT HE o

HE-_ZT——F=ZA=+—HIEFER"
EAFANERZHEFEE 2 HIE - MIEAR
WS RFRE R E 40 23,803 N A Z BRI B 2B
Hr B BARMRIS S0P 2 4 - At - AEE
B2 MIEARM ST - MERAEELY
759,926,000 JTiER A AR IEFE 55 2 HAth
EEBHAY -

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 20. £MEE
The Group NE

2011 2010
—2——F —ET-FF
HK$’°000 HK$’000
BET T BT I
At beginning of the year REH] 833,323 —
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 40) W B B~ =) (Bt 40) - 461,747
Changes in fair value less costs to sell NP EZ R ERAE 250,243 369,980
Exchange movement FE &, 5 89,584 1,596
At end of the year REL 1,173,150 833,323

The Group’s forest assets, acquired through the business combination
of Amplewell Group, are located in the Northwest of Brazil, the State
of Acre, Amazon Region (the “Brazil Forest”). At 31 March 2011 and
2010, the biological assets represent natural tropical forests. The total
area of the Brazil Forest is approximately 44,500 hectares. Under the
environmental laws in Brazil, 15% or 6,675 hectares of the Brazil Forest
area is the permanent preservation area and therefore is restricted
from logging. At least 80% of the remaining area is designated as the
sustainable forest management area and the balance is the permissible
clear cut area that has no restriction on felling under the environmental
laws of Brazil. In the sustainable forest management area, minimum
impact logging techniques are used and forests are managed in a
sustainable manner which means that the harvesting rate is below the
overall natural growth of the forest. The main objective in sustainable
forest management program is to ensure the substance of the forests
be preserved. The maximum logging rate allowed under relevant
regulations governing sustainable forest management is 30 cubic
meters per hectare, an average, over a 25 to 30 year harvesting cycle.

Sustainable Forest Holdings Limited Annual Report 2010/2011
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 B ZE —T——F=A=+—HItFE

20. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)

132

The Group did not carry out any harvesting activities during the year.

The Brazil Forest was independently valued by GCA. GCA has
experience in valuing similar forestry assets. GCA has adopted a
discounted cash flow methodology in valuing the Brazil Forest. The
following are the major assumptions used in the valuation:

° a logging volume of 21.5 m® (2010: 21.5 m?®) per hectare in the
sustainable forest management program area.

° a discount rate of 16.6% (2010: 14%) based on the data and
factors relevant to the economy of Brazil, the industry of forest
business and the harvestable resources in the Brazil Forest, and
the weighted average cost of capital.

o harvesting activities for the first 30-year cycle will begin from the
calendar year of 2011 and complete in 8 years (2010: 4 years).
Revenue or costs from subsequent harvesting cycle are not
taken into account.

o average logs price growth at a rate of 3% per annum (2010:
3% per annum) in the next 7 years (2010: 4 years) which is the
expected long term growth rate was estimated by reference to
the Consumer Price Index in USA.

° the Group will obtain Forest Stewardship Council (“FSC”)
certification in 2012. FSC certification demonstrates fulfillment
of social and ecological criteria, while increasing the prices
achievable for timber products. Based on current market
practices, the directors estimate that the Group can enjoy a price
premium of 15% over non FSC timber products from 2012 when
the Group obtains the FSC certification.

KRHEZERERAE =TT —F——FFH

20. £YEE )
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20. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)

21.

For the year ended 31 March 2011 E - —— &= A=+—HItFE

The Group is exposed to a number of risks related to its natural forest.

() Regulatory and environmental risks

The Group is subject to laws and regulations in Brazil in which
it operates. The Group has established environmental policies
and procedures aimed at compliance with local environmental
and other laws. Management performs regular reviews to identify
environmental risks and to ensure that the systems in place are
adequate to manage those risks. The directors are not aware of
any environmental liabilities as at 31 March 2011.

(ii) Supply and demand risk

The Group is exposed to risks arising from fluctuations in the
price and sales volume of logs. When possible the Group
manages this risk by controlling its harvest volume, according to
market conditions. Management performs regular industry trend
analysis to ensure the Group’s pricing policy is comparable to the
market and the projected harvesting volumes are consistent with
the expected demand.

20. EMEE W

REB 2 RAGME L ZIARR -

i)y EERRERR

A2 BT H T 2 DR R R
FIIRE - REBEHITTRIERE R
F - STEBETEHIBR R b5
EEE TR TRE - UETIRIER
BEBERTHERNEBREHE
o R-B——F=A=+—H &
EWNHBREMIREEE -

(i) HRERS
AEBTEAMERRIEERREE
EZER  EARBRT - AEER
B8 T S 42 o) ELRR 4R B LA BB o TH A
B o BB FHIEITITEBE DI
AR A B BB RA T KT
RIEER B RTEEIE R -

GOODWILL 21. BE
The Group NEH
HK$’000
BT
Cost AR A
At 1 April 2009 RZZTTAFMNA—H —
Arising from acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 40) UL BB BN 8 A BIFTEE A (AY7E40) 1,686,883
At 31 March 2010, 1 April 2010 and 31 March 2011 RZE—ZTF=A=+—H ZZ2—ZFFWA
—BER_ZTE——F=A=+—H 1,686,883
Carrying amount FREE
At 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2011 RN_Z—ZTFZA=+—BR_ZT—F
—B=+—H 1,686,883

Goodwill was allocated to the Group’s cash-generating unit identified
according to the operating segment. The goodwill as at 31 March 2011
and 2010 was attributable to the cash-generating unit that comprises
the sustainable forest management segment. The recoverable amount
of the sustainable forest management segment was determined to be
higher than its carrying amount, therefore, there was no impairment
loss.

The recoverable amount of the sustainable forest management
segment cash-generating unit was based on value in use and was
determined with the assistance of an independent valuer.

PMESEERELE D H A 2 AEEHE
CELEBMN RZE——FR-_ZT—ZF
Z A=+ —BzZEETRE AKX TIFER
MERDE 2R EEEN o ATFFERMN
ERNHsRESEHIEEABERA
BREE - At - WEBEEBE -

Tﬁ%*fﬂim ELHRMBEEELEM Z AT
CHRAEAEERER YEBIMGE
Eﬂﬁﬁz’;ﬁj}TféEf’
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21.

134

GOODWILL (Continued)

Value in use was determined by discounting the future cash flows
generated from the continuing use of the unit. The calculation of the
value in use was based on the following key assumptions:

—  Cash flows were projected based on past experience and
financial budget approved by management. Management
estimated that the cash flows after 9 years (2010: 5 years) are
immaterial to the overall recoverable amount of the unit because
the management planned to complete the harvesting and selling
activities for the first 30-year cycle of the Brazil Forest within 9
years. Therefore, cash flows after 9 years (2010: 5 years) are not
included in the value in use calculations. Cash flows from year 5
to year 8 are extrapolated using an estimated weighted average
growth rate of 3%, which is consistent with the expected long
term growth rate of Consumer Price Index in USA. Management
estimated that there would be a negative growth of 64% in year
9 as a result of the completion of harvesting and selling activities
for the first 30-year cycle of the Brazil forest.

— Revenue was projected based on management’s past
experience and their expectations for market development and
the harvesting plan.

—  Timber product average price growth at 3% per annum (2010: 3%
per annum). The expected long term growth rate was estimated
by reference to the Consumer Price Index in USA.

— A pre-tax discount rate of 21.2% (2010: 20.3%) based on the
data and factors relevant to the economy of Brazil, the forest
industry, the timber products in the Brazil Forest, and the
weighted average cost of capital.

—  The Group will obtain FSC certification in 2012. FSC certification
demonstrates fulfilment of social and ecological criteria, while
increasing the prices achievable for timber products. Based on
current market practices, the directors estimate that the Group
can enjoy a price premium of 15% over non FSC timer products
from 2012 when the Group obtains the FSC certification.

KRHEZERERAE =TT —F——FFH
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ - ——F=A=+—HBItFE

22. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES 22. B A RER
The Company
AAT

2011 2010

—2——F —E-TF

HK$’°000 HK$’000

BET T ST T
Unlisted shares, at cost JE LR - RACAR —* -
Amounts due from subsidiaries [ PNGIE e 2,519,978 2,216,432
2,519,978 2,216,432

Less: Impairment losses B REEE (15,284) (15,334)
2,504,694 2,201,098

* Total investment cost are HK$11 (2010: HK$19). * HBREKARBEENI T (ZFE—FF B

(@  The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-
free and had no fixed repayment terms. In the opinion of the
Company’s director, these advances are considered as quasi-
equity loans to the subsidiaries. The carrying amounts of the
amounts due from subsidiaries approximate to their fair value.

(b)  The movement in the allowance for impairment losses during the

year was as follows:

197L) ©

(@ RURKBARFAREER 28K
FERFIRE BB R BRH 2 R
REER - U B QR FIAZ REE
HERNFEES -

b) FRBEREREZESHEINWT

2011 2010

—E2——F —E-ZF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Balance brought forward AR 4S5 15,334 24,545
Written off Gk (50)* -
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMHBAR - (4,043)

Reversal of impairment loss B EUREEE - (5,168)"

Balance carried forward T 3 15,284 15,334
# During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Company received a net # HE=—FT—TF=FA=1—HIFE

consideration of disposal of subsidiary of HK$5,868,000 on behalf of a
subsidiary. Therefore, the impairment loss recognised in previous years

in relation to this subsidiary was reversed.

* During the year ended 31 March 2011, a subsidiary, which was inactive
in the current and prior years, was deregistered and the amount
due from this subsidiary was written off against the impairment loss
recognised in previous years in relation to this subsidiary.

A KRR BIAR — S 1B 2~ IR
£ ] 8 2 ] L (B )F 878 5,868,000
JC o B - ABIEFR AR B A
Z EMRBIEERE TRE -

© BE-F——FZJS+—AILFE
7 — R RAB T
2B R TS RIS - MK
HB 2 2 SR E FIF RSB/
ST 2 A8 2 L1 T DA
#
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22. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 22. MtB A RIRER @)

(c) Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (c) MIBATFRBWT :
Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of Percentage of
registration and issued and equity attributable
operations paid up capital to the Company
Name R/ MR BETR KATEN Principal activities
#i8 el BRBRAFE REBSL TEEHR
directly indirectly
HE 5f:
Ally Rise Limited British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of - 100 Investment holding
RERUES US$1 each REER
1REBRERAR
ES
Amano Holdings Limited Cyprus 1,000 ordinary shares of - 100 Inactive
Ey] Euro1 each gma%
1000 % & AR SR A E
1B
Amplewell Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of - 100 Investment holding
R ERBR AR B A US$1 each REER
1REBRERAR
e
Anex International Management Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of 100 - Human resources management
Limited B HK$1 each ANERER
ZELEARERERAT 1REBERERAR
BT
AW Holdings Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of - 100 Inactive
ZEBRBRAR &R HK$1 each TEex
1REBRERAR
EEIT
Eastmark Holding Limited Samoa 3,350 ordinary shares of - 100 Investment holding
BED US$1 each RERR
3,350 & Bk ik
EE1ET
Great Path Limited British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of 100 - Investment holding
LBBRAT EERAHS US$1 each REZR
1REBRERAE
1=
Manzhouli Eastmark China Paid up registered capital - 100 Timber and wood processing
Wooden Products Co., Ltd * F of US$75,000 and timber trading
M EREAZERAA B REMBRA A RARIIIRAHEE
75,000% 7T
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22. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ - ——F=A=+—HBItFE

22. B A EIHERE &)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows:

(Continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of
registration and issued and
operations paid up capital
Name R/ #RE BRTR
£ K BRRAGE
000 “Zabaikalskaya Russia Rubles7,150,000
Lesnaya Kompania” Rz 7,150,000 E%
000 “Novoles” Russia Rubles40,120,482
& 40,120,482 &7
SFH Management Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of
KREBBRBATF B4 HK$1 each
1RERRERAE
BEIT
SFH Trading Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of
XRESHERDA B4 HK$1 each
1B EBREREE
BT
Total Growth Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of
HERRAR B HK$1 each
1RERRERER
BT
Universal Timber Resources Brazil R$12,049,133
Do Brasil Participacao Lida B 12,049,133 E 28
(“Universal Timber”)
* The English translation of Chinese name is for identification purpose
only.
e Wholly-foreign owned enterprise registered in China.

(c)

MEARFEOT - (8)

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company

RS
REEAL

directly
B#

100

100

Principal activities
TEEY
indirectly

3

100 Logging, timber and
wood processing,
timber trading and
holding of timber
concession rights

AR~ AR RARHIL -
Rt EERISEAM
Rt

99.95 Logging, timber and
wood processing,
timber trading and
holding of timber
concession rights

oA ABRABIT -
AW EE RFHEAM
g

- General management
—RER

100 Timber and wood products
trading
AEANEREE

- Inactive
Tmey

99.99 Sustainable management of
and investment in natural
forests, timber and wood
processing, timber trading
and timber sales, marketing
and tree felling services

RERARAERRIRE -
AMRARMI - AHEE -
A HE R 5
IAREARRE
. XN EERE 2 RFE T

- R I EEELF
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23.

24.

138

DEPOSIT FOR PURCHASE OF PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The amount represents deposit of R$6,400,000 (equivalent to
HK$30,336,000) (2010: R$2,200,000 (equivalent to HK$9,541,000))
paid by Universal Timber to acquire a factory, machinery and
equipment in Belem, State of Para, Brazil pursuant to a memorandum
of understanding (the “MOU”) and a memorandum of understanding
extension agreement (the “MOU Extension Agreement”) entered into
between Universal Timber and a third party on 1 June 2009 and 28
March 2011, respectively. Pursuant to the MOU and MOU Extension
Agreement, a definitive agreement shall be entered into for purchasing
factory, machinery and equipment on or before 31 March 2012. The
directors expected the acquisition of the property, plant and equipment
will be completed on or before 31 March 2012.

23. WEYE BMERREZITE

AR IEFE Universal Timber 2 2 6,400,000
F B (RERB30,336,0007T) (ZF
— Z 4 :2200,000F 25 B (B E RE K
9,541,0007T)) Z & & » LA R #& Universal
Timber B =T HRIRN —ZZT hF A —
AR-—ZE——F=ZA -+ N\BE L ZHREF
HEoik([RERESE]) RERFRBRET
Wi (RSB ET S D) WBL NS
FAMRRIN B B2 S - #es R - IRIE
MEESHELRERRBESSRHE  BR
TE-— A=+ HEZAIREBER
B MR NRET IR - £57E
WEDE BEMREER-_Z—=—F=
A=+—H=®ZRI5=/K -

INVENTORIES . BE
The Group
TEH

2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Hfax BET T BT IT
Timber logs JRARAHA (@) 240,383 235,424
Raw materials YR (b) 865 1,603
Work in progress ER G (b) 490 11,391
Finished goods BURY G (b) 242 4,632
241,980 253,050

(@  The timber logs were harvested during the provision of tree felling
services.

(b)  These inventories were held for further processing or sale.

(c)  The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense is as follows:

(@ RAARM TR REEARRBRRK -

b) ZETFERBEE—FININIFEER

) CECERERIZGESB|IWTWT :

2011 2010

—E——F —E-TF

HK$°000 HK$’000

BET T BT

Carrying amount of inventories sold BEEGFEERERE 248,902 33,436
Write-down of remaining unsold inventories WRIDAEE 2 17E 1,000 206
Write-off of timber logs (Note 8(j)) S R ARAM (BT £ 8()) 272,482 -
522,384 33,642

KRHEZERERAE =TT —F——FFH
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ —T——F=A=+—HBItFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. EIWWE S RIERH b EWRIE

The Group The Company

REH ¥ NN

2011 2010 2011 2010
—E——F —ZT-ZTF ZEBE-—-—H —ZT-ZF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BET T BT T
Trade receivables TEWE 5308 513,693 3,435 - -
Other receivables H b R U 3k 18 1,480 4,788 - —
Prepayments and deposits ERRERES 4,116 6,067 1,435 1,162
519,289 14,290 1,435 1,162

All of the trade and other receivables are expected to be recovered
within one year.

The trade receivables as of 31 March 2011 related primarily to sales to
customers completed in March for logs and sawn timber from Brazil,
Africa and United States on ex-mill or ex-yard basis.

Due to the size of the orders, goods will have to be shipped in multiple
shipments. While the Group is not responsible for arranging or the
costs of transportation, the Group has agreed to defer part of the
payment and match the payment terms according to the anticipated
shipment dates. As of the date of this report, approximately 14% of
those sales has been collected. Further collections will be made as
goods are scheduled for shipment.

(@) Trade receivables
The aging analysis of the trade receivables as of the reporting
date, based on invoice date, was as follows:

PR FEURE 5 5008 I Ho At e U kIR 15 TR A
R—FRRE -

RIBE——F=A=+—RZEKESXK
BEXEPRN=A0KE B TH%E
BEREARRATPHERBER MR
KEZBEARREN 2B

HETEE  EmBADIERX - #AX
SETSRABELHEGIINERER -
AEECDRAEEEMBEREDERK
RANFER - RARERH  2hZE
K#KI14% © BT FIABNE ML P E
& UZER -

(@ EWEZFIE
RERBE  HRZEHHFTE 2 EK
B HHIE 7 REDHTT :

The Group
AEE

2011 2010
—E——F —ZT-FF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT
0 to 30 days 0% 30H 512,845 1,974
31 to 60 days 31E60H - 975
61 to 90 days 61£290H 827 —
Over 90 days 90BN E 21 486
513,693 3,435

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit
and letters of credit, except for new customers where payment
in advance and cash on delivery are normally required. Invoices
are normally payable between 30 and 180 days after issuance.
Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks
to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and
has a credit control department to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. Further
details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in Note 42.

BHEP—MABMNREREEXA
e "EBRZ SR TREPEE
RN ERAERS - #E—RARE
30180 IF - BRHEF
HRBARSEERE - KEEYRIRE
Z EWGRIEE MRS IE S - WB R
(EEEEIEREITEIR - UkEEMRE
ZERR c SREEETHEN DS
Hr o BRAEBEEEBRFHBERN
MfsE42 -
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25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

140

25. R E 5 RIE R HAtb B WKIE

(#8)
(b) Impairment of trade receivables (b) FEWEZFIEZREE
Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables are recorded ERAMEWE 5% IE 7 BEERE TV ER
using an allowance account unless the Group is satisfied that BIREREC 8, - MEMMAE B R AU B K
recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the impairment EEeEM  AREEESEEHR
loss is written off against trade receivables directly (see Note 3(j)). EUE 5ty (RHIFES)) »
(c) Trade receivables that are not impaired (c) YEREZEWESNRE
The aging analysis of trade receivables that are neither individually A AR A HIRE R sk E L RmE &
nor collectively considered to be impaired are as follows: WEB SFIAZ Rk DTT -
The Group The Company
rEE ¥ NN
2011 2010 2011 2010
=B —T-TF =B _—T-IFTF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT BT T BT IT
Neither past due nor impaired NI 48 260 HA 8 AR (B 513,678 320 - —
Less than 1 month past due B H DR —1E A 3 2,629 - -
1 to 3 months past due wH—==1EA 4 486 - —
Over 3 months past due wHI= (@A L 8 — - —
_________________________________________________________________ s ...81s ==
513,693 3,435 - —
Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related to a A B3I BN S HE K A0 8% 2 B P AR
wide range of customers for whom there was no recent history of B HA NORE 2 e -
default.
Receivables that were past due but not impaired related to B4 BB I R (E < FEWGRIR B
a number of independent customers that have a good track BYEFPER  BERNAEEBERL
record with the Group for whom there was no recent history of FIEE RS, - T AR R GREC 8% o
default. Based on past experience, management believes that no RIBUALSR  ANMEEERTES
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these balances 2E) LSERDESA/ITUNEH
as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and el - WEREREEEM ISR
the balances are still considered fully recoverable. The Group ELREEE - NREBWES IS
does not hold any collateral over these balances. FRIFETAIERS -
ARHRBRERAT —2-8 -8 —5FH



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

i & B 35 8 5 Bl 5

26.

27.

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ —T——F=A=+—HBItFE

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 26. BERBEEEY
The Group The Company
rEE N
2011 2010 2011 2010
=B —T-TF =ZB-—-—F _—T-IFTF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BB BETT BB
Cash at bank and on hand, RITRFERER
and cash and cash equivalents RERE kR R
in the consolidated statement of Z2Be
financial position ReEEY 23,679 36,820 1,423 21,032
Cash and bank balances classified PERFEFEZ
as held for sale (Note 27) WL RIRITET
(Mtat2z) 1 2
Cash and cash equivalents in the REERERERY
consolidated statement of cash flows WE NIRESEEY 23,680 36,822
Cash and bank balances denominated A A REEHI{E 2
in Renminbi Re MIRTTHETT 7 6
Renminbi is not freely convertible into other currencies. However, AREBARERHLBAEMER - 58 -
under mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and 1B 15 P B K BE 2 INE B TR IR0 LA Me 45 BE -
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange EENNMNESEHT  AEFBEESBE
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange Renminbi for other BEETINEER ZIRTBARK B A
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange HiEE o
business.
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS 27. P EABESEEEREE
HELD FOR SALE
In February 2010, the directors of the Group commenced negotiations R-E—ZTF_F AEBSEHAIEH
to dispose of the Chita forests operation in Russia as part of its ERBRIIAEGMERETER  EA=
ongoing strategy to seek forest assets or operations with better return KEFEKRERRZBAMBEERELB 2
on investments, hence improving the value they bring to shareholders. BRI —3n  MmREABKREERZE

On 1 March 2010, Amplewell entered into a letter of intent with Source
Bright Limited (the “Purchaser”), an independent third party, to dispose
of the Group’s entire equity interest in issued share capital of ZLK
Group. ZLK Group was principally engaged in forestry operations in
Russia. The assets and liabilities attributable to the forestry operation
in Russia which are expected to be sold within twelve months, have
been classified as assets held for sale and are presented separately in
the consolidated statement of financial position. Pursuant to the letter
of intent, the selling price of the disposal shall be not less than the
book value, as such, the directors expected that the proceeds of the
disposal are greater than the net carrying amount of the relevant assets
and liabilities and therefore no impairment is necessary.

Sustainable Forest Holdings Limited Annual Report 2010/2011
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CHRIZE—TF=ZA—H  HREET
5 =77 Source Bright Limited ([ € 77 |) §T32
EAE HEAEERZKEBREEITR
AR AR ZKEBETBERAEDN
WEMEER - FHER T Z@ARNHE
CHRBIMEEGELEERBED S
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZE —T——F=A=+—HItFE

27. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS
HELD FOR SALE (Continued)

The major classes of assets and liabilities of Chita forests operation in
Russia, which have been classified as held for sale at the end of the

27. PEARFEREEEREE®

RBEHRGEER  COBRABEREZ
BRENTIERMEBZEERABEIER

reporting period, are as follows: AT
2011 2010
—E2——F —ET-FF
Note HK$’°000 HK$’000
BaE BT T PEWETFIT
Property, plant and equipment Y - B MR 18 74,019 71,498
Intangible assets | EE 19 152,506 161,947
Inventories FE - 1,022
Trade and other receivables FEUE 5518 K H Ath FE U IR 505 1,907
Amount due from a non-controlling e U — 2 FEFE R A% 3R 0B
shareholder (i) 52,797 66,660
Cash and bank balances Re MiRTTE#TF 26 1 2
Assets classified as held for sale PEARHIEREEE 279,828 303,036
Trade and other payables FETE 5 5008 R H A FE BUR 26,639 26,391
Bank loans, secured BEIRZBITER (ii) - 10,416
Other loans, secured BEM 2 EMER (iii) 4,131 6,550
Other loans, unsecured I B E R (iv) 2,517 2,424
Consideration payable ERRE - 5,000
Finance lease payables FERBERL - 10,095
Deferred tax liabilities FEREARE 33 37,569 38,047
Liabilities associated with assets YA IEFEEENRR
classified as held for sale ZaE 70,856 98,923
() Amount due from a non-controlling shareholder () FEW—BFERBRRFRIE

The amount is unsecured and interest-free. In the opinion of the
directors, the amount is expected to be realised within twelve
months from the end of the reporting period.

Under the repayment agreement entered between the non-
controlling shareholder and Amplewell, the non-controlling
shareholder agrees to dispose part of his shares in Winner Global
Holdings Limited (“Winner Global”), a substantial shareholder
of the Company, and ordinary shares in the Company for
repayment of the amount due to the Group. The amount is also
guaranteed by a related company, Assure Gain International
Limited (“Assure Gain”) which owns 43.38% interests in Winner
Global. Under the guarantee agreement, the related company
agrees to dispose sufficient shares in the Company to repay the
outstanding amount in the event of default by the non-controlling
shareholder.

ik
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BERREAREARLRLE - EFR
A BRAAEMSERENEREE
BEF = EA AR -

REEERBRRETIRET L2 ER
IERBRRABHERRAR
7] = 2 J& HE Winner Global Holdings
Limited ([ Winner Global]) 2 B 2 %
PRARE LB AEEE K
SBRIBE o ZFIBNBBERF]
Assure Gain International Limited
([Assure Gainl) # {8 + Assure Gain
A Winner Global 7 43.38% 1 5 ©
RBRERTE - R IFERAR R R K
HZERT - BEQFE
ZARRARGIAEREREHEE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ —T——F=A=+—HBItFE

27. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS
HELD FOR SALE (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Bank loans, secured

Associated with assets held for sale as at 31 March 2010,
there were total banking facilities of HK$10,416,000 which
has been utilized. The loans were secured by the subsidiary’s
machinery and construction in progress with carrying amount of
HK$1,334,000 and HK$881,000 respectively and the personal
assets given by a non-controlling shareholder. The loans are
bearing fixed interest rate at 16% to 17% per annum and
repayable within one year.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the loans were fully
repaid.

Other loans, secured

The loans were secured by the subsidiary’s building with carrying
amount of HK$3,139,000 (2010: HK$3,023,000) and the
personal assets given by a non-controlling shareholder. The loans
are bearing fixed interest rate at 3% to 5% per annum. During the
year ended 31 March 2010, the ZLK Group failed to repay the
loans on maturity dates and the amounts of loans became due
as at 31 March 2011 and 2010.

Other loans, unsecured

Out of the amount of HK$2,517,000 (2010: HK$2,424,000),
HK$1,368,000 (2010: HK$1,317,000) (“Loan A”) is bearing fixed
interest rate at 5% per annum, HK$164,000 (2010: HK$158,000)
(“Loan B”) is interest free and the remaining HK$985,000 (2010:
HK$949,000) (“Loan C”) is bearing fixed interest rate at 16% per
annum.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the ZLK Group failed to
repay the Loan A, Loan B and Loan C on maturity dates and
became due as at 31 March 2011 and 2010.

27. 7ERAFFERHEEERAEE®

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

BEBZB/ITER
W_ZE—TF=A=+—H HEHHE
AREESEEERBZRITRER
EE5 110,416,000 TEEA - EFUA
BREE D Bl A&7 151,334,000 7T & 78
881,000 7T 2 Ml BB A Bl i 28 IR fE 122
TR —BIEERREREZEAA
BEFERE - BFIZETFFE16
EE17TEHERAR—FAEE -

HE-_Z——F=F=1+—BILtFE
N ERCEREE -

BEAZHMER
ZEBFUARTAEAB 3,139,000
TL(ZE—F4F : 5% 3,023,0007T)
2B R RIEF K& IR R IR
HZEABEERR - BFIRETEF
FEIEESEFE - REEZT—
TFZA=Z+—HILFE  ZKEE
WAREHHEEEHEEN  WZE
ERRA—S——FRZT—ZTF=
B=+—BZEHRH-

BIER 2 HMER
2,517,000 (ZE—ZTF B
#62,424,0007C ) 2 R & #F - 8
1,368,000 (=T —TF : B
1,317,0007T) ([ERAL) & ElE F 5
EK5EE - B 164,0007T(—ZE—
T 158,000 7T) (BB A
% B - T ehEE B K5 985,000 L ( = &
—Z4F ¢ #5#949,0007T) ([EFC))
BREEFFEAGELTE ©

HE-_Z-ZTE=-A=+—HBI=E
ER - ZIKEBW AR EIHEER
HA-BEFRBERERC kAT
——ER-ET-TFZA=+—HZ
B AR o
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZE —T——F=A=+—HItFE

27. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS
HELD FOR SALE (continued)

144

(v)

KERMEZRERA A

Litigations

M

(i)

On 9 August 2010, the Arbitration Court of Zabaykalsky
region of Russia (the “Court”) initiated a procedure
of observation (bankruptcy) (the “Observation”) for
ZLK. Within the period for the Observation, the Court
received certain claims from the several creditors against
ZLK to repay approximately 24 million Russian rubles
(approximately HK$6.5 million) of liabilities. These liabilities
were included in the liabilities associated with assets
held for sale. During the year ended 31 March 2011, ZLK
settled certain parts of these liabilities. The directors of the
Company represented that the ZLK and the Purchaser are
at the stage of negotiations with the creditors about the
conclusion of the settlement agreements for the liabilities.
According to the legal opinion issued by a legal advisor, the
directors of the Company is in the opinion that the risk of
negative consequences of the Observation is low because
the directors of the Company believe that the settlement
agreements with the creditors can be concluded.

On 11 February 2011, a lender (the “Lender”) of loans
submitted a claim to the Court against ZLK to repay the
alleged defaulted loan principal, interests with penalties
of approximately 40 million Russian rubles (approximately
HK$11 million) (the “Claim”), which is different from
the balance of approximately 21 million Russian rubles
(approximately HK$5.8 million) in the records of the
Company. According to the legal opinion issued by a
legal advisor, the Court would probably validate the total
loan principal with interests of approximately 21 million
Russian rubles (approximately HK$5.8 million) which is
the same as the records of the Company. These amounts
were included in the liabilities associated with assets held
for sale. Subsequent to the end of the reporting period,
the Claim has not been settled and the Company is in
the process of finalizing a settlement agreement with the
Lender.

2% /-2 —FFH

27. PEARFEREEEREE®

v)

%II_}(

oy

>

(i)

RZE—ZFFN\ANA - HEF
Hft Zabaykalsky 1 #; 7% Bz ([ &
B 1) A ZLK R B B = (B E )
B ([EER]) c REREAM -
ET R 2 & EEAAZIBR
ZLK{& iZ %9 24,000,000 f# 2 57
= 17 (497 # 6,500,000 70 ) Z
BfE- WEABEIIERIEE
FEEEEMzEE  RER
—E2——%=ZA=+—H1t
FE ZAKEEEXS IS
B RNRRESBEZIKEER
EREHEEREEAESE
B FIfR ok o RIBIERER 2
FERER  ARREERAE
RERTHERZARER -
EARAREEIEEEEEREA
EER MR o ©

WNZZE——F=/A+—H ' —
HEEEEEHR2ERA(E
W) AZERBRZLKE R
BRBERZEREAS - FlEE
ZHE 0 &% 4 /440,000,000 &
78 B B 0 (4975 % 11,000,000
L) ([8BR]) BRIRAQA
L8R FT 1 921,000,000 K 28 Bt
& 17 (49 7% % 5,800,000 75 ) Z
HEth o RBEZBRZEEE
B RS EEERER RS
T B.4921,000,000 % 28 2 /&
# (#)78#5,800,000T) BB
B EARR R Z RRERARSF o 1t
ERECIMERBIEREEE
HEZEBE RBREHEEE
Az BRERTHE TR
AEPRIERERAEE B
Rt o
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28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ —T——F=A=+—HBItFE

28. BENEZRERAEMENRE

The Group The Company
E AR T

2011 2010 2011 2010

-2 -T-TF B —T-ITF

Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Kt BT T BETIT BETT BET T

Trade payables fERTE 5708 @) 180,231 91,054 - -
Cash consideration payable WEEEMEE
for acquisition of ENRSRE

biological assets (b) - 26,598 - —
Other payables and accruals — Efth & 1< 3% 18 K

fEstE M 19,055 7,315 1,907 1,561

Amount due to a director e —REEFA (©) - 92 - -
Financial liabilities measured ~ 1R#ESEANET &

at amortised costs ZHBEE 199,286 125,059 1,907 1,561

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be repaid within

one year.

(@) Trade payables

An aging analysis of the Group’s trade payables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on invoice date, was as follows:

(@ ENEZNRE

R BN B 5 5E R B A I OB TE S
R—E e -

RBEHREER - WERAHE
Z RSB RN E 58 2 iRk 5 a0

™

2011 2010

—E——fF —E-FF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

0 to 30 days 02 30H 130,566 90,545
Over 90 days 90 H UM F 49,665 509
180,231 91,054

(b) Cash consideration payable for acquisition of b) WEBEMEEZEAFREEKRE
biological assets

2011 2010

—E——F —E-FTF

HK$’000 HK$’000

BET T BT

At beginning of the year REW) 26,598 —
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 40) W BB B A 7] (ML 40) - 67,294
Less: Settlement o EE (29,071) (44,330)
Exchange movement BE 5 5 2,473 3,634
At end of the year RELR - 26,598
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZE —T——F=A=+—HItFE

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

() Amount due to a director
The amount was unsecured, interest free and had no fixed terms
of repayment.

29. LOANS AND BORROWINGS

28. ENEZREREMENTRE

(#8)

()

Bt —2EEREA
BRFRREER L8 REEEE
R -

20. ERREE

The Group
AEH
2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
Note HK$’°000 HK$’'000
BaE BT T BT
Bank loans, secured BEMZBITER 304 506
Unsecured interest-bearing loan IR 2T BER 18,014 —
18,318 506
Carrying amount repayable: RUATHARZEEE 2 BREE -
On demand or within one year FEESRS—F R 18,230 209
More than one year but not BB —FETBBME
exceeding two years - 209
More than two years but not BB FE T RBRF
more than five years 88 88
18,318 506
Less: Amounts due within one year B RBAEEETI AR —FA
shown under current liabilities E|Hf 2 FIA (18,230) (209)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE 88 297

(@  Asat 31 March 2011, the Group had total banking facilities of
HK$304,000 (2010: HK$10,922,000) of which HK$304,000
(2010: HK$10,922,000) had been utilised. Out of the total bank
borrowings, HK$Nil (2010: HK$10,416,000) was classified as
liabilities associated with assets held for sale (Note 27).

The bank loan of HK$304,000 (2010: HK$506,000) was
secured by the Group’s motor vehicles with a carrying amount
of HK$533,000 (2010: HK$976,000) (Note 18) and is bearing
interest at a fixed rate of 21.27% to 23.87% (2010: 20.27% to
23.87%) per annum.

146 KRHEZERERAE =TT —F——FFH

NZZE——F=ZA=1+—H  KEE
BIRTTREE #8381 304,000 T (=
T T HEE10,922,0007T) B
B 304,000 L(ZF—ZF : B
#10,922,00070) B H © R1T{EE
BEER BETIL(ZT—ZF:
75110,416,000 7T ) B 5 J8 BB E
HEEERMzAE(MF27) -

RITEFE 304,000 L (—ZE—=F
F : B ¥506,0007T) JHAREE A
533,000 ( —E—FF B
976,0007T) 2 A& E )T B (ffiE18)
TEIR I8 - I % B & F ) & 21.27 2
E2387E(ZZFE—FF :20271EBZE
28.87E)FH B °
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ —T——F=A=+—HBItFE

29. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (Continued)

(b)

On 27 July 2010, Universal Timber entered into a loan agreement
with an independent third party (the “Lender”) whereby Universal
Timber borrowed a loan of R$3,000,000 (the “Loan”) from the
Lender for the period from 27 July 2010 to 27 January 2011.
On 28 March 2011, Universal Timber signed an extension
agreement with the Lender to extend the maturity date of the
Loan from 27 January 2011 to 27 January 2012. The Loan is
unsecured and bears interest at 37.67% per annum. The carrying
amount of the Loan as at 31 March 2011 included the principal
of R$3,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$14,220,000)
and interest payable of R$800,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$3,794,000).

On 27 June 2011, Universal Timber entered into an agreement
with the Lender whereby the Lender agreed to reduce the
interest rate of the Loan from 37.67% to 6% per annum,
retroactively from the date of commencement of the Loan.

30. FINANCE LEASES PAYABLES

At 31 March 2011, the Group had finance leases payables as follows:

20. ERREE®

(b)

RZZE—ZFTFELtA=-++tAH"
Universal Timber 258 7 8 = H ([ &
FH DRI E B - H it Universal
Timber —E—ZF+ A -++tH
2 ET——F—-A-++tHEMERE
F & A3,000,000E B zER(E
K)o RZE—F=A=+/\HB"
Universal Timber £2 & 75 %5 5] & & 1
HOUBERIHMBER=-E——F
—AZt++tBIEEE T — —F—
A-Z++tH - ERAERHERZE
FEI7TOTEFE - RZTE——F=
A=Z+—8 ER2REEBEX
43,000,000 32 @ (KM & R B
14,220,000 7T ) X F& {5 F 2.800,000
B I8 R (HUAE & FABHE3,794,0000T ) °

W-_ZET——HFXA-_++8"
Universal Timber 2 & 75 5] 1% &% -
Bl BEFREBERZFENERA
767TEFKE6E - BMAEENH
PA B EAREAE A -

30. EMEMELY
R-ZE——#=A=+—R0 ALEZE

MEEBLONT
The Group NE
2011
—E——F
Present

value of the Total
minimum minimum
lease lease
payments payments
BEESLHE REHESHEEHE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
Within 1 year —FR 100 113
After 1 year but within 5 years —FRERFA 350 394
450 507
Less: total future interest expenses B BER SR AR (57)
Present value of lease obligations TR AIERE 450
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZE —T——F=A=+—HItFE

31.

32.

148

CONSIDERATION PAYABLES 31. ENRE
The Group
rEE
2011 2010
—B——fF —E-TF
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
Htex BT T BT
Fair value of second tranche convertible T %517 88 — #t o] # A% (& & I {9
preference shares to be issued 2 ~E 40 - 93,933
According to the sale and purchase agreement for acquisition of BEWETR BEZERE®E - NAFGNE

Amplewell, a maximum number of 1,402,000,000 second tranche
convertible preference shares (“STCPS”) in the aggregate principal
amount of HK$77,110,000 at an issue price of HK$0.055 per share
would be issued to Winner Global by the Company (Note 40). The fair
value of the STCPS to be issued was HK$93,933,000 at the date of
completion of the acquisition and was recognised as consideration
payables. The fair value of STCPS was determined by GCA.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, Winner Global was a substantial
shareholder of the Company. On 31 January 2011, the Company
allotted and issued 1,402,000,000 STCPS to Winner Global for the
settlement of the consideration payables. The fair value of the STCPS
issued on 31 January 2011 was HK$141,954,000. The fair value of
STCPS was determined by GCA. The excess of the fair value of the
STCPS over the carrying amount of the consideration payables of
HK$48,021,000 (the “Excess”) was accounted for as distribution to
the shareholder. The directors considered that the settlement was
a transaction with owners and the Excess shall be accounted for as
a deemed capital distribution to the shareholder and charged to the
contributed surplus account.

SEASONALITY OF OPERATIONS

The Group’s forest operations in Brazil is located in the Amazon and
is subject to weather conditions during the rainy season ranging
roughly from December to April each year. Forest logging activities in
the Amazon are substantially scaled down or stopped completely in
some areas. Log prices usually increase during the rainy season due
to diminished supplies. This affects many sawmill operators that have
to stock up logs and tie up significant working capital, but benefit
forest owners who can plan ahead to reserve stock pile prior to the
start of the rainy season. The Group incorporates this seasonality in its
forest management plan to avoid supply shortage as well as to take
advantage of seasonal price differentials in logs.

KRHEZERERAE =TT —F——FFH

32.

1718 &= A% 8 ¥ 0.055 7T [A] Winner Global %
775 % 1,402,000,000 i 55 — #t A] R AZ B 5L
B (T SRR ELERGD]) - K&
B AE 77,110,000 7T (I 40) - #5 F 2
1128 ZH A BB S R R IR 52K B
H 2 NP E A7 93,933,000 7T ¢ IF
RERMNRE - F_MATBREBELRD 2
NEETHZEEEER] ©

HE-_ZT——FZA=Z=+—BLFE"
Winner Global &R A B EZRRE - R
—— % —A=+—H " &A2RQ a8 mWinner
Global it % 2 %77 1,402,000,000 % 25 — #t
MR ELERS  LWEEEFRE - K=
T——F—A=Z+—8 BEFTE A
BB IR < A FE BT 141,954,000
Lo BE_MABBRELERD ZAFET
MEETEEF - F_MBaRELR
MzAFEBHEMREZE@DAEEYE
48,021,000 ([ B HEEE]) 2 © B ARSI
ElREDIK - EFERE - ZEEFREAHHE
BENETZRS - RBHES5EEART
ERERRERDIR + WHRE AR
|§//:Fo

ERz=HMHEERE
AEEREAZMRRBUREEFE - 0
MEXRTAMRARS > MEFE-—RAE
F+-AZEMA - THEERMREEDR
BRIERD  RETHEEMTEEL -
AMEBER—RAWELI THREER
DR WHEZREABREEE  ©%
SREERAFREAMRRERBLEERES -
BUEIFER K RAEMEBEE SRR KE
AR EIRMEARELTRAM - AEEHK
HEHERZMARMEEE - KR
R WA RERAY FHEERE
) o
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ —T——F=A=+—HBItFE

33. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(@)

33.

mEMBRR KR ZAER

Current taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) HEMBEMRERZBHBBER
financial position represents: x®:
2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BETT BT IT
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax REFERNSHEE
for the year 42,102 7,354
Balance of Profits Tax provision BAFENSHBELH
relating to prior years 7,354 —
49,456 7,354
Deferred tax liabilities recognised: (b) CERBELEHREEE

(b)
The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position and the movement
during the year is as follows:

Consolidated statement of financial position

RiZ B M BARNEER ZELEHIBR
B2 AR D REFANZBIT

Classified as liabilities associated with assets held for sale (Nofe 27)

SREBRRR PEREREHEEERB AR (W)

Chita forests operation Real estate

FERMER EHE

Property

Property, Property, under

plant and plant and development

equipment Biological equipment Intangible for sale
B assets  Inventories Sub-total 4% BE assets BB Sub-total Total
& ] £HEE (it it e EVEE HEN% At iy
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HKWOO HK$000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HI§$'OOO HK$000
BT BT TR eSO BT EEFT o S AT BT
At 1 April 2009 RENEMA-R - - = - - - 4,750 4750 4750
Acquisttion of subsidiaries (Note 40) NElHE40) 66,404 118,802 - 185,206 8,12 30988 - 39113 24319

Charged/credited) to consolidated )
income statement - 125479 - 125,479 - (1,139 (52) (1,191) 124,288
Exchange movement 5 ‘ 124 (1622) - (1,498) 16 57 80) ] (1,508)
Disposal of subsiclaries (Note 41) HEMBRE(HE4) - - - - - - (4618) (4,618) (4.618)
At 31 March 2010 RZ5-FE=F=1-H 66,528 242,659 - 309,187 8,141 29,906 - 38,047 347,034
At 1 April 2010 RZZ-ZENA-H 66,528 242,659 - 309,187 8,141 29,906 - 38,047 347,034
Charged/[credited) to consolicated na/GA)

income statement FARER - 85,300 23,080 108,380 - (59) - (595) 107,785
Exchange movement EXEY 10,087 26,687 - 36,774 2 9 - 1"r 36,801
At 31 March 2011 R=F——-%=h=1+-A 76,615 354,646 23,080 454,341 8,167 2402 - 37,569 491910

At 31 March 2011 and 2010, the Group has tax losses arising in Hong
Kong of HK$47,555,000 and HK$50,675,000 respectively that are
available for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in
which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised
as it is not probable that future taxable profits against which the losses
can be utilised will be available for the companies in which losses
arose. The tax losses do not expire under current tax legislation.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other significant deferred tax
liabilities that is required to be provided for in the consolidated financial
statements for the years ended 31 March 2011 and 2010.

Sustainable Forest Holdings Limited Annual Report 2010/2011

RZBE——FR_T—FTF=_A=1+—H"
AEEBERBELECHBABED B ABE
47,555,000 7T M 7% # 50,675,000 7 © 7] £
EXBEZAGRBRBRERTETEE - A
RAERE B RERTENECHBEE
BB RHEEABIEAREA M
BIERELERIBEE - RERTFE - B
EEE T g EIE -
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34. AMOUNTS DUE TO SHAREHOLDERS
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34. BARRIE

The Group
AEH
2011 2010
—B——fF —E-TF
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
wiet BT ANTR

Loh Jiah Yee, Katherine LXE (@) 10,004 37,989

Winner Global Winner Global (b) 45,333 41,886

Lim Ping Wai MR @) - 7,852

New Premier Holdings Limited New Premier Holdings Limited

(“New Premier”) (I'New Premier]) @) 60,442 30,209

Assure Gain Assure Gain (e) 15,748 —

131,527 117,936

Notes: btat -

(@) The amount was unsecured, bearing interest at 5% per annum and repayable (@) EBFIAAEER  EFRESEFBERE
on 31 July 2012. As at 31 March 2011, Ms Loh Jiah Yee, Katherine was also RZE—ZFtA=+—HEE -R=T
an Executive Director of the Company. ——F=fA=1+—H8 £RELTTFELA

RIZWATES o

(b) The amount was unsecured, bearing interest at 5% per annum. Out of the (b) BRAFERAERR RFMESEFHE B
amount HK$45,333,000, HK$29,419,000 was repayable on 31 July 2012 # 45,333,000 70 Z FIEF - 5 #5 29,419,000
and HK$15,914,000 was repayable on 31 December 2012. Ms Loh Jiah Yee, TLAR-ZZTE—Z—ZFtA=+—HEE 5
Katherine is beneficially interested in 43.39% of the share capital of Winner B HA15,914000 AR T —Z—_F+ =8
Global. =+ —HEE  ERELZTEmEA Winner

Global 2 J& 7K 43.39% °

(© The amount was unsecured, bearing interest at 5% per annum and repayable () EBRIBAEER  EFRESEFERE
on 30 December 2011. Ms Lim Ping Wai is beneficially interested in 100% RZZE——F+-A=+HEE -HKFEL
of the issued share capital of New Premier. During the year ended 31 March B 5% B New Premier & 2 17 & &K /R 2 0
2011, the amount was fully repaid. o BE_T——F=A=+—RHILFE

A BRATED BHREE -

(d) The amount was unsecured, bearing interest at 5% per annum and repayable ©) EBRIBAEER  IEFRE5EFERE
on 31 December 2012. Subsequent to the reporting date, an amount of R-ZE——F+-_A=+—HEE -RHE
HK$15,000,000 was repaid. HEH%% - A% 15,000,000 TTE(EE »

(e) The amount was unsecured, bearing interest at 5% per annum and repayable (e) BRFERERT REMNESEFBRA
on 31 December 2012. Ms Loh Jiah Yee, Katherine is beneficially interested in RZZE——F+_A=+—HEE %XFT
100% of the issued share capital of Assure Gain. Z+E =¥ A Assure Gain BB /TR AR H 256

R o
KEMREZERERAT -T2 —FT——FFRH
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35. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES 35. BTEEELQFRRIEA

The Group
rEE
2011 2010
—B——f —E-FF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
MtEE BET T BB
Universal Timber Resources Limited Universal Timber Resources Limited (@) - 52,055
Value Creation Partners Company Value Creation Partners Company

Limited Limited (b) - 2,036
- 54,091

Notes: Mt
(a) Universal Timber Resources Limited is a company controlled by Loh Jiah Yee, () Universal Timber Resources Limited & —%X &
Katherine, an Executive Director of the Company. The amount was unsecured, ARRTERFLRELLIEFZ RG] B
bearing interest at 5% per annum and repayable on 1 July 2011. During the BAREAEIKE  IREFNESEFERER
year ended 31 March 2011, the amount was fully repaid. —_E——Ft+tA-—HEE-H2_T—F
ZRA=Z+—HIEFERN  FRAREEEHE
(b) Value Creation Partners Company Limited is a company controlled by Loh (b) Value Creation Partners Company Limited &
Jiah Yee, Katherine, an Executive Director of the Company. The amount was —FXEARNAFTRITEFTLRELTES Z2A
unsecured, bearing interest at 5% per annum and repayable on 1 July 2011. T BB AEIKI IRENKR5E S
During the year ended 31 March 2011, the amount was fully repaid. REAR-_ZTE——F+HA—HEE - HE-FT

——FZA=+—HLFER  EEFED
BHEE -
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36. PROMISSORY NOTES
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36. AN RiE

The Group and the Company AEERAAT

2011 2010

—EB——fF —E-TF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BET T BT IT

At beginning of the year REFA 24,617 —
Promissory notes issued BEBITRMNEE - 191,911
Accrued effective interests S ERFL 847 7,423
Less: Repayment o (EE (19,076) (174,717)
At end of the year REFLE 6,388 24,617

On 31 July 2009, the Company issued promissory notes in an
aggregate principal amount of HK$232,000,000 as part of the
consideration for the acquisition of Amplewell (Note 40). The
promissory notes bear interest at 2% per annum. The interest shall
be repaid together with principal in one lump sum upon maturity on
31 January 2011. On 1 September 2010, the Company entered into
a letter with the holder of the promissory notes to extend the maturity
date of the promissory note to 31 July 2012. The promissory notes
may be assigned or transferred (in integral multiple of HK$1,000,000) to
any third party (other than a connected person as defined in subject to
the Listing Rules) subject to the Listing Rules and the applicable laws.
The Company may repay all or part of the principal amount and interest
at any time prior to the maturity date (i.e. 31 July 2012) by giving the
holder not less than seven days’ prior written notice specifying the
amount and date of repayment provided that the amount shall be at
least HK$1,000,000. Otherwise, the payment of principal and interest
payment of promissory notes shall be made in full upon the maturity
date.

The fair value of the promissory notes at the date of issuance was
HK$191,911,000, which was determined by GCA. Valuations were
made on the basis of effective interest method which is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability
and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate used in the calculation of the
fair value is 15.74%.

KRHEZERERAE =TT —F——FFH

R-ZBEEZAE+A=+—8  ~ADABET
7R & 4858 /5 78 5 232,000,000 7T 2 E N E
% EABETIRZ 59 RE (FIFE40) °
AN ERIRENR2E B - FlBER K
PR -_T——F—F=+—HFH ER
—RBEE -R_T—ZTFNLA—H &
RNEEANEBEFEEART L —HRE - &
AENEBEZEBAIEEE—_TE——F+A
—t+—H -GEFEETRREREREY
BT - FAT AR # 0] LA 1,000,000 7T
JEBEHEEIEETENE =S -
FTRBIFTAEZ BEALRIN . RATA
AREIBR (I ZE—=—FtA=+—H)
2RI REEE 2 DRI D A S HERF
B AR AREAEARETOREANSE
EEEBAM - JIPMEEZCERERA
B HEESTE AR BB 1,000,000
Lo B ANEEZASRAEARE
HREE -

ANBZERBITRAPZAFEARBE
191,911,0007T * JhEEEFEEL - BB
DIERBEREREEEL  ERTEMBKEE
ST 75 B B SR AN 2 R AR R HA TR 9 B A
BIUASFBERL 2% st ERFERN
AEBRMER15.74E -
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ —T——F=A=+—HBItFE

PROMISSORY NOTES (Continued)

The Group and the Company (Continued)

The promissory notes are held by a substantial shareholder. On 23
September 2009, the Company made repayment of promissory
notes with carrying amount of HK$84,529,000 at par value for
HK$100,000,000. On 2 November 2009, the Company made
another repayment of promissory notes with carrying amount of
HK$90,188,000 at par value for HK$105,000,000. The excess of the
repayment amount over the carrying amount of HK$30,283,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2010 was accounted for as distribution to the
shareholder.

On 12 April 2010, the Company made another repayment of
promissory notes with carrying amount of HK$19,076,000 at par value
of HK$20,822,000. The excess of the repayment amount over the
carrying amount of HK$1,746,000 for the year ended 31 March 2011
was accounted for as distribution to the shareholder.

Given that the Company has the legal obligation to settle the full face
value of the promissory notes for the aforesaid acquisition, the directors
considered that it is transaction with shareholder in the capacity
as owner. The excess shall be accounted for as a deemed capital
distribution to the shareholder and charged to the contributed surplus
account.

36. AT EHE @)

AEERARQT (8)
ANEETTH—BEEREFE KT
TAFENA-+=8 ARABIKEESE
100,000,000 JT.1& i BE 1 {& 7 % 84,529,000
TTRZANEER RZTETNF+—A=H "
AA R BITHEES 105,000,000 LEE
BRE{E/8 % 90,188,000 7T Z A 24 - &
E-E-TE=-F=1+—-HIFEE #HE
S RMEE € 551 30,283,000 T
ARIIER R DK ©

RZZE—ZFTFWMA+=-H  ARE BT
T B 78 % 20,822,000 7T & & BR M B 78
19,076,000 L 2 AN HE - HEZT ——
FZA=+—HLFE EBESEDHE
HEZ 558 1,746,000 T ABRYIEMR R
DK °

ERARBEEREER L2 BB E
NANRBEZEE EFARUIAES
AFDBERFETZRS - BHEBREA
BRIVVERIFBRREAD IR - YN BB
BRHBR -

SHARE CAPITAL 37. BRA
Number of
convertible
Numberof ~ Number of Number of preference
ordinary ordinary ordinary shares of
shares of shares of shares of HK$0.01
HK$0.1 HK$0.01  HK$0.0533 per share
pershare  pershare  pershare SRER
SREE SREE SREE BE0.01 T
BE0IT  B%001T 005337 ZTER Total
ZEBRHE ZEBRHE ZELBERYUE BERAREA @zt
Note '000 '000 '000 HK$'000 '000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ki3 T ik T BB i BETT BETT
Authorised: AE
At 1 April 2009 R=EENENA—R - 10,000,000 - 100,000 - - 100,000
Increase in authorised share capital ERRAEN @ - 35000000 - 350,000 27,534,000 275,340 625,340
Share consolidation A ) —  (45,000,000) 8,437,500 - - - -
AL31 March 2010, 1 Apr 2010 and RZ2-FF=R=t-B-
31 March 2011 A—H
R - - BTS00 450000 27,534,000 275340 75340
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37. BA& )

Number of
convertible
Number of Number of preference
ordinary ordinary shares of
shares of shares of HK$0.01
HK$0.01  HK$0.0533 per share
per share per share SRERE
BREE BREE ##0.017T
#B#0.01 T B%0.0533 7T ZABR Total
ZEBREE ZEZBER¥AE BEERGHE @it
Note "000 ’000 HK$'000 '000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Kzt TR TR s Fik AT BT
Issued and fully paid: BRTRHE
At 1 April 2009 RZZEZNFNA—H 2,151,076 - 21,511 — — 21,511
Placing of new shares fRE R @] 4,440,920 - 44,409 - - 44,409
Consideration shares issued for PUEM B A RET
the acquisition of subsidiaries RERH (@) 785,000 — 7,850 24,908,468 249,085 256,935
Conversion of convertible HBARRELRND
preference shares (f) 3,514,582 - 35,146 (3,514,582 (35,146) -
Share consolidation RiAEH (b) (10,891,578) 2,042,171 — - — —
Conversion of convertible HBTaREsRN
preference shares © - 284,283 15,162 (1,516,178) (15,162 —
At 31 March 2010 and
1 April 2010 — 2,326,454 124,078 19,877,708 198,777 322,855
Placing of new shares &R (h) — 412,000 21,973 - - 21,973
Convertible preferences shares HEREMNREBRT
issued for settlement of ARREERRD
consideration payables (i) - - - 1,402,000 14,020 14,020
Conversion of convertible HBrTaRE RO
preference shares 0 - 1,771,712 94,491 (9,449,130 (94,491) —
Shares issue upon exercise of TR R R B ITR D
share options (k) - 8,908 476 — — 476
At 31 March 2011 —E——%=ZfA=+t—H - 4,619,074 241,018 11,830,578 118,306 369,324
The owners of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as LTMRERE AB RIS IR ZRE
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at BRAIRARAz @& L BRERNE=SR —
meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard RRAE FBELTERBART ZFGBRE
to the Company’s residual assets. EZAREHAL
Notes: Bt

(@) The Company’s authorised share capital was increased from HK$100,000,000
to HK$725,340,000 by the creation of additional 35,000,000,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.01 each and 27,534,000,000 convertible preference shares
of HK$0.01 each, such increase was duly passed by the shareholders at the
special general meeting held on 13 July 2009. The ordinary shares rank pari
passu with the existing ordinary shares of the Company in all respects. The
details of the convertible preference shares are set out in Note 37(e).

(b) Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company
at the special general meeting of the Company held on 27 November 2009,
the consolidation of ordinary shares in the share capital of the Company (on
the basis that every 16 then existing issued and unissued ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each were consolidated into 3 ordinary shares of HK$0.0533 each)
was approved and effective from 27 November 2009.

KRHEZERERAE =TT —F——FFH

(a) i 4B B8 Y 3% 35,000,000,000 A% £ A% 1 1B 7
#0.01 70 2 ¥ i@ i &% 27,534,000,000 A% &
FRTEE S 0.01 T2 AR E LR D - ARQ
") 2 7% 7 B AN 83 A 1 100,000, 000 TIEH
¥ 725,340,000 - RRR=—ZFTNFtA
TZABRTIRERFRAG LIEXBRZE
T EEEBRNEHBEEARRRAEY
BR=ZA RS - BEARRE RN Z
BN TEST(e) ©

(b) *E%FEA_?771¢+ A= +tEléﬁéﬁzm
RAIREFRAGEAR R KRR BB YL
R ARFRAF %@Hﬁé@%(%ﬁ?\%
ERF16REREEREE001 T2EEE %
TRABETEEREHAIKREREEEE
0.05337c 2 LAk B AL E - WH=-TF
hE+—AZt+ERBEY -
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37. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(©

On 30 July 2009, the Company completed the placing of 3,523,280,000
shares at HK$0.055 per placing share to independent third parties pursuant
to a placing agreement signed with President Securities (Hong Kong) Limited,
a placing agent, on 1 June 2009. The net proceeds raised from the placing
approximated HK$187.8 million.

On 22 October 2009, Sun Hung Kai Investment Services Limited, a placing
agent, through a top-up placing agreement placed 917,640,000 shares at
HK$0.081 per share to independent placees pursuant to a placing agreement
entered into between the Company, a substantial shareholder of the Company
and the said placing agent on 14 October 2009 (as amended on 19 October
2009). The top-up subscription was completed on 27 October 2009 and net
proceeds from the top-up subscription approximately HK$72.0 million.

On 31 July 2009, the Company allotted and issued 785,000,000 ordinary
shares with par value of HK$0.01 each at HK$0.055 per share as part of
the consideration for the acquisition of Amplewell pursuant to an acquisition
agreement (the “Acquisition Agreement”) dated 28 February 2009 (as amended
on 10 March 2009) entered into, among other parties, between Great Path
Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company as the purchaser, and
Winner Global as the vendor (Note 40). On the same date, the Company
allotted and issued 24,908,468,233 first tranche convertible preference shares
with par value of HK$0.01 each (‘FTCPS”) at an issue price of HK$0.055 per
share as part of the consideration for the acquisition of Amplewell.

The fair value of the 785,000,000 ordinary consideration shares issued of
HK$59,660,000 is based on the published price of the shares of the Company
at 31 July 2009 of HK$0.076 per share. The premium of HK$51,810,000
upon issuance of the ordinary consideration shares was credited to the share
premium account. The fair value of FTCPS of HK$1,778,074,000 at 31 July
2009 was determined by GCA. The premium of HK$1,528,989,000 upon
issuance of the FTCPS was credited to the share premium account.

Convertible preference shares

The Group acquired Amplewell pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement. The
non-voting convertible preference shares (the “Convertible Preference Shares”)
for the acquisition of the Amplewell (Note 40) with a par value of HK$0.01 each
can be converted into ordinary shares without maturity date. The conversion
price is at HK$0.055 per ordinary share. The Convertible Preference Shares
shall at all times rank equally among themselves and shall upon exercise of
the conversion right attaching to the Convertible Preference Shares pari passu
with all other shares of the Company in issue with respect of the right to any
dividends or distributions declared.

The following are the other major terms of the Convertible Preference Shares:

In the event of liquidation, dissolution or winding up, or merger, or
reorganisation that will result in any distribution of assets of the Company
to the existing shareholders of the Company, the holders of the Convertible
Preference Shares will receive an amount equal to 100% of the face value of
the Convertible Preference Shares. In addition, the ranking of the Convertible
Preference Shares is higher than ordinary shares, but lower than creditor in the
case of liquidation.

37. BRA& &)

Hrat - ()

()

ARAR-_BZNFLA=ZTHERER-F
ZAFRA-RERERER—FH(FE)
BRAFEIMZEEHZERBLE =77 MU
BRACERNER0.055 T2 BREKAEE
3,523,280,000 J& i {n = Bl & PSSR FERAY
#3781 187,800,000 7T ©

R-ZEZAE+A-+=B EEREHE
ERERBERARBEBEARAR » AAE]—
FFERFE FMEEREMITIVESRA
EENE+RATHNBEZRERE (N _EZ
NEFETATNABEER) BB —HEEEN
Bt €5 175 5 171 78 3L Bl A A B AR B 850,081 7T
il 5 917,640,000 [k ik 7 - L EERFREE
RZZZAFE+AZ+EAZRK ' FIERE
SREBH) RS 72,000,000 7T °

RZZEZANFELA=Z+—8 AQFRE
(KR eE)ARR2ENBARZBERA
A(EAE ) ) B Winner Global (fEAE )
Rl HBEBAZZSZNF A=+ \HZK
Bipa((WEBHE R—TTNF=A+
AEEIERT) » LASRRB % 0.055 ST il 8 R 37T
785,000,000 A% & A& T (B 4 ¥ 0.01 o 2 & 38
& - VRS TIR 2 B RE (FiIE40) - [
B RNARLAETESRE0.055 T 3%
T2 %417 24,908,468,233 % & % [ B 78 #5 0.01
L2 BB ATRPRAE e B (5 ([ 5 —BL AT R AR
B, ) - tEAKEETRZ D RAE -

785,000,000 B #EHITEBRERMND Z AT
B8 % 59,660,000 7T JY R B AR A B D =
EEANFLAZ+—BRHZEREREE
0.076 LT & - BITERMIRRERG 2% E
7% 51,810,000 70 B fF AR BB - 85—
A BB EEROR=_ZETNFLA=1T—
A2 AFEHA1,778,074,000 7T Jh EHZERF
BT « BITHE BT RRELRD 2% E
P55 1,528,989,000 7T 2 5+ AR S (EBE -

AR E SRR

AR BER B 192 WERTR © pLURBE IR
(H=E40) FETTEREEES0.01 T2 £E
SRR E SRR ([RIRE B ) A
HEMAEAER  MIBREINHA - RRE
REREBARER0.0557T o AR ARE AR
I3 PMERIBHER BT E IR 2 E RS D kT
T 2 BRI T 5 AR UL 2 B R FE 7T (8 AT 4R AR
BB AN BT 2 SRR B ER AR A R AT A HoA
CETRN ARSI -

AT AR B SR N Z B E Z G

W3 LR - ARG RET - REH - F
AMBEERAAREERD KT AARR
BRR - BIRT R RRE S B 158 A R UCERAR
SR HARR(E ST AR 1) T (B 100% 2 8RR © Uit
SN B ATB - ATIRE SR D ZAIS
NEBA - EEREREA -
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Notes: (Continued)

)

KRMEZERERAD A

Convertible preference shares (Continued)

The holder of each Convertible Preference Shares shall not have any voting
rights save where the Company proposes to pass a resolution to vary the
rights attached to the Convertible Preference Shares or for the winding up or
dissolution of the Company. The Convertible Preference Shares shall be non-
redeemable and will not be listed on any stock exchange.

Each Convertible Preference Share shall be convertible at the option of
the holders at any time after issue, provided that (i) any conversion of the
Convertible Preference Shares shall not result in the aggregate voting rights
in the Company held by the relevant holder of the Convertible Preference
Shares who exercises the conversion rights and parties acting in concert with
it exceeding 29.9%, or such other percentage as may then be the maximum
percentage (to one decimal place) of issued Shares it could then acquire
without being required to make a mandatory general offer for the shares of the
Company under the Takeovers Code or (ii) any conversion of the Convertible
Preference Shares shall not result in the public float of the Shares falling below
the minimum requirements of the Listing Rules.

During the period from 1 April 2009 to 27 November 2009 (the effective date
of share consolidation), an aggregate of 3,514,582,142 new ordinary shares
of HK$0.01 each were issued upon the conversion of the same number of
Convertible Preference Shares of HK$0.01 each.

During the period from 28 November 2009 to 31 March 2010, an aggregate of
284,283,333 new ordinary shares of HK$0.0533 each were issued upon the
conversion of 1,516,177,779 Convertible Preference Shares of HK$0.01 each.

On 26 May 2010, the Company entered into a subscription agreement
with NWS Financial Management Services Limited (the “Subscriber”), a
subsidiary of NWS Holdings Limited who is an independent third party to
the Group, pursuant to which the Company has agreed to allot and issue
to the Subscriber, the subscription shares of 412,000,000 at HK$0.50 per
subscription share (the net price per subscription share amounted to HK$0.46).
The aggregate nominal amount of the subscription share amounted to
HK$21,973,000. The Company completed the subscription of 412,000,000
shares on 2 June 2010. The net proceeds raised from the subscription were
approximately HK$190.6 million. The said subscription shares rank pari passu
in all respects with the issued ordinary shares of the Company, including the
right to receive all dividends and distributions. The closing price per share of the
Company as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 26 May 2010 (being the date
on which the terms of the subscription agreement were fixed) was HK$0.53.
The directors of the Company believed that the said subscription provided not
only capital to assist the Group in achieving its corporate objectives and goals,
but also allowed the Group to gain a strategic partnership with the Subscriber.
The net proceeds from the subscription were used for business development
and as general working capital.

On 31 January 2011, the Company allotted and issued 1,402,000,000
second tranche of the Convertible Preference Shares to Winner Global for
the settlement of part of the consideration payable under the Acquisition
Agreement. Further details are set out in Note 31.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, an aggregate of 1,771,711,913 new
ordinary shares of HK$0.0533 each were issued upon the conversion of
9,449,130,212 Convertible Preference Shares of HK$0.01 each.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, 8,907,500 options were exercised
to subscribe for 8,907,500 new ordinary shares of the Company at a
consideration of HK$3,341,000 of which HK$476,000 was credited to share
capital and the balance of HK$2,865,000 was credited to share premium
account. HK$1,537,000 has been transferred from share option reserve to the
share premium account in accordance with policy set out in Note 3(q)(iii)).

2% /-2 —FFH
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Pt B B A A S AE AN X BB MR SR AL 1B
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7o) o R 2 E{ELFEE 21,973,000
T ARNRIBERZZE—TFAZHEXR
#% 412,000,000 & i% 17 © R HE FHIE 2 155K
1B F 5 4) A7 1 190,600,000 7T © L it AR
BRANEFEEARREHTERREER
Fhfs - BIEWETBERE RS IR EF]
RZZE—ZTFRA-FTAA(NEETRERDR
FRGEE B ) AR AR D P B 2 AT AT R 2 IR
MEABRE®0.537T - ARRESMHE -

m B
LHRENERAANEEERE S AN HiE
BRBERE BAZ - N2 ANEES A
KB HEE REMESREFERRES
BERRIEA—REEES -

R-ZZE——F—A=Z+—8  AR27A
Winner Global i, % % # 17 1,402,000,000 %
FE R ARREERG AERKEREET
ZIERRAE o E— B EFIEE NS -

BHE-_Z——F=-A=+—HLEFER"
QN B $29,449,130,212 % & B% T B
001B Tz A RRELERNE  FTeH
1,771,711,913 8 & & [ B 8 ¥ 0.0533 7L 2
FEmR o

HE-_ZT——F-A=-+—HLEERN"
8,907,50017 5 M #E B 1T E - A REE
8,907,500/ A A BT E R - NEAB
#3,341,0007T & 7 #5476,0007T B &
ARG - #2587 85 2,865,000 7T B 5T A BE 19
W E R o BB W ST B B
1,537,000 L2 R EREEE R ER D EE
E.Eo



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

i & B 35 8 5 Bl 5

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ —T——F=A=+—HBItFE

38. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company terminated the share option scheme adopted by the
Company on 9 September 2002 (“Old Scheme”) and adopted a
new share option scheme (“New Scheme”) pursuant to an ordinary
resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company at the special
general meeting held on 27 November 2009. There was no share
option granted under the Old Scheme. The principal terms of the New
Scheme are as follows:

(@) Purpose
The purpose of the New Scheme is to provide incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success
of the Group’s operation and to recruit and retain high caliber
employees and attract human resources that are valuable to the
Group and any entity which any member of the Group holds any
equity interest (“Invested Entity”).

(b) Eligible participants
Eligible participants of the New Scheme include the Company’s
directors and other employees of the Group or Invested Entity,
any customers, supplier of goods or services to any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity who, in the sole discretion of
the Board have contributed or will contribute to the growth and
development of the Group or any Invested Entity.

() Maximum number of shares

The total number of shares (i.e. 430,994,088 ordinary shares)
which may be issued upon exercise of all options granted and to
be granted under the New Scheme represented 10% of the total
number of issued ordinary shares of the Company as at the date
of passing the ordinary resolution on 31 December 2010 (being
the date on which the initial mandate limit of the New Scheme
was refreshed) and represented approximately 8.5% of the total
number of issued ordinary shares of the Company as at the date
of this report.

(d) Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant
The maximum number of shares issuable under the New Scheme
to each eligible participant within any 12-month period, is limited
to 1% of the total number of ordinary shares of the Company in
issue at any time.

Any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any
of their respective associates, which would result in the ordinary
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
already granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in excess of 0.1%
of the ordinary shares of the Company in issue at any time and
with an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s
shares at the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000 within
any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.
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38. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

158

(e)

(f)

(¢)]

(h)

Option period

An option shall be exercised within 10 years from the date of
grant or such shorter period as the directors may specify at the
time of grant.

Acceptance of offer

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
28 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or
to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

Exercise price

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors, but shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheet on the date of offer of the share options;
and (i) the average closing prices of the Company’s shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer; and (iii)
the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

The validity of the New Scheme

The New Scheme has a life of 10 years and will expire on 27
November 2019 unless otherwise terminated in accordance with
the terms of the New Scheme.

In assessing the theoretical aggregate value of the share options
granted and fully accepted during the year ended 31 March 2011,
the result of Binominal Option Pricing Model performed by GCA
(2010: GCA) was used. In total, approximately HK$23,319,000 (2010:
HK$2,157,000) and HK$7,835,000 (2010: HK$NIl) was recognised as
share-based payment for employees and consultants, respectively for
the year ended 31 March 2011.
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a
38. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 38. R RESE (w)
(@  Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their @ HARTTFERERESE K AR NEFE
related weighted average exercise prices are as follows: BITEE 2T
Number of share options
e
Outstanding
at 31 March
2010 and
Outstanding 1 April 2010 Outstanding  Exercisable
at 1 April it 33 at31March  at31 March
Exercise 2009 ZA=t-HR 2011 2011
Date of Exercise price WZBEAF k-%-%% WZB--F RZ5--%
Grant period per share A-H Granted Lapsed A-H Granted  Exercised lapsed =A=t-B =ZA=1-A
BiAS kL BRTEE HRTR 554 BAM HRTR 554 B BAM HRTR T
13 January 2010 13 January 2011 to HK$0.940 - 15013356 (1,765,368) 13,247,988 - - (4,024,3%) 9,223,592 9,223592
“5-%f 12 January 2020 HEB0940T
—Rt+=R “Z——F-f+=RZE
—Z2-RF-AtZA
13 January 2010 13 January 2012 to HK$0.940 - 15013356 (1,765,368) 13,247,988 - - 4,024,3%) 9,223,592 -
“5-%f 12 January 2020 AEB040TT
-R+=R I K
“2-%F-A1ZA
13 January 2010 13 January 2013 to HK$0.940 - 15013357 (1,765,367) 13,247,990 - - (4,024,399) 9,223,591 -
“E-%F 2 January 2020 09407
*H =8 Z i AT=AZ
13 January 2010 15.July 2010to HK$0.940 - 5,105,428 - 5,105,428 - - - 5,105,428 5,105,428
.2 12 January 2020 AR0.407C
-At+=8H
13 January 2010 15.July 2011 to HK$0.9.40 - 5,105,427 - 5,105,427 - - - 5,105,427 -
“E-EF 12 January 2020 09407
*H =8
7May 2010 15 July 2010t HK$0.710 - - - - 5,105,427 - - 5,105,427 5,105,427
“3-%f 6 May 2020 AE0.T0T
hAtA It o fit)ﬁﬂﬁz
— ? = ﬁﬁﬂ /\
7May 2010 7 November 2010 to HK$0.710 - - - - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 2,000,000
e i3 6 May 2020 AEOT0T
ﬁHtE “E-TEF-ALRZE
ZTITERARE
7May 2010 13 January 2011 to HK$0.710 - - - - 9,381,644 - (6,700,232 3,681,412 3,681,412
“E2-ZF 6 May 2020 EEOT0T
nAtA “3——§-A+=HZE
S !
7May 2010 7May 2011 to HK$0.710 - - - - 4162,677 - (1,290,266) 2,872,411 -
-3-EF 6 May 2020 EE0T107
nAtA “E——FRAtAE
“ZCRERARE
7May 2010 15 July 2011 to HK$0.710 - - - - 5,105,428 - - 5,105,428 -
-I-If 6 May 2020 EE0TI07
LAtH
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38. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Contined) 38. EERRAESTE ()

(@ Movements in the number of share options outstanding and @ EARITEERESE M ERBINETF
their related weighted average exercise prices are as follows: BiTEE2EEIT - (&)
(Continued)

Number of share options
BhEsA
Outstanding
at 31 March
2010 and
Outstanding 1 April 2010 Outstanding  Exercisable
at1 April RZE-2E at31 March  at31 March
Exercise 2009 ZA=t-H 2011 2011
Date of Exercise price WZBEAF R=2-%% RZB--F RIZ--F
Grant period per share mA-H Granted Lapsed mA-A Granted  Exercised Lapsed ZA=t-A =B=t-H
BiAH fikid BRITEE HRTHR 2Rl BAM HRTR 554 BT BAM HRTE Bkt
7May 2010 HK$0.710 - - - - 9,381,646 - (7,402,042 1,979,604 -
—5-%f 80710
nAtA
7May 2010 15 July 2012 to HK$0.710 - - - - 4,162,678 - (1,290,266) 2,872,412 -
“F-If 6May 2020 EE0TI07
nAtA “EtATRAZ
TERASA
7May 2010 13 January 2013 to HK$0.710 - - - - 9,381,654 - (7,402,043) 1,979,611 -
“5-%F 6May 2020 BEOTIOT
LAtA T-—E-AfzHZ
ZZITERARA
7May 2010 7May 201310 HK$0.710 - - - - 4,162,680 - (1,290,266) 2,872,414 -
—3-IF 6 May 2020 EHOT0T
nAtA ZE-ZHRALHE
14 September 2010 14 September 2010 to HK$0.375 - - - — 79,350,000 (8,907,500) (600,000) 69,842,500 69,842,500
—5-%f 13 September 2020 E®0.3751
NATREE “Z-TENATIRAZE
“Z-EEAATER
18 February 2011 30 June 2011 to HK$0.42 - - - - 1,701,809 - - 1,701,809 -
E—F 17 February 2021 w0427
ZATNE “I—ERAZTHE
“R--F-AttA
18 February 2011 30 July 2011 to HK$0.42 - - - - 273,529 - - 273,529 -
“F—f 17 February 2021 0427
ZAtNE “F—H#tA=tHZ
“Z--FZATtA
18 February 2011 6 September 2011 to HK$0.42 - - - - 333,333 - (833,333) - -
5-F 17 February 2021 E0427
ZATNH ZE-—FNARHEE
“EC-F-AtHR
18 February 2011 5 December 2011 to HK$0.42 - - - - 266,667 - - 266,667 -
—5—F B0
—AtNR
18 February 2011 16 December 2011 to HK$0.42 - - - - 1,433,333 - - 1,433,333 -
5——F 17 February 2021 #0427
ZATNE “F——F+ZRf5RAZ

“2-5ZA+tA
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a
38. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 38. HEMRAELTE (2
(@ Movements in the number of share options outstanding and @ EARTTEEEEE R ERBINETF
their related weighted average exercise prices are as follows: BITEEZEBIT - ()
(Continued)
Number of share options
BREHE
Outstanding
at 31 March
2010 and
Outstanding 1 April 2010 Outstanding ~ Exercisable
at 1 April Ro2-3% at31March  at31 March
Exercise 2009 ZA=t+-R 2011 2011
Date of Exercise price RZEEHE R-2-%% RoB--% RIB--§
Grant period per share A-H Granted Lapsed A-H Granted  Exercised Lapsed =B=1-H =R=t-H
REAH ik ] BRITKEE HRTE 2RI BAM HRITE BRIt BT BAM HRITE Efiyd
18 February 2011 2 January 2012 to HK$0.42 - - - - 333,333 - - 333,333 -
B 17 February 2021 B0427
“AtNR “E-#-AZR%E
E_—FZAT+A
18 February 2011 9 January 2012 to HK$0.42 - - - - 433,333 - - 433,333 -
“E—f 17 February 2021 BT
“R+NR “3-f-ANBE
“Z--5-AttA
18 February 2011 30 June 2012 to HK$0.42 - - - - 1,701,809 - - 1,701,809 -
“5——F #8042
“R+NR
18 February 2011 30 July 2012 to HK$0.42 - - - - 273529 - - 273529 -
kS 17 February 2021 B0427
ZRtNR “E5--§tA=1RZ
“R--F-AttA
18 February 2011 6 September 201210 HKS0.42 - - - - 333,333 - B - -
—E—— 17 February 2021 #0427
“A+NR “E-ZENARRE
Sabt =
18 February 2011 5 December 2012 to HK$0.42 - - - - 266,667 - - 266,667 -
“E—f 17 February 2021 BT
“R+NR “%-“#t+-ARAZ
“Z--5-AttA
18 February 2011 16 December 2012 to HK$0.42 - - - - 1,433,333 - - 1,433,333 -
5 17 February 2021 #0427
“R+NR ZE-ZETZRTRER
“EC-FCATER
18 February 2011 2 January 2013 to HK$0.42 - - - - 333,333 - - 333,333 -
—5—-F 17 February 2021 A0471
ZRtNB “E-=§-AZRZE
“R--F-AttA
18 February 2011 9 January 2013 to HK$0.42 - - - - 433,333 - - 433,333 -
B 17 February 2021 B0
“At/R “E-=§-ANRZE
“E--F-AtHR
18 February 2011 30 June 2013 to HK$0.42 - - - - 1,701,810 - - 1,701,810 -
“E—f 17 February 2021 R0
ZATNB

e
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38. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
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38. IR ETTE (&)

(@  Movements in the number of share options outstanding and @  HARITEERESE R EAEMET
their related weighted average exercise prices are as follows: BiTEE2EEIT - (&)
(Continued)

Number of share options
BREHE
Outstanding
at 31 March
2010 and
Outstanding 1 April 2010 Outstanding  Exercisable
at1 April Ro2-%% at31 March  at31 March
Exercise 2009 ZA=t+-R 2011 2011
Date of Exercise price RZEEHE R-2-%% R-B--% RIB--§
Grant period per share mA-H Granted Lapsed A-H Granted  Exercised Lapsed =A=t-H Z=ZA=t-H
RHAH fgd: BREE HRTE 2Rl BAM HRITE BRI B BAM HRTE Efiyd
18 February 2011 30 July 2013 to HK$0.42 - - - - 273,530 - - 273,530 -
3 17 February 2021 0407
ZAtNR “E-CEEASTRE
“Z--FZA+tA
18 February 2011 6 September 2013 to HK$0.42 - - - - 333,334 - (833,334) - -
“E—f 17 February 2021 ER042T
ZAtNB “R-=FAAREER
“EC-E-AtHR
18 February 2011 5 December 2013 to HK$0.42 - - - - 266,666 - - 266,666 -
—5—F 17 February 2021 #0427
ZRtNR “3--Ff-RRRAZE
18 February 2011 16 December 2013 to HK$0.42 - - - - 1,433,334 - - 1,433,334 -
- 17 February 2021 #0427
—A+tIA “E-ZETCRTRE
E-RC-F-AT+tA
18 February 2011 2 January 2014 to HK$0.42 - - - - 333,334 - - 333,334 -
B 17 February 2021 0407
“AtNA “E